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(millions, except per share amounts, percentages and employees)  2008  2007  % inc/(dec)

Total revenues net of interest expense $ 28,365 $ 27,559 3%

Income from continuing operations  $ 2,871 $ 4,126 (30)%

Loss from discontinued operations $ (172) $ (114) 51%

Net income $ 2,699 $ 4,012 (33)%

Return on average equity  22.3%  37.3% 

Total assets $ 126,074 $ 149,743 (16)%

Shareholders’ equity $ 11,841 $ 11,029 7%

Diluted earnings per common share from 
   continuing operations $ 2.48 $ 3.45 (28)%

Diluted loss per common share from 
   discontinued operations $ (0.15) $ (0.09) 67%

Diluted earnings per share $ 2.33 $ 3.36 (31)%

Cash dividends declared per share $ 0.72 $ 0.63 14%

Book value per share $ 10.21 $ 9.53 7%

Average common shares outstanding for
   diluted earnings per common share  1,157  1,196 (3)%

Common share cash dividends declared $ 836 $ 740 13%

Common share repurchases $ 218 $ 3,572 (94)%

Number of employees  66,000  67,700 (3)%

consolidated financial highlights

Various forward-looking statements are made in this Annual Report, which generally include the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” 
“optimistic,” “intend,” “plan,” “aim,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “likely,” and similar expressions. Certain factors that may affect 
these forward-looking statements, including American Express Company’s ability to achieve its goals referred to herein, are discussed on page 59.
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executive offices
American Express Company
200 Vesey Street
New York, NY 10285
212.640.2000

information available 
to shareholders
Copies of the company’s Form 10-K, proxy 
statement, press releases and other documents, as 
well as information on financial results, products 
and services, are available on the American 
Express website at www.americanexpress.com. 
The company’s global Corporate Citizen ship 
Report and a report of the company’s 2008 
federal and state political contributions are avail-
able at www.americanexpress.com/csr. Written 
copies of these materials are available without 
charge upon written request to the Secretary’s 
Office at the address above.

transfer agent and registrar
The Bank of New York Mellon 
480 Washington Blvd., 29th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07310
1.800.463.5911 or 201.680.6685
Hearing impaired:
1.800.231.5469
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

stock exchange listing
New York Stock Exchange
(Symbol: AXP)

independent registered 
public accounting firm 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
300 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10017-6204

annual meeting
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 
American Express Company will be held at the 
company’s Greensboro Service Center, 7701 
Airport Center Drive, Greensboro, NC 27409, 
on Monday, April 27, 2009, at 10:00 a.m., 
Eastern Time.

A written transcript or an audiocassette of the 
meeting will be available upon written request 
to the Secretary’s Office. There will be a modest 
fee to defray production and mailing costs.

corporate governance
Copies of American Express Company’s gov-
ernance documents, including its Corporate 
Governance Principles, as well as the charters 
of the standing committees of the Board of 
Directors and the American Express Company 
Code of Conduct, are available on the compa-
ny’s website at http://ir.americanexpress.com. 
Copies of these materials also are available 
without charge upon written request to the 
Secretary’s Office at the address above. 

On May 21, 2008, Kenneth I. Chenault, 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer of the company, submitted to the New 
York Stock Exchange the Annual CEO Certif-
ication required by the rules of the Exchange 
certifying that he was not aware of any vio-
lations by the company of the Exchange’s 
Corporate Governance listing standards. The 
company filed with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission the Certifications of its 
chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002 as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2, respec-
tively, to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2008.

direct deposit of dividends
The company has established an Electronic 
Direct Deposit of Dividends service for the 
electronic payment of quarterly dividends on 
the company’s common shares. With this ser-
vice, registered shareholders may have their 
dividend payments sent electronically to their 
checking account or financial institution on 
the payment date. Shareholders interested in 
enrolling in this service should call The Bank 
of New York Mellon at 1.800.463.5911.

stock purchase plan
The BuyDIRECT Plan provides shareholders 
and new investors with a convenient way to 
purchase common shares through optional cash 
investments and reinvestment of dividends. 

For more information, contact:
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.O.Box 358015
Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8015
1.800.463.5911
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

shareholder and investor inquiries
Written shareholder inquiries may be sent either 
to BNY Mellon Shareowner Services Investor 
Care Network, P.O. Box 358015, Pittsburgh, 
PA 15252-8015 or to the Secretary’s Office 
at American Express Company’s executive 
office address above. Written inquiries from 
the investment community should be sent to 
Investor Relations at American Express 
Company’s executive office address above.

trademarks and service marks
The following American Express trademarks 
and service marks may appear in this report: 
American Express®
American Express Box Logo®
American Express Card Design®
American Express World Service & Design®
Centurion®
Gladiator Head Design®
Membership Rewards®
Platinum Card®

©2009 American Express Company. 
All rights reserved. 

This report is printed on paper containing 
postconsumer fiber. The paper used in this 
report is also certified under the Forestry 
Stewardship Council guidelines.
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general information

diluted earnings 
per share from 

continuing operations

return on 
average equity

total revenues net 
of interest expense 

(in billions)
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 Virtually everyone has felt the effects of 
the historic decline in real estate values, rising 
unemployment, frozen credit markets and the 
collapse of major financial institutions. I wish 
I could tell you that American Express was 
somehow immune from these forces. The reality 
is that conditions were the worst we have seen in 
many years, and our results were disappointing.
 Earnings were down 33 percent from a 
year ago, as cardmember spending slowed and 
delinquencies rose. Clearly, our bottom-line 
performance fell well short of our long-term 

 

to our shareholders

in a year when  the economy spiraled from 
merely bad to the point of evoking comparisons 
with the Great Depression, there was no escaping 
the impact on our business. 

targets. However, there are some things we 
accomplished that, while modest when compared 
to better years, demonstrate the resilience and 
competitive strength of our company. In the face 
of a global economic crisis, we earned $2.7 billion 
in profits, grew revenues, enhanced our capital 
position, invested in key capabilities, diversified 
our funding sources and expanded our base of 
high-quality customers.
 We made many adjustments to navigate 
through the worsening environment. At the same 
time, we maintained a long-term view and took 
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steps to prepare the company to take advantage 
of substantial growth opportunities when the 
economy rebounds. American Express has one 
of the world’s most valuable brand names, a 
reputation for service excellence, and products 
recognized for the rewards and benefits they 
bring our customers. These attributes are espe-
cially important in highly uncertain times and 
should continue to serve us well when condi-
tions eventually improve. 
 In this letter, I will describe for you the 
challenges we faced this year, the actions we have 
taken to deal with them and our views about the 
road ahead.

2 0 0 8  results: a closer look
We earn the majority of our revenue from trans-
action fees when American Express cards are used 
to make purchases, so cardmember spending is 
an important barometer of our business. In 2008, 
worldwide spending on American Express cards 
rose to $683 billion, or 6 percent above last year. 
Although we outperformed the other major card 
issuers, this result was well below the growth 

rates we have enjoyed in recent years when the 
economy was robust. For example, from 2002 to 
2007, our annual growth in cardmember spending 
averaged more than 15 percent.  
 Moreover, cardmember spending weakened 
as 2008 progressed. We saw a particularly acute 
slowdown in the fall as the financial crisis intensi-
fied and the stock market and consumer confidence 
plunged. This situation, combined with dismal 
holiday sales for most retailers, particularly those in 
the luxury category, made for a very difficult fourth 
quarter in which overall cardmember spending fell 
10 percent. This was the first quarter since 2001 that 
cardmember spending declined from the prior year. 
 In past recessions, spending by affluent 
consumers held up relatively well compared to 
the broader population, which insulated American 
Express to some extent because of the concentra-
tion of high-income cardmembers in our portfolio. 
This downturn is different in that it is hitting 
the affluent particularly hard. Many of these 
consumers have significantly cut back on their dis-
cretionary spending as they have seen their home 
values, personal wealth and job security erode.    

billed business
(in billions)

cards-in-force
(in millions)
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Worldwide cardmember spending rose 6 percent over 2007, although as economies slowed, we experienced deceleration in quarter-over-
quarter growth rates and a decrease in spending in the fourth quarter. Total cards-in-force increased by 7 percent to 92.4 million.
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 The effects have been most apparent among 
our U.S. consumer cardmembers. Spending by 
this group fell 1 percent for the year and 12 percent 
in the fourth quarter, with declines taking place 
across products and geographies. Small business 
spending in the U.S. held up better, rising 7 per-
cent for the year. In our international markets, 
spending on proprietary consumer and small 
business cards rose 8 percent from a year ago. 
 Our Global Network Services business had 
a solid year, with spending on cards issued by net-
work partners up 27 percent. This growth came 
mainly from more partnerships and multiple 
product launches in markets around the world.
 Spending on commercial cards, which are 
used by large and midsize companies, rose 4 per-
cent in the U.S. and 9 percent in international 
markets. However, commercial card activity 
declined markedly in the latter part of the year, as 
more companies cut back on travel and entertain-
ment in response to the worsening economy.   
 Overall, while our business has slowed, the 
entire organization is working hard to generate 
growth. We added about 6 million cards-in-force 
from a year ago; signed a wide array of new 
merchants to accept our cards; expanded our 
co-brand, network and marketing partnerships; 
enhanced our rewards capabilities; and increased 
travel sales as we introduced new services for 
business and leisure travelers. As a result, con-
solidated revenues rose 3 percent – a significant 
accomplishment in this tough environment. At 
a time when many financial services companies 
have few positives to point to in their performance, 
we continued to have a number of elements 
working to our advantage. Throughout the year, 
we stressed flexibility and aimed to strike an ap-
propriate balance between growing the business 
and protecting our bottom line in a deteriorating 
credit environment. 

 Credit quality was at the top of our priority 
list in 2008, and rightly so given the severe market 
conditions that affected all credit card lenders. As 
we had expected, late payments and write-offs in 
our charge card and lending portfolios increased 
throughout the year. We took steps to manage the 
increased risk, such as selectively reducing lines 
of credit. These moves – which I will describe 
more fully later in this letter – were appropriate 
and carefully considered, but, of course, could not 
insulate our portfolio from the environment.  
 At year-end, 4.6 percent of our managed 
worldwide lending receivables were 30 days past 
due, compared with 2.8 percent in 2007. Our 
worldwide managed net write-off rate rose to 
5.4 percent from 3.3 percent a year ago.* 
 In light of these trends, we made substantial 
additions to our credit reserves in 2008. Our total 
provision for losses rose by about $1.7 billion, or 
41 percent from a year ago. This increased expense 
had a major effect on our earnings for the year. 
 Our loss rates were mainly driven by the 
spillover effect of the collapse in home prices 
and higher unemployment. We have remained 
disciplined in our underwriting standards. For 
example, the average credit scores of new U.S. 
cardmembers joining American Express have 
remained stable over the past several years. Our 
overall customer base continues to be high 
quality in terms of income and creditworthiness. 
But as affluent consumers have experienced 
financial hardship, more of our cardmembers 
have missed payments on their card bills.  
 Beyond the environment, which affected all 
card issuers, certain decisions we’ve made have also 
influenced our credit trends. First, our cardmember 

* Managed basis assumes our cardmember loans have not been securi-
tized. On a GAAP basis, the 30-day past-due rate for worldwide 
lending receivables was 4.4 percent for 2008 and 2.8 percent for 2007.  
The net write-off rate was 5.5 percent and 3.5 percent, respectively.
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base is somewhat more skewed toward the states 
hardest hit by the U.S. real estate crash. Second, 
we have more small business accounts, which typ-
ically have higher write-off rates. Third, we added 
new cardmembers faster than the industry overall 
during the past three years. In any environment, 
newer vintages of cardmembers typically have 
higher write-off rates during their first 24-to-36 
months. As a result, we moved toward the middle 
of the pack among card issuers in terms of absolute 
past-due and write-off rates this year after years of 
posting superior results. Nevertheless, the actions 
we’ve taken to grow and diversify our cardmember 
base have proved highly profitable for us in the 
past, and we expect those actions will continue 
to drive profits for us in the future.    
 Looking ahead, we remain cautious about the 
business environment through 2009. We expect 
economic conditions will continue to deteriorate 
and, as a result, cardmember spending will remain 
soft, and past-due loans and write-offs will rise 
from their current levels. 
 In addition to economic pressures, all card 
issuers face increased regulation as policy-

makers around the world step up efforts to 
ensure fairness and transparency in the credit 
card industry.
  We also expect more volatility and change in 
the financial services landscape, as some companies 
scramble to survive and even the strongest seek 
greater flexibility and security. That is why we 
decided to apply for bank holding company sta-
tus, which the Federal Reserve Board approved 
in November. For many years, American Express 
has had banking subsidiaries that issue cards 
and fund cardmember loans. Becoming a bank 
holding company, and thereby coming under 
the regulatory umbrella of the Federal Reserve, 
puts us on consistent footing with our major 
competitors and allows us to participate more fully 
in programs the government has introduced to 
stabilize the financial markets. While this move 
increases our flexibility in these uncertain times, 
it does not change our core business as a global 
payments and travel company.    
 Against this backdrop, let me review some 
of the actions we have taken to deal with the 
challenges we face and describe our short-term 

Managed loans 30 days past due rose to 4.6 percent, reflecting a more difficult credit environment. Write-off rates for worldwide cardmember 
lending, on a managed basis, increased to 5.4 percent. On a GAAP basis, the 30 day past-due rates were 4.4 percent for 2008, 2.8 percent for 2007 
and 2.2 percent for 2006.  Write-off rates on a GAAP basis were 5.5 percent for 2008, 3.5 percent for 2007 and 3.3 percent for 2006.
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focus on three priorities: staying liquid, staying 
profitable and investing selectively for growth. 

staying liquid
Like many companies, American Express has 
felt the impact of the global financial crisis and 
credit crunch, not only as a lender but also as a 
corporate borrower. We have routinely accessed 
the debt capital markets to help meet the daily 
funding needs of our businesses, issuing com-
mercial paper, long-term debt and securities 
backed by card receivables.
 Well into 2008, we continued to access these 
markets to meet our funding obligations. Then, 
in mid-September, the collapse of Lehman 
Brothers and the near-collapse of other finan-
cial institutions stunned the markets. Rates for 
corporate bonds skyrocketed, and the markets 
for both asset-backed securities and unsecured 
term debt came to a halt.
 While we had a substantial cash reserve on 
hand, as well as other liquid assets and funding 
sources available to us, we acted quickly to further 
diversify those sources and safeguard our liquidity 
in light of the unprecedented market conditions.
 First, we launched a program to gather retail 
deposits through brokerage networks. The early 
response from individual investors has been very 
positive. Without the benefit of any direct mar-
keting, a brokered CD program we launched in 
early October attracted more than $6 billion 
by year-end. We also raised another $7 billion by 
offering FDIC-insured savings deposits as an 
investment option for customers of our brokerage 
partners. Our initial success gives us confidence 
that we can secure an increasing portion of our 
funding through retail deposits. We plan to ex-
pand this program significantly in 2009, working 
through third parties, as well as establishing 
direct sales through online and other channels. 

 As these efforts got underway early last fall, we 
also participated in programs initiated by the U.S. 
government to help stabilize the markets. Most 
prominent among them was the Capital Purchase 
Program run by the Department of Treasury. 
We applied for and received $3.39 billion from 
the program. For its investment, the government 
now holds preferred shares in American Express 
that will pay dividends of 5 percent for the first 
five years and 9 percent annually thereafter. These 
shares are callable at par after three years. We 
chose to participate because it was a good source 
of cost-efficient capital for our shareholders, and 
because it further strengthened our balance sheet 
at a time of concern about capital levels across 
virtually all financial companies. We will use this 
capital to increase our ability to extend loans to 
creditworthy cardmembers, thereby helping to 
spur economic growth in the U.S.
 Including the Treasury investment, we ended 
the year with $20.5 billion in cash and equiva-
lents – 131 percent higher than the previous 
year. This was an important development that 
helped ensure the stability and efficient running 
of our business amid extreme volatility in the 
capital markets. We will look to further enhance 
our liquidity in 2009.
  
staying profitable
Staying profitable is another business basic that 
became much harder in 2008. We continued to 
benefit from our efforts over the past few years 
to expand our product set and global customer 
base. However, the spending and credit disrup-
tions we experienced caused us to refine our risk 
controls, implement a major reengineering pro-
gram and make certain pricing adjustments to 
further safeguard our financial performance.
 Credit and Risk Management: We responded to 
rising delinquencies in a deteriorating economy 
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by adjusting the models we use to run our 
lending business. These efforts, which actually 
began in mid-2007, involved using more so-
phisticated data in our evaluations. Focusing on 
areas of high risk, we cancelled certain accounts, 
reduced some lines of credit and adopted a more 
targeted approach to new card acquisition. We 
also assisted cardmembers experiencing tempo-
rary financial difficulty. 
 These decisions were made on a case-by-
case basis, after analyzing many variables in-
cluding a cardmember’s payment and spending 
history, credit ratings, overall debt level and 
employment data. We always want to make 
well-informed choices based on the spending 
and credit capacity of our cardmembers. While 
this analysis led us to reduce lines of credit for 
some cardmembers, it also led us to increase 
credit lines for a smaller number of cardmem-
bers in 2008.   
 Our main goal in managing risk is to maxi-
mize profitable growth. This means allowing 
good spending and continuing to lend responsi-
bly. Every time a cardmember uses his or her 
American Express Card to make a purchase, 
we are extending credit – a record $683 billion 
worth in 2008. And although the overall slow-
down in consumer spending last year led to 
lower loan balances, we continued to make exten-
sive amounts of revolving credit available to our 
cardmembers. For example, we provided U.S. 
consumer and small business cardmembers with 
open credit lines of $211 billion, which was on a 
par with year-ago levels despite the difficult 
conditions in the marketplace. Ultimately, we 
want to keep good customers in the franchise, 
and attract new ones, by meeting their spending 
and lending needs at a level they can manage.  
  Part of this responsibility means helping card-
members who have kept their accounts in good 

standing over time but now face temporary fi-
nancial hardship. Some of our cardmembers have 
become highly leveraged, especially as their assets 
have declined significantly. Some have lost their 
jobs. The level of debt they can reasonably handle 
today is less than it was even a year ago. We are 
working with many of these individuals to set up 
payment plans and terms that can help them man-
age through trying times. Depending on individual 
circumstances, options include extending repay-
ment time periods, suspending delinquency fees 
and reducing interest rates on existing balances. 
 For all of our cardmembers, we are also pro-
viding enhanced services, including additional 
online tools to help them better manage their 
spending on our cards and protect their credit 
profiles, assistance that is more important than 
ever in these uncertain times. 
 Reengineering: Managing our company’s 
overall expense base was another priority that 
took on even greater importance in 2008. We 
controlled operating costs by cutting back spend-
ing in virtually every area of the business. Beyond 
basic cost cutting, we also implemented a major 
reengineering program to increase efficiency and 
reduce or stop activities that were not supporting 
our highest priorities. As part of this effort, we 
made the difficult decision to eliminate 7,000 jobs, 
or about 10 percent of our global workforce. 
By doing so, we were able to better match our 
resources to our business needs in the current 
environment. Cutting jobs is not a choice we 
made lightly, but it was the right step to support 
the health of the company over the long term. 
 Reengineering our expense base will free 
up more resources to invest in growth oppor-
tunities. While we took a $421 million pre-tax 
charge in the fourth quarter, primarily related 
to severance costs, we expect to realize benefits 
of $1.8 billion in 2009 from our reengineering 
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efforts and related cost reductions. These ben-
efits are based on a comparison to previously 
anticipated expense levels for 2009. Obviously, 
we will continue to keep a careful watch on 
our expenses and take further actions should 
conditions warrant.  
 Pricing: Other steps we took in response to 
the rising cost of doing business included mak-
ing pricing adjustments to some of our prod-
ucts. For example, we raised interest rates on 
some American Express cards and increased 
the conversion rate for charges made in foreign 
currencies. In this environment, it is much more 
expensive for us to extend credit. The revenue we 
gain from pricing changes is meant to mitigate 
these costs. 

investing selectively for growth
Despite the economic pressures we face, we know 
it’s important to continue to invest in our future. 
While we have to be much more selective in 
choosing which initiatives to fund, we are still 
making substantial investments in business-
building activities. Total spending on marketing, 

rewards and cardmember services was about 
$7.4 billion in 2008. This amount was somewhat 
less than a year ago, but its substantial size dem-
onstrates that we are not merely playing defense.
 We made a number of notable moves through-
out the year where we saw an opportunity to 
gain competitive advantage, particularly in the 
business-to-business arena and in key interna-
tional markets. Here are a few examples:

 Acquiring GE’s corporate purchasing services 
business, which expands our leadership in the 
commercial card marketplace. We expect the 
clients we added will generate significant addi-
tional charge volume in 2009 and have good 
credit performance.

 Making an equity investment in Concur 
Technologies, a leader in expense management 
software. Our relationship with Concur, which 
also includes a marketing and distribution 
partnership, will help extend the reach of our 
commercial card and expense management 
services to large and midsize companies. 

 Signing a new partnership agreement with 
Delta Air Lines, the world’s largest carrier. The 

american express and its partners are continually launching new card products and updating existing 
offerings to meet changing customer needs. In 2008, we renewed our relationship with Delta Air Lines, including the 

SkyMiles family of cards, and launched new co-brand products around the world, such as those with Cathay Pacific 
Airways and one of Australia’s leading retailers, David Jones Limited. Global Network Services and Fidelity Investments 

announced the launch of the Retirement Rewards Card, which gives cardmembers an innovative way to save  
for retirement while purchasing everyday necessities. In all, GNS partners launched 130 card products in 2008.
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deal extends our exclusive co-brand credit card 
portfolio for consumers and small businesses, 
as well as card acceptance and participation in 
American Express’ Membership Rewards pro-
gram. The recent merger between Delta and 
Northwest Airlines also creates an opportunity 
for us to increase customer acquisition and grow 
spending in the Midwest.

 Forging new co-branded rewards partner-
ships in key international markets, including 
Cathay Pacific Airways in Hong Kong and 
Australian retailer David Jones Limited.

 Signing 13 new partnerships and launching 
130 new products with banks that issue Ameri-
can Express-branded cards around the world.

 Investing in our servicing capabilities, which 
helped us earn the J.D. Power and Associates 
award for highest customer satisfaction among 
major U.S. credit card issuers. 

 Investing in our industry-leading rewards 
programs and capabilities, thereby adding re-
demption options and improving service for 
our cardmembers.

 Increasing merchant acceptance of American 
Express cards, with initiatives aimed at merchants 
in the B2B sector, as well as in markets where we 
have co-brand and network card agreements. 
 
the road ahead
Today, we face the most bracing set of challenges 
in many years. But just as good economic times 
don’t last forever, neither do bad times. So, as we 
take the steps necessary to protect and defend 
our business today, we also envision substantial 
opportunities for growth in payments, network 
services, and travel and expense management 
over the long run. 
 Consider our past experience in post-reces-
sionary environments. Coming out of the last 
U.S. recessions in 1990-91 and 2001, spending 

timely investments in b2b: 

new tools for 
expense

management
Recognizing the growing potential in helping 

corporations better manage expenses, we acquired 
GE’s commercial card and corporate purchasing 

businesses, and entered an exclusive alliance with 
Concur Technologies, a leading provider of 

on-demand T&E expense management services.   

highest in credit card 
customer satisfaction 

American Express again ranked highest in 
customer satisfaction among credit card 

issuers in the U.S. in a study by J.D. Power and 
Associates, one of the world’s most respected 

consumer research firms. 

flexibility and convenience 
in cardmember rewards 

Pay with Points, a popular feature of our 
Membership Rewards program, gives 

cardmembers greater convenience and 
flexibility in redeeming travel and other awards. 
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on American Express cards returned to robust 
levels and credit improved significantly. Our 
growth in those periods was aided by reengi-
neering benefits and lower loss reserves as credit 
trends improved – all of which allowed us to plow 
additional investment dollars into the business. 
When the current recession lifts, spending by 
consumers and businesses will rise. We are not 
likely to see meaningful improvement in 2009, 
but a recovery will take place eventually. In such 
a scenario, the recent steps we have taken to reen-
gineer our expense base and the competitive 
strength of our business should put us in a good 
position to benefit.     
 Because the drivers of this downturn are 
unique, no one can predict what a recovery will 
look like. If there is a “new normal,” it could be 
one in which consumers keep a tighter rein on 
spending, borrow less and save more. While this 
would create challenges for us, there would be 
positive outcomes as well. The experience of the 
past year reinforces the principle that people 
should not spend more than they have the capac-
ity to earn and pay back. And financial services 
companies should not encourage people to get 
over their heads in debt. Healthier consumer 
behavior is better for everyone in the long run.
 In addition, when consumers and busi-
nesses are more cautious about how they spend 
their money and demand more value, American 
Express has much to offer. Examples include 
our expense management products and services 
that enable corporations to reduce purchasing 
and travel costs; our classic pay-in-full charge card 
product, which encourages financial responsibil-
ity; Membership Rewards and other rewards-
based programs that enable cardmembers to get 
more value for their spending; our wide array of 
proprietary and partner-issued airline co-brand 
cards; our marketing and information manage-

ment capabilities that can help increase business 
for our merchant partners; and our industry 
leadership in service quality. 
 Over the longer term, a major factor creating 
opportunity for us is the continuing transition 
away from cash and checks toward cards and 
electronic payments. Today, cash is used for about 
two-thirds of global personal consumption. Even 
in the U.S., the most mature market for credit 
cards, cash and checks still account for more than 
55 percent of consumer spending and 85 percent 
of spending by small and midsize businesses. For 
a payments company like American Express, 
that means the chance for increased volumes, 
especially in industries such as healthcare that 
do not widely accept plastic.
 The growth of online commerce also presents 
a sizable business opportunity. U.S. consumers 
spent about $150 billion online in 2007 – a small 
piece of their overall $4 trillion in spending. With 
online purchases expected to grow nearly 20 
percent annually between now and 2012, the 
opportunities for payments providers will expand 
significantly. Intense competition in this space is 
bringing innovation and efficiency in the pay-
ments marketplace, something that will benefit 
both consumers and payments providers.
 We believe that we have the right business 
model to benefit from these changes in the pay-
ments landscape over time. Our breadth in serving 
consumers, small businesses and corporations 
around the world; the power of the American 
Express brand; our online capabilities; and the 
range of ways we participate in the payments 
chain as an issuer, processor, network and mer-
chant acquirer are just some of the assets that 
give me confidence in our long-range prospects. 
 We benefit from both the diversity of our 
payments businesses and our focus as a payments 
provider. Unlike some competitors that offer a 
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broad range of financial services, we are not taking 
losses on mortgages or commercial lending. Our 
income statement is not as affected by market 
volatility on investment values. The bricks-and-
mortar bank model does bring low-cost customer 
deposits, but these deposits can come at a steep 
price in terms of risk and other issues. I prefer 
the focus of our model and the financial profile 
of our company, which position us well for the 
road ahead. 

in closing
But first, we have to manage through today’s 
exceptionally difficult environment, which prom-
ises to get even tougher in 2009. That’s why, as 
I’ve just described, our short-term focus is very 
much on staying liquid, staying profitable and 
investing selectively for growth. Within this 
framework, some of our top priorities include 
attracting and retaining more high-value con-
sumer and business-to-business customers, 
providing them with excellent service, enhancing 
the rewards programs and products we offer to 
them, and creating new ways and places for 
them to use American Express cards. We will 
use our global reach and powerful brand to form 
new and valuable partnerships. We will increase 
our emphasis on B2B through our payments, 
expense management and travel offerings. We 
will work to further realize the potential of our 
global transaction-processing network. And we 
will explore new ways to expand our capabilities 
and revenue streams.
 Most of all, we will work very hard to regain 
value for our shareholders. This has been a pain-
ful year for most investors, including those who 
own American Express. I know our shareholders 
cannot be pleased with the performance of our 
stock this year. Like the shares of most other 
financial services companies, ours were hit hard 

and trailed the major market indices by a wide 
margin. I can’t predict when our shares will 
rebound, but I do believe this company has a 
great deal of growth potential over the medium 
to long term. We also have an exceptionally 
strong and dedicated team of employees around 
the world who are focused on not just getting 
through tough times but coming out stronger. I 
have great confidence that they will build upon 
this company’s great heritage of service and 
innovation in the years to come.

Sincerely,

Kenneth I. Chenault
Chairman and CEO, American Express Company
February 27, 2009
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financial review
The financial section of American Express Company’s (the 
Company) Annual Report consists of this Financial Review, 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The following discussion 
is designed to provide perspective and understanding to the 
Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of 
operations. Certain key terms are defined in the Glossary of 
Selected Terminology, which begins on page 57. 

This Financial Review and the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements have been adjusted to exclude discontinued 
operations unless otherwise noted.

executive overview
American Express Company, a bank holding company, is a 
leading global payments and travel company.  The Company’s 
principal products and services are charge and credit payment 
card products and travel-related services offered to consumers 
and businesses around the world. The Company’s businesses 
are organized into two customer-focused groups, the Global 
Consumer Group and the Global Business-to-Business Group. 
The Global Consumer Group offers a range of products and 
services including charge and credit card products for consumers 
and small businesses worldwide primarily through its U.S. 
bank subsidiaries and affiliates; consumer travel services; and 
stored value products such as Travelers Cheques and prepaid 
products.  The Global Business-to-Business Group offers 
business travel, corporate cards and other expense management 
products and services; network services  for the Company’s 
network partners; and merchant acquisition and merchant 
processing, point-of-sale, servicing and settlement and 
marketing products and services for merchants. The Company’s 
various products and services are sold globally to diverse  
customer groups, including consumers, small businesses,  
middle-market companies, and large corporations. These 
products and services are sold through various channels  
including direct mail, on-line applications, targeted sales 
forces, and direct response advertising. The Company’s 
revolving credit card products in the United States, as well 
as certain U.S. consumer and small business charge cards, 
are issued by American Express Centurion Bank (Centurion 
Bank) and American Express Bank, FSB (FSB). Centurion 
Bank and FSB are also the Company’s primary customer 
deposit-taking institutions.

The Company’s products and services generate the following 
types of revenue for the Company: 

•	 Discount revenue, which is the Company’s largest revenue 
source, represents fees charged to merchants when 
cardmembers use their cards to purchase goods and services 
on the Company’s network; 

•	 Net card fees, which represent revenue earned for annual 
charge card memberships; 

•	 Travel commissions and fees, which are earned by charging 
a transaction or management fee for airline or other travel-
related transactions; 

•	 Other commissions and fees, which are earned on foreign 
exchange conversion fees and card-related fees and 
assessments;  

•	 Securitization income, net, which is the net earnings related 
to cardmember loans financed through securitization 
activities; and

•	 Other revenue, which represents insurance premiums earned 
from cardmember travel and other insurance programs, 
revenues arising from contracts with Global Network Services’ 
(GNS) partners including royalties and signing fees, publishing 
revenues, and other miscellaneous revenue and fees; 

•	 Interest and fees on loans, which represents interest income 
earned on outstanding balances, card fees and balance 
transfer fees related to the cardmember lending portfolio.

In addition to funding and operating costs associated with these 
types of revenue, other major expense categories are related to 
marketing and reward programs that add new cardmembers 
and promote cardmember loyalty and spending, and provisions 
for anticipated cardmember credit and fraud losses. 

Historically, the Company has sought to achieve a number 
of financial targets, on average and over time: 

•	 Revenues net of interest expense growth of at least 8 percent; 

•	 Earnings per share growth of 12 to 15 percent;

•	 Return on average equity (ROE) of 33 to 36 percent.

In addition, assuming achievement of such financial targets, 
the Company has sought to return at least 65 percent of the 
capital it generates to shareholders as a dividend or through the 
repurchase of common stock.

The Company met or exceeded these targets for most of the 
past decade. However, during 2008, its performance fell short 
of the targets as economic and market conditions deteriorated 
in many parts of the world.  As long as these difficult conditions 
persist, it is unlikely that the Company will achieve its on 
average and over time financial objectives.  The share repurchase 
program was suspended in 2008 and, as a result, the portion of 
capital generated that is returned to shareholders is likely to be 
significantly below recent levels.

When economic conditions improve, the Company believes 
it will be positioned to generate revenue and earnings growth 
in line with its historical target levels.  However, the receipt 
of $3.39 billion from the Capital Purchase Program (CPP), 
as discussed below, along with evolving market, regulatory 
and rating agency expectations will likely cause the Company 
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to maintain a higher level of capital in future years.  The 
Company’s participation in the CPP requires it to suspend its 
share repurchase program, except related to its benefit plans and 
in other limited circumstances, and not increase its dividends 
until the redemption of the CPP investment. Even after the 
anticipated redemption of the CPP investment, a capital base 
greater than the Company has maintained over the last several 
years will lead, all other things being equal, to lower future ROE.  
While the Company is not establishing a new target at this 
time, it currently believes that it will ultimately be positioned 
to deliver an ROE in excess of 20 percent over time. As the 
capital markets environment evolves and economic conditions 
improve, management will have greater visibility into its capital 
requirements.  At that time, the Company will provide updated 
long-term ROE and capital distribution targets.

bank holding company
During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company became a 
bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company 
Act of 1956, and the Federal Reserve Board (Federal Reserve) 
became the Company’s primary federal regulator. As such, 
the Company is subject to the Federal Reserve’s regulations, 
policies and minimum capital standards.

The primary reason for the Company converting to a bank 
holding company was to become a Federal Reserve member 
and thus have the same status and regulator as a majority of the 
Company’s peers. Taking this action allows the Company to 
participate more fully in some government programs, providing 
greater flexibility during uncertain economic times. The Company 
converting to a bank holding company will change neither its 
payments focused model nor its core businesses.

As a result of converting to a bank holding company, 
the Company has made certain changes to its Consolidated 
Statements of Income and Consolidated Balance Sheets and 
reclassified certain prior period amounts in order to conform to 
the current presentation of its financials in accordance with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s regulations applicable 
to bank holding companies. These changes and reclassifications 
within the Consolidated Statements of Income include (i) new 
categories of interest income and interest expense, and changes 
to the component classifications thereof, (ii) the reclassification 
of card fees on lending products from net card fees to interest and 
fees on loans, (iii) separate disclosure of certain financial statement 
line items, which are presented in Note 23 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, and (iv) certain other placement and 
line title changes. The changes and reclassifications within the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets include (i) the breakout of interest 
and non-interest bearing cash accounts into separate lines, (ii) 
the reclassification of unearned income on loans from other 
liabilities to loans as a contra-asset, and (iii) certain other line title 
changes. These reclassifications had no impact to the Company’s 
consolidated net income.

current economic environment/outlook
During the latter half of 2008, concerns over the availability 
and cost of credit, a historic decline in real estate values in the 
United States, rising unemployment, and the collapse of major 
financial institutions contributed to a worsening global recession, 
increased volatility and reduced liquidity in the capital markets, 
and diminished expectations for the economy. The Company 
experienced slowing cardmember spending (including a year 
over year decline in spending in the fourth quarter of the year) 
and loan volumes and higher delinquencies as increasing stress in 
the worldwide financial markets eroded consumer and business 
confidence levels. Based on these trends, the Company expects 
consumer and business sentiment will likely deteriorate further 
and will translate into weaker economies around the globe and 
increased unemployment through 2009. As a result, the Company 
will continue to reevaluate its reengineering needs through 2009.

Beyond the economy, all card issuers face increased 
regulation as policy makers around the world step up efforts to 
ensure fairness and transparency in the credit card industry.

To prepare for this more difficult environment, the Company 
moved ahead with plans that resulted in reengineering charges 
in the fourth quarter of 2008. (See further discussion in the 
Reengineering Initiatives section below). The Company also 
began implementing a number of selective pricing increases 
in connection with certain of its products to help mitigate 
the Company’s increased costs to extend credit. Through a 
combination of cost reductions and revenue-building actions, 
the Company expects to increase its financial flexibility. The 
Company will continue to selectively and prudently invest in 
longer-term business-building actions and programs with the 
objective of capitalizing on its strong brand and competitive 
position in the payments industry.

In summary, the Company remains cautious about the 
business environment through 2009 and expects economic 
conditions will deteriorate further. As a result, cardmember 
spending is expected to remain soft and past-due loans and 
write-offs are expected to continue to rise further in the first 
and second quarters of 2009 from 2008 levels. Nonetheless, the 
Company seeks to generate earnings in excess of its dividend 
payment. The Company’s objectives in this environment are 
maintaining liquidity and profitability and investing selectively 
for growth. See Impact of Credit and Capital Market 
Environment and Certain Legislative, Regulatory, and Other 
Developments sections below.

reengineering initiatives
In response to the current economic environment, the Company 
took various actions during 2008 that resulted in recording 
pretax reengineering charges of $449 million ($291 million 
after-tax) to reduce its cost structure. The reengineering plan 
includes lowering staff levels and compensation expense and 
reducing operating costs and related investment spending.
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The Company expects to be substantially completed with the 
elimination of approximately 7,000 positions or approximately 
10 percent of its total worldwide workforce in the first quarter 
of 2009. Actions taken under the reengineering plan are 
anticipated to generate benefits, from previously anticipated 
spending levels in 2009, of $700 million from staffing and 
compensation decisions, $125 million from lower operating 
costs, and $1.0 billion in reduced investment spending, for a 
total of approximately $1.8 billion.

Although these reductions in spending are significant, the 
reengineering initiatives are designed not to sacrifice customer 
service or core capabilities.

acquisitions and divestitures
Corporate Payment Services
On March 28, 2008, the Company purchased Corporate  
Payment Services (CPS), General Electric Company’s (GE) 
commercial card and corporate purchasing business unit.  The 
total cash consideration of $2.3 billion paid by the Company 
consisted of the contractual purchase price of approximately 
$1.1 billion plus the repayment of CPS’ $1.2 billion in 
outstanding debt as of the acquisition date. The component 
businesses of CPS are reported within Global Corporate 
Services (GCS) and the U.S. Card Services (USCS) reportable 
operating segments.  Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further details.

The Company is in the process of signing CPS customer 
agreements and migrating CPS’ customers to its network; 
this migration is expected to be substantially completed by 
March 31, 2009.  As a result, the Company’s 2008 financial 
metrics (e.g., billed business and cards-in-force) do not reflect 
CPS’ card performance.

American Express Bank Ltd.
On September 18, 2007, the Company entered into an 
agreement to sell its international banking subsidiary, American 
Express Bank Ltd. (AEB) to Standard Chartered PLC 
(Standard Chartered).  On February 29, 2008, the purchase 
was completed. In the second quarter of 2008, the Company 
and Standard Chartered agreed on the final purchase price of 
$796 million. For 2008 through the date of disposition and 
all prior periods presented, the operating results, assets and 
liabilities, and cash flows of AEB (except for certain components 
of the AEB businesses that were not sold) have been removed 
from the Corporate & Other segment and reported separately 
within the discontinued operations captions on the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements and notes related thereto.

American Express International Deposit Company
On September 18, 2007, the Company also entered into an 
agreement with Standard Chartered to sell American Express 
International Deposit Company (AEIDC) 18 months after 

the close of the AEB sale through a put/call agreement. A 
subsequent payment from or to Standard Chartered will be 
made based on the net (deficit) asset value of AEIDC on the 
date the business is transferred to Standard Chartered.  The 
net (deficit) asset value of AEIDC at December 31, 2008 and 
2007, was $(44) million and $232 million, respectively.  During 
the third quarter of 2008, which is within one year of transfer 
to Standard Chartered, AEIDC was reported as a discontinued 
operation.  Accordingly, for all the periods presented, AEIDC’s 
operating results, assets and liabilities, and cash flows have been 
removed from the Company’s Corporate & Other segment and 
reported separately within the discontinued operations captions 
on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and 
notes related thereto. 

The Company recognized $275 million ($179 million after-
tax) and $105 million ($69 million after-tax) of losses for mark-
to-market adjustments and sales associated with the AEIDC 
investment portfolio during 2008 and 2007, respectively.  

Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for 
further discussion of the Company’s acquisitions and dispositions.

financial summary
A summary of the Company’s recent financial performance 
follows:

Years Ended December 31, 
(Millions, except per share 
amounts and ratio data) 2008 2007

Percent 
Increase 

(Decrease)

Total revenues net of interest 
expense $28,365 $27,559 3%

Provisions for losses $ 5,798 $ 4,103 41
Expenses $18,986 $17,762    7
Income from continuing operations $ 2,871 $ 4,126  (30)
Net income $ 2,699 $ 4,012  (33)
Earnings per common share from 

continuing operations — diluted $ 2.48 $ 3.45  (28)
Earnings per common share — 

diluted $ 2.33 $ 3.36  (31)
Return on average equity(a) 22.3% 37.3%
Return on average tangible equity(b) 28.1% 44.0%

(a) Return on average equity is calculated by dividing (i) net income 
($2.7 billion and $4.0 billion for 2008 and 2007, respectively), by (ii) average 
total shareholders’ equity ($12.1 billion and $10.8 billion for 2008 and 
2007, respectively). 

(b) Return on average tangible equity is computed in the same manner as return 
on average equity except the computation of average tangible shareholders’ 
equity excludes average goodwill and other intangibles of $2.5 billion and 
$1.6 billion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company 
believes the return on average tangible equity is a useful measure of 
profitability of its business.
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See Consolidated Results of Operations, beginning on page 22, 
for discussion of the Company’s results. 

The Company follows U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP).  In addition to information provided 
on a GAAP basis, the Company discloses certain data on a 
“managed basis.” This information, which should be read 
only as a supplement to GAAP information, assumes, in 
the Consolidated Selected Statistical Information and 
USCS segment, there have been no cardmember lending 
securitization transactions. These managed basis adjustments, 
and management’s rationale for such presentation, are discussed 
further in the USCS section below under “Differences between 
GAAP and Managed Basis Presentation.” 

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts have been 
made to conform to the current presentation throughout this 
Annual Report.

Certain of the statements in this Annual Report are 
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. See Forward-
Looking Statements at the end of this discussion.
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critical accounting policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The following 
chart provides information about four critical accounting policies that are important to the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
that require significant management assumptions and judgments. 

reserves for cardmember losses

Description Assumptions/Approach Used
Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

Reserves for cardmember losses relating to 
cardmember loans and receivables represent 
management’s best estimate of the losses 
inherent in the Company’s outstanding 
portfolio of loans and receivables.

Reserves for these losses are primarily based 
upon models that analyze specific portfolio 
statistics, including average write-off rates 
for various stages of receivable aging (i.e., 
current, 30 days, 60 days, 90 days) over a 
24-month period and average bankruptcy 
and recovery rates. These reserves reflect 
management’s judgment regarding overall 
adequacy. Management considers whether 
to adjust reserves that are calculated by 
the analytic models based on other trends, 
such as the reserves as a percentage of past-
due accounts, reserves as a percentage of 
cardmember loans and receivables, and net 
write-off coverage. Other trends considered 
include leading economic and market 
indicators, such as the unemployment 
rate, the consumer confidence index, the 
purchasing manager’s index, bankruptcy 
filings, concentration of credit risk based 
on tenure, industry or geographic regions, 
and the legal and regulatory environment. 
Cardmember loans and USCS cardmember 
receivables are generally written off when 
they are 180 days past due, consistent with 
applicable regulatory guidance. International 
Card Services (ICS) and GCS cardmember 
receivables are generally written off when 
they are 360 days past due.  

To the extent historical credit experience 
updated for emerging market trends in credit 
are not indicative of future performance, 
actual losses could differ significantly from 
management’s judgments and expectations, 
resulting in either higher or lower future 
provisions for losses, as applicable.

As of December 31, 2008, an increase 
in write-offs equivalent to 20 basis points 
of cardmember loan and receivable balances 
at such date would increase the provision 
for cardmember losses by approximately 
$150 million. This sensitivity analysis does 
not represent management’s expectations of 
the deterioration in write-offs but is provided 
as a hypothetical scenario to assess the 
sensitivity of the provision for cardmember 
losses to changes in key inputs.

The process of determining the reserve 
for cardmember losses requires a high degree 
of judgment. It is possible that others, given 
the same information, may at any point in 
time reach different reasonable conclusions.
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reserves for membership rewards costs

Description Assumptions/Approach Used
Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

The Membership Rewards program is the 
largest card-based rewards program in the 
industry. Eligible cardmembers can earn 
points for purchases charged and many of 
the Company’s card products offer the ability 
to earn bonus points for certain types of 
purchases. Membership Rewards points are 
redeemable for a broad variety of rewards, 
including travel, entertainment, retail 
certificates and merchandise. 

Points typically do not expire and 
there is no limit on the number of points 
a cardmember may earn. A large majority 
of spending by eligible cardmembers 
earns points under the program. While 
cardmember spend, redemption rates, and the 
related expense have increased, the Company 
believes it has historically benefited through 
higher revenues, lower cardmember attrition 
and credit losses and more timely payments.

The Company establishes balance 
sheet reserves that represent the estimated 
future cost of points earned to date that are 
ultimately expected to be redeemed. These 
reserves reflect management’s judgment 
regarding overall adequacy. The provision for 
the cost of Membership Rewards is included 
in marketing, promotion, rewards and 
cardmember services expenses.

A weighted average cost per point redeemed 
during the previous 12 months, adjusted as 
appropriate for recent changes in redemption 
costs, is used to approximate future 
redemption costs and is affected by the mix 
of rewards redeemed. Management uses 
models to estimate ultimate redemption rates 
based on historical redemption statistics, card 
product type, year of program enrollment, 
enrollment tenure, and card spend levels. 
These models incorporate sophisticated 
statistical and actuarial techniques to estimate 
ultimate redemption rates of points earned 
to date by current cardmembers given 
redemption trends and projected future 
redemption behavior.

The global ultimate redemption 
rate assumption for current participants 
is approximately 90 percent. The 
Company continually evaluates its reserve 
methodology and assumptions based on 
developments in redemption patterns, cost 
per point redeemed, contract changes, and 
other factors.

The reserve for the estimated cost of points 
expected to be redeemed is impacted over 
time by enrollment levels, the number 
of points earned and redeemed, and the 
weighted-average cost per point, which is 
influenced by redemption choices made by 
cardmembers, reward offerings by partners 
and other Membership Rewards program 
changes. The reserve is most sensitive to 
changes in the estimated ultimate redemption 
rate. This rate is based on the expectation 
that a large majority of all points earned will 
eventually be redeemed.

As of December 31, 2008, if the ultimate 
redemption rate of current enrollees changed 
by 100 basis points, the balance sheet reserve 
would change by approximately $225 million.
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fair value measurement

Description Assumptions/Approach Used
Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

The Company holds investment securities, 
certain subordinated interests in securitized 
cardmember loans from the Company’s 
securitization programs and derivative 
instruments. These financial instruments 
are reflected at fair value on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Management 
will make significant assumptions and 
judgments when estimating fair value for 
these financial instruments. 

Investment Securities
The Company’s investment securities are 
comprised of predominantly fixed-income 
securities issued by states and municipalities, 
as well as the U.S. Government and agencies 
(e.g., Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac) and retained 
subordinated securities described further 
below. The investment securities are classified 
as available-for-sale with changes in fair value 
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive 
(loss) income within shareholders’ equity on 
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(except for approximately $213 million 
of investment securities included in 
discontinued operations, for which changes in 
fair value are recorded in (loss) income from 
discontinued operations in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Income).

Securitized Cardmember Loans
When the Company securitizes cardmember 
loans, they are accounted for as sales and 
the loans are removed from the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company 
retains certain subordinated interests in the 
securitized cardmember loans, which may 
include one or more investments in tranches 
of the securitization (retained subordinated 
securities) and an interest-only strip.

 

In accordance with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157 “Fair 
Value Measurements” (SFAS No. 157) the 
objective of a fair value measurement is to 
determine the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date (an exit 
price). SFAS No. 157 established a three-
level hierarchy of valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy 
gives the highest priority to the measurement 
of fair value based on unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities (Level 1), followed by the 
measurement of fair value based on pricing 
models with significant observable inputs 
(Level 2), with the lowest priority given 
to the measurement of fair value based on 
pricing models with significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3).

Investment Securities 
The fair market values for the Company’s 
investment securities (excluding its retained 
subordinated securities, which are discussed 
further below) are obtained primarily from 
pricing services engaged by the Company, 
and the Company receives one price for 
each security. The fair values provided 
by the pricing services are estimated by 
using pricing models, where the inputs 
to those models are based on observable 
market inputs. The inputs to the valuation 
techniques applied by the pricing services 
vary depending on the type of security 
being priced but are typically benchmark 
yields, benchmark security prices, credit 
spreads, prepayment speeds, reported trades, 
broker-dealer quotes, all with reasonable 
levels of transparency. The pricing services 
do not apply any adjustments to the pricing 
models used, nor does the Company apply 
any adjustments to prices received from the 
pricing services. As of December 31, 2008, 
all of the Company’s investment securities are 
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
See further in Note 5 to the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Retained Subordinated Securities and Interest-
Only Strip
The fair value of the Company’s retained 
subordinated securities and interest-only 
strip are determined using discounted cash 
flow models. 

(continued on next page)

Investment Securities 
In the measurement of fair value for the 
Company’s investment securities (excluding 
its retained subordinated securities, which 
are discussed further below), even though the 
underlying inputs used in the pricing models 
are directly observable from active markets or 
recent trades of similar securities in inactive 
markets, the pricing models do entail a certain 
amount of subjectivity and therefore differing 
judgments in how the underlying inputs are 
modeled could result in different estimates of 
fair value. 

Retained Subordinated Securities and Interest-
Only Strip
In measuring the fair value for the 
Company’s retained subordinated securities, 
the fair value is impacted by external market 
factors including LIBOR forward rates 
and credit spreads, and therefore, the use 
of different inputs to the measurement 
of fair value of the Company’s retained 
subordinated securities could result in a 
different fair value measurement. 

The fair value of the interest-only strip 
is impacted by changes in the estimates 
and assumptions used in the valuation 
models. The use of different inputs to the 
measurement of fair value of these financial 
instruments could result in a different fair 
value measurement. 

Refer to Note 6 to the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements, including 
sensitivity analyses relating to changes in key 
assumptions for the retained subordinated 
securities and interest-only strip. 
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fair value measurement (continued)

Description Assumptions/Approach Used
Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

Retained Subordinated Securities
See investment securities above for accounting 
for the retained subordinated securities.

Interest-Only Strip
The interest-only strip is reported in other 
assets on the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of 
the interest-only strip are also recorded in 
securitization income, net in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Derivative Instruments 
The Company’s primary derivative 
instruments include interest rate swaps, 
forward agreements, foreign currency 
options and cross-currency swaps. Derivative 
instruments are reported in other assets 
and other liabilities on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in 
fair value are recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive (loss) income, and/or in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income, 
depending on (i) the documentation and 
designation of the derivative instrument, 
and (ii) if the derivative instrument is in 
a hedging relationship, its effectiveness in 
offsetting the changes in the designated risk 
being hedged. 

The discount rate for the retained 
subordinated securities is estimated based 
on an interest rate curve that is observable in 
the marketplace plus an unobservable credit 
spread commensurate with the risk of the 
securities and similar financial instruments. 

The fair value of the Company’s interest-
only strip is the present value of estimated 
future positive excess spread expected to 
be generated by the securitized loans over 
the estimated remaining life of those loans. 
Management utilizes certain estimates and 
assumptions to determine the fair value of the 
interest-only strip assets including estimates 
for finance charge yield, credit losses, LIBOR 
(which determines future certificate interest 
costs), monthly payment rate and the 
discount rate. 

The Company’s retained subordinated 
securities and interest-only strip are classified 
in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
See further in Note 6 to the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
The Company reviews and evaluates its 
investment securities, including retained 
subordinated securities at least quarterly, 
and more often as market conditions may 
require, to identify investment securities that 
have indications of other-than-temporary 
impairments. The determination of other-
than-temporary impairment is a subjective 
process, requiring the use of judgments and 
assumptions. Accordingly, the Company 
considers several metrics when evaluating 
investment securities for an other-than-
temporary impairment, including the 
extent to which amortized cost exceeds 
fair value, the duration and size of that 
difference, and the issuer’s credit rating. Key 
factors considered when assessing other-
than-temporary impairment include the 
determination of the extent to which the 
difference is due to increased default risk for 
the specific issuers, or market interest rate risk.

With respect to market interest rate risk, 
including benchmark interest rates and credit 
spreads, the Company’s intent and ability 
to hold the investment securities for a time 
sufficient to recover the unrealized losses is a 
significant consideration in the other-than-
temporary evaluation process. See further 
in Note 5 to the Company’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

(continued on next page)

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
In determining whether any of the 
Company’s investment securities or retained 
subordinated securities are other-than-
temporarily impaired, a change in facts 
and circumstances could lead to a change 
in management judgment around the 
Company’s view on collectability and credit 
quality of the issuer, or the Company’s ability 
and intent to hold the investment securities 
and retained subordinated securities for a time 
sufficient to recover the unrealized losses. 
This could result in the Company recording 
an other-than-temporary impairment loss 
through earnings with a corresponding 
offset to accumulated other comprehensive 
(loss) income. As of December 31, 2008, the 
Company had approximately $1.6 billion 
in gross unrealized losses in its investment 
securities portfolio (including its retained 
subordinated securities) which were deemed 
not to be other-than-temporarily impaired. 

Derivative Instruments 
In the measurement of fair value for 
the Company’s derivative instruments, 
although the underlying inputs used in the 
pricing models are readily observable from 
actively quoted markets, the pricing models 
do entail a certain amount of subjectivity 
and therefore differing judgments in how 
the underlying inputs are modeled could 
result in different estimates of fair value. In 
addition, although counterparty credit risk 
is actively managed by the Institutional Risk 
Management Committee (IRMC), and 
any necessary credit valuation adjustments 
are based on observable default rates, a 
change in facts and circumstances could 
lead to a change in management judgment 
about counterparty credit quality, which 
could result in the Company recognizing 
an additional counterparty credit valuation 
adjustment. As of December 31, 2008, the 
credit and nonperformance risks associated 
with the Company’s derivative instrument 
counterparties were not significant.
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fair value measurement (continued)

Description Assumptions/Approach Used
Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

Derivative Instruments 
The fair values of the Company’s derivative 
instruments are estimated by using pricing 
models that do not contain a high level of 
subjectivity as the valuation techniques used 
do not require significant judgment and 
inputs to those models are readily observable 
from actively quoted markets. The valuation 
models used by the Company are consistently 
applied and reflect the contractual terms 
of the derivatives, including the period of 
maturity, and market-based parameters such 
as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
equity indices or prices, and volatility.

In certain instances credit valuation 
adjustments are necessary when the market 
parameters (for example, a benchmark curve) 
used to value the derivative instruments 
are not indicative of the credit quality of 
the Company or its counterparties. The 
Company considers the counterparty credit 
risk by applying an observable forecasted 
default rate to the current exposure.

The Company manages derivative 
instrument counterparty credit risk by 
considering the current exposure, which is 
the replacement cost of contracts on the 
measurement date, as well as estimating the 
maximum potential value of the contracts 
over the next twelve months, considering 
such factors as the volatility of the underlying 
or reference index. To mitigate derivative 
instrument credit risk, counterparties are 
required to be pre-approved and rated 
as investment grade. Counterparty risk 
exposures are monitored by the Company’s 
Institutional Risk Management Committee 
(IRMC). The IRMC formally reviews large 
institutional exposures to ensure compliance 
with the Company’s Enterprise-wide Risk 
Management Committee guidelines and 
procedures and determines the risk mitigation 
actions, when necessary. The Company’s 
derivative instruments are classified in Level 2 
of the fair value hierarchy. See further in 
Note 14 to the Company’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements.
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income taxes

Description Assumptions/Approach Used
Effect if Actual Results Differ 
from Assumptions 

The Company is subject to the income tax 
laws of the United States, its states and 
municipalities and those of the foreign 
jurisdictions in which the Company operates. 
These tax laws are complex, and the manner 
in which they apply to the taxpayer’s facts 
is sometimes open to interpretation. In 
establishing a provision for income tax 
expense, the Company must make judgments 
about the application of these inherently 
complex tax laws. 

Unrecognized Tax Benefits
The Company establishes a liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits, which are 
the differences between a tax position 
taken or expected to be taken in a tax 
return and the benefit recognized in the 
financial statements.

Deferred Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on the differences between 
the financial statement and tax bases of 
assets and liabilities using the enacted tax 
rates expected to be in effect for the years in 
which the differences are expected to reverse. 
A valuation allowance is established when 
management determines that it is more 
likely than not that all or some portion of 
the benefit of the deferred tax asset will not 
be realized.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits
In establishing a liability for an unrecognized 
tax benefit, assumptions may be made 
in determining whether a tax position 
is more likely than not to be sustained 
upon examination by the taxing authority 
and also in determining the ultimate 
amount that is likely to be realized. A tax 
position is recognized only when, based 
on management’s judgment regarding the 
application of income tax laws, it is more 
likely than not that the tax position will be 
sustained upon examination. The amount 
of tax benefit recognized is based on the 
Company’s assessment of the most likely 
outcome on ultimate settlement with the 
taxing authority. This measurement is based 
on many factors, including whether a tax 
dispute may be settled through negotiation 
with the taxing authority or is only subject 
to review in the courts. As new information 
becomes available, the Company evaluates its 
tax positions, and adjusts its unrecognized tax 
benefits, as appropriate. 

Deferred Taxes
Since deferred taxes measure the future tax 
effects of items recognized in the financial 
statements, certain estimates and assumptions 
are required to determine whether it is more 
likely than not that all or some portion of 
the benefit of a deferred tax asset will not 
be realized. In making this assessment, 
management analyzes and estimates the 
impact of future taxable income, reversing 
temporary differences and available tax 
planning strategies. These assessments are 
performed quarterly, taking into account any 
new information.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits
If the tax benefit ultimately realized differs 
from the amount previously recognized in 
the income tax provision, the Company 
recognizes an adjustment of the unrecognized 
tax benefit through the income tax provision.

Deferred Taxes
Should a change in facts or circumstances 
lead to a change in judgment about the 
ultimate realizability of a deferred tax asset, 
the Company records or adjusts the related 
valuation allowance in the period that the 
change in facts or circumstances occurs, along 
with a corresponding increase or decrease to 
the income tax provision.

21

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 20 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 21 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 21 opeRaToR PM2 



2 0 0 8  financial review 

american express company  

american express company 
consolidated results of 
operations 
summary of the company’s  
financial performance 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Millions, except per share  
amounts and ratio data) 2008 2007 2006
Total revenues net of interest expense $28,365 $27,559 $24,826
Provisions for losses $ 5,798 $ 4,103 $ 2,666
Expenses $18,986 $17,762 $17,008
Income from continuing operations $ 2,871 $ 4,126 $ 3,625
Net income $ 2,699 $ 4,012 $ 3,707
Earnings per common share from 

continuing operations — diluted $ 2.48 $ 3.45 $ 2.93
Earnings per common share — 

diluted $ 2.33 $ 3.36 $ 2.99
Return on average equity(a) 22.3% 37.3% 34.7%
Return on average tangible equity(b) 28.1% 44.0% 40.6%

(a) Return on average equity is calculated by dividing (i) net income ($2.7 billion, 
$4.0 billion, and $3.7 billion for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively) by 
(ii) average total shareholders’ equity ($12.1 billion, $10.8 billion, and 
$10.7 billion for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively). 

(b) Return on average tangible equity is computed in the same manner as return 
on average equity except the computation of average tangible shareholders’ 
equity excludes average goodwill and other intangibles of $2.5 billion, 
$1.6 billion, and $1.6 billion at December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
respectively. The Company believes the return on average tangible equity is 
a useful measure of profitability of its business.

selected statistical information(a)

Years Ended December 31, 
(Billions, except percentages  
and where indicated) 2008 2007 2006
Card billed business(b): 
United States $ 471.1 $ 459.3 $ 406.8
Outside the United States 212.2 188.0 154.7
Total $ 683.3 $ 647.3 $ 561.5
Total cards-in-force (millions):
United States 54.0 52.3 48.1
Outside the United States 38.4 34.1 29.9
Total 92.4 86.4 78.0
Basic cards-in-force (millions):
United States 42.0 40.9 37.1
Outside the United States 33.4 29.2 25.4
Total 75.4 70.1 62.5
Average discount rate  2.55% 2.56% 2.57%
Average basic cardmember 

spending (dollars) (c) $12,025 $12,106 $11,201
Average fee per card (dollars) (c) $ 34 $ 32 $ 32
Average fee per card adjusted  

(dollars) (c) $ 39 $ 36 $ 35

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information. 

(b) Card billed business is reflected in the United States or outside the United 
States based on where the cardmember is domiciled. 

(c) Average basic cardmember spending and average fee per card are computed 
from proprietary card activities only.  Average fee per card is computed based 
on net card fees, including the amortization of deferred direct acquisition 
costs, plus card fees included in interest and fees on loans (including 
related amortization of deferred direct acquisition costs) divided by average 
worldwide proprietary cards-in-force.  The card fees related to cardmember 
loans included in interest and fees on loans were $146 million, $130 million, 
and $170 million for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.  The adjusted average 
fee per card is computed in the same manner, but excludes amortization of 
deferred direct acquisition costs (a portion of which is charge card related 
and included in net card fees and a portion of which is lending related and 
included in interest and fees on loans).  The amount of amortization excluded 
was $320 million, $288 million, and $147 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.  The Company presents 
adjusted average fee per card because management believes that this metric 
presents a better picture of card fee pricing across a range of its proprietary 
card products. 
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american express company
selected statistical information(a)

Years Ended December 31, 
(Billions, except percentages 
and where indicated) 2008 2007 2006
Worldwide cardmember receivables:
Total receivables $ 33.0 $ 40.1 $ 37.4
Loss reserves (millions):
Beginning balance $ 1,149 $ 981 $ 942
 Provision(b) 1,363 1,140 935
 Net write-offs (1,552) (907) (810)
 Other (150) (65) (86)
Ending balance $ 810 $ 1,149 $ 981
% of receivables 2.5% 2.9% 2.6%
Net write-off rate — USCS(b) 3.6% N/A N/A
30 days past due as a %  

of total — USCS 3.7% N/A N/A
Net loss ratio as a %  

of charge volume – ICS 0.24% 0.26% 0.26%
90 days past due as a %  

of total — ICS 3.1% 1.8% 2.3%
Net loss ratio as a %  

of charge volume – GCS 0.13% 0.10% 0.09%
90 days past due as a %  

of total — GCS 2.7% 2.1% 1.9%
Worldwide cardmember  

lending — owned basis(c):
Total loans(d) $ 42.2 $ 54.4 $ 43.2
30 days past due as a % of total 4.4% 2.8% 2.2%
Loss reserves (millions):
Beginning balance $ 1,831 $ 1,171 $ 996
 Provision 4,106 2,615 1,507
 Net write-offs — principal (2,643) (1,636) (1,201)
 Write-offs — interest and fees (580) (354) (158)
 Other (144) 35 27
Ending balance $ 2,570 $ 1,831 $ 1,171
% of loans 6.1% 3.4% 2.7 %
% of past due 137% 119% 121%
Average loans(d) $ 47.6 $ 47.1 $ 36.4
Net write-off rate(e) 5.5% 3.5% 3.3%
Net interest yield on cardmember 

loans(f) 8.8% 8.9% 8.8%
Worldwide cardmember 

lending — managed basis(g):
Total loans(d) $ 72.0 $ 77.1 $ 63.4
30 days past due as a % of total 4.6% 2.8% 2.3%
Net write-offs — principal  

(millions) $ 4,065 $ 2,280 $ 1,647
Average loans(d) $ 75.0 $ 68.2 $ 56.8
Net write-off rate(e) 5.4% 3.3% 2.9%
Net interest yield  

on cardmember loans(f) 9.2% 9.0% 9.0%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information. 

(b) In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company revised the time period in 
which past due cardmember receivables in USCS are written off to 180 
days past due, consistent with applicable regulatory guidance. Previously, 
receivables were written off when 360 days past due. The net write-offs 
for 2008 include approximately $341 million resulting from this write-off 
methodology change, which is not reflected in the net write-off rate for 
USCS. Including the $341 million in write-offs, the net write-off rate was 
5.4 percent for 2008. 

(c) “Owned,” a GAAP basis measurement, reflects only cardmember loans 
included on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(d) Loan balances used to calculate average loans for all periods presented have 
been revised in connection with the Company’s conversion to a bank holding 
company. Specifically, deferred card fees net of deferred direct acquisition 
costs for cardmember loans were reclassified from other liabilities to 
cardmember loans for all periods. 

(e) In the third quarter of 2008, the Company revised its method of reporting 
the cardmember lending net write-off rate. Historically, the net write-off 
rate has been presented using net write-off amounts for principal, interest, 
and fees. However, industry convention is generally to include only the net 
write-offs related to principal in write-off rate disclosures. The Company 
is presenting the net write-off rate using the net write-off amounts for 
principal only, consistent with industry convention. 2006 historical data 
for ICS was not available to present the write-off rate for principal only. 
Accordingly, the worldwide write-off rate includes write-offs of interest and 
fees in 2006 related to ICS.

(f ) See below for calculations of net interest yield on cardmember loans. 
The Company believes net interest yield on cardmember loans (on both 
an owned and managed basis) is useful to investors because it provides a 
measure of profitability of the Company’s cardmember lending portfolio.

(g) Includes on-balance sheet cardmember loans and off-balance sheet 
securitized cardmember loans. The difference between the “owned basis” 
(GAAP) information and “managed basis” information is attributable to the 
effects of securitization activities. Refer to the information set forth under 
U.S. Card Services Selected Financial Information for further discussion of 
the managed basis presentation.
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calculation of net interest yield on 
cardmember loans (a)

(Millions) 2008 2007 
Owned Basis:
Net interest income $3,646 $3,443
Average loans (billions)(c) $  47.6 $  47.1
Adjusted net interest income $4,199 $4,182
Adjusted average loans (billions) $  47.7 $ 47.2
Net interest yield on cardmember loans 8.8        % 8.9%

Managed Basis:
Net interest income(b) $6,328 $5,437
Average loans (billions)(c) $  75.0 $ 68.2
Adjusted net interest income $6,881 $6,176
Adjusted average loans (billions) $  75.0 $ 68.3 
Net interest yield on cardmember loans 9.2% 9.0%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information. 

(b) Includes the GAAP to managed basis securitization adjustments to interest 
income and interest expense as set forth under U.S. Card Services Selected 
Financial Information managed basis presentation. 

(c) Loan balances used to calculate average loans for all periods presented have 
been revised in connection with the Company’s conversion to a bank holding 
company. Specifically, deferred card fees net of deferred direct acquisition 
costs for cardmember loans were reclassified from other liabilities to 
cardmember loans for all periods. 

The following discussions regarding Consolidated Results of 
Operations and Consolidated Liquidity and Capital Resources 
are presented on a basis consistent with GAAP unless 
otherwise noted. 

consolidated results of operations for 
the three years ended december 31, 2008
The Company’s 2008 consolidated income from continuing 
operations decreased $1.3 billion or 30 percent to $2.9 billion 
and diluted earnings per share (EPS) from continuing operations 
declined $0.97 or 28 percent to $2.48. Consolidated income 
from continuing operations for 2007 increased $501 million 
or 14 percent from 2006 and diluted EPS from continuing 
operations for 2007 increased $0.52 or 18 percent from 2006.

The Company’s 2008 consolidated net income decreased 
$1.3 billion or 33 percent to $2.7 billion, and diluted EPS 
decreased $1.03 or 31 percent to $2.33. Consolidated net 
income for 2007 and 2006 was $4.0 billion and $3.7 billion,  
respectively.  Net income for 2008 included a loss of $172 million 
from discontinued operations compared to $114 million loss 
and $82 million of income from discontinued operations in 
2007 and 2006, respectively. 

The Company’s revenues, provisions for losses, and 
expenses are affected by changes in the relative values of non-
U.S. currencies to the U.S. dollar. The currency rate changes 
had a minimal impact on the growth rates of total revenues net 
of interest expense, provisions for losses, and total expenses in 
2008. Currency rate changes increased the growth rates of total 
revenues net of interest expense, provisions for losses, and total 
expenses by approximately 2 percent in 2007. 

Results from continuing operations for 2008 included:

• A $600 million ($374 million after-tax) addition to U.S. 
lending credit reserves reflecting a deterioration of credit 
indicators in the second quarter of 2008;

• $449 million ($291 million after-tax) of reengineering costs, 
primarily reflecting the restructuring charge related to the 
Company’s reengineering initiatives in the fourth quarter 
of 2008;  

• A $220 million ($138 million after-tax) reduction to the fair 
market value of the Company’s interest-only strip; and

•	 A $106 million ($66 million after-tax) charge in the fourth 
quarter of 2008 to increase the Company’s Membership 
Rewards liability, in connection with the Company’s 
extension of its partnership arrangements with Delta. 

Results from continuing operations for 2007 included:

•	 A $1.13 billion ($700 million after-tax) gain for the initial 
payment due March 31, 2008, from Visa as part of the 
litigation settlement;  

•	 An $80 million ($50 million after-tax) gain in connection 
with the initial adoption of SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for 
Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments – an amendment of 
FASB Statements No. 133 and 140” (SFAS No. 155);

•	 A $63 million ($39 million after-tax) gain relating to 
amendments to the Company’s U.S. pension plans, effective 
July 1, 2007, that reduced projected pension obligations to 
plan participants;

•	 A $685 million ($430 million after-tax) charge related to 
enhancements to the method of estimating Membership 
Rewards liability;

•	 A $438 million ($274 million after-tax) credit-related 
charge due to experienced deterioration of credit indicators 
in the latter part of 2007. This fourth quarter charge was 
split between U.S. Card Services’ cardmember lending  and 
cardmember receivables of $288 million and $96 million, 
respectively, and included $54 million relating to a 
reduction in the fair market value of the Company’s retained 
subordinated interest in securitized cardmember loans; 

•	 $211 million ($131 million after-tax) of incremental 
business-building costs;
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•	 $74 million ($46 million after-tax) of Visa litigation-related 
costs; and 

•	 A $50 million ($31 million after-tax) contribution to the 
American Express Charitable Fund.

Also included in the 2007 results were $66 million ($43 million 
after-tax) of reengineering costs related to the Company’s business 
travel, prepaid services, international payments business and 
technology areas.

Results from continuing operations for 2006 included:

•	 $177 million ($155 million after-tax) of gains related to the 
sales of the Company’s card and merchant-related activities 
in Brazil, Malaysia, and Indonesia; 

•	 $68 million ($42 million after-tax) of gains related to a 
rebalancing program in the fourth quarter of 2006 to better 
align the maturity profile of the Travelers Cheque and Gift 
Card investment portfolio with its business liquidity needs;

•	 $174 million ($113 million after-tax) of charges associated 
with certain adjustments made to the Membership Rewards 
reserve models in the United States and outside the United 
States; and

•	 A $72 million ($47 million after-tax) reduction in total 
interest income, and securitization income, net related 
to higher than anticipated cardmember completion of 
consumer debt repayment programs and certain associated 
payment waivers. 

Also included in the 2006 results, were $152 million 
($99 million after-tax) of reengineering costs related to business 
travel, operations, finance and technology areas and a favorable 
impact from lower early credit write-offs, primarily related to 
bankruptcy legislation enacted in October 2005, and lower 
than expected costs associated with Hurricane Katrina that 
were provided for in 2005, partially offset by a higher provision 
for losses in Taiwan due primarily to the impact of industry-
wide credit issues.

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense 
Consolidated total revenues net of interest expense for 2008 
of $28.4 billion were up $806 million or 3 percent from 2007 
primarily due to greater discount revenue, lower total interest 
expense, higher other revenues, increased net card fees, 
greater travel commissions and fees, partially offset by lower 
securitization income, net, decreased interest income and lower 
other commissions and fees. Consolidated total revenues net of 
interest expense of $27.6 billion for 2007 were $2.7 billion or 
11 percent higher than 2006 due to increased interest income 
and higher discount revenue, partially offset by increased 
interest expense in 2007.

Discount revenue for 2008 rose $429 million or 3 percent 
as compared to 2007 to $15 billion as a result of a 6 percent 
increase in worldwide billed business. The slower growth in 
discount revenue compared to billed business growth reflected 
higher cash-back rewards costs and the relatively faster growth 
in billed business related to GNS where the Company shares 
the discount revenue with third-party card issuing partners. 
The 6 percent increase in worldwide billed business in 2008 
reflected growth in proprietary billed business of 4 percent, 
and a 27 percent increase in billed business related to GNS. 
The average discount rate was 2.55 percent, 2.56 percent, and 
2.57 percent for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Over time, 
selective repricing initiatives, changes in the mix of business, 
and volume-related pricing discounts for merchants acquired 
by the Company likely will result in some erosion of the average 
discount rate.

U.S. billed business and billed business outside the United 
States were up 3 percent and 13 percent, respectively, in 
2008. The growth in billed business within the United States 
reflected growth in basic cards-in-force, offset by a decrease in 
average spending per proprietary basic card. U.S. billed business 
reflected increases within the Company’s small business 
spending and Corporate Services volumes, offset by a slight 
decrease in consumer card billed business. The growth in billed 
business outside the United States reflected increases in average 
spending per proprietary basic card and growth in basic cards-
in-force as well as increases in spending within the Company’s 
consumer card business, small business and Corporate Services.
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The table below summarizes selected statistics for billed business and average spend:

2008 2007

Percentage  
Increase

(Decrease)

Percentage 
Increase 

(Decrease) 
Assuming 

No Changes 
 in Foreign 

Exchange  
Rates

Percentage 
Increase

Percentage 
Increase 

Assuming 
No Changes 

 in Foreign 
Exchange  

Rates

Worldwide(a)

Billed business 6% 5% 15% 13%
Proprietary billed business 4 3 13 11
GNS volumes(b) 27 27 49 43
Average spending per proprietary basic card (1) (1) 8 6
Basic cards-in-force 8 12
United States(a)

Billed business 3 13
Average spending per proprietary basic card (3) 4
Basic cards-in-force 3 10
Proprietary consumer card billed business(c) (1) 12
Proprietary small business billed business(c) 7 15
Proprietary Corporate Services billed business(d) 4 10
Outside the United States(a)

Billed business 13 12 22 14
Average spending per proprietary basic card 6 4 18 10
Basic cards-in-force 14 15
Proprietary consumer and small business billed business(e) 8 7 14 6
Proprietary Corporate Services billed business(d) 9 8 22 13

(a) Captions in the table above not designated as “proprietary” include both proprietary and Global Network Services data.

(b) Included in the Global Network and Merchant Services segment.

(c) Included in the U.S. Card Services segment.

(d) Included in the Global Commercial Services segment.

(e) Included in the International Card Services segment.

Assuming no changes in foreign exchange rates, total billed 
business outside the United States reflected  proprietary growth 
in Asia Pacific, Canada and Europe in the mid single-digits, 
and growth in Latin America in the low double-digits. 

The slower growth in overall cards-in-force in 2008 within 
both proprietary and GNS reflected modest card acquisition 
activities and the effect of certain credit-related actions. In 
2008, six million cards were added in the U.S. and non-U.S.  
businesses combined. During 2007, discount revenue rose 
$1.6 billion or 12 percent to $14.6 billion compared to 2006 as a 
result of a 15 percent increase in worldwide billed business, partially 
offset by a lower average discount rate, relatively faster growth in 
billed business related to GNS, and higher cash-back rewards costs 
and corporate incentive payments, which are reported as reductions 
to revenue (contra-revenue). The 15 percent increase in worldwide 
billed business in 2007 reflected increases in average spending per 
proprietary basic card, growth in cards-in-force, and a 49 percent 
increase in billed business related to GNS from 2006.

Net card fees increased $231 million or 12 percent to 
$2.2 billion in 2008 and $95 million or 5 percent to $1.9 billion 
in 2007, primarily reflecting a higher average fee per proprietary 
card. In 2007, the increase in net card fees was partially offset 
by the reclassification of certain card acquisition-related costs 
beginning July 1, 2006, from operating expenses to a reduction 
in net card fees.

Travel commissions and fees increased $84 million or 
4 percent to $2.0 billion in 2008, primarily reflecting a 3 percent 
increase in worldwide travel sales. Travel commissions and fees 
in 2007 of $1.9 billion increased $148 million or 8 percent, 
reflecting a 13 percent increase in worldwide travel sales 
primarily driven by higher airline ticket prices.

Other commissions and fees decreased $110 million or 
5 percent to $2.3 billion in 2008 due to the reclassification to 
other revenues in USCS of certain card service-related fees 
beginning in the first quarter of 2008 and a lower level of 
fees related to a lower average balance of owned loans, which 
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were partially offset by increased assessment revenues. Other 
commissions and fees increased $184 million or 8 percent in 
2007 to $2.4 billion due to higher assessments, increases in 
foreign exchange conversion fees, and other service fees.

Securitization income, net decreased $437 million or 29 
percent to $1.1 billion in 2008, primarily due to lower excess 
spread, net, driven by increased write-offs, charges to the fair 
value of the interest-only strip reflecting lower expected future 
cash flows, and a net loss on sales compared to net gains in the 
prior year. These impacts were partially offset by higher finance 
charges and fees due to a greater average balance of securitized 
loans and lower interest expense due to lower rates paid on investor 
certificates. Securitization income, net increased $18 million or  
1 percent to $1.5 billion in 2007 due to a larger average balance 
of securitized loans, higher net gains from securitization, the 
$80 million impact of the initial adoption of SFAS No. 155, 
and a reduction in revenue in 2006 from higher than anticipated 
cardmember completion of consumer debt repayment programs 
and certain associated payment waivers. These favorable impacts 
were partially offset by an increase in write-offs, a $54 million 
reduction in the fair market value of the Company’s retained 
subordinated interests in securitized cardmember loans, and 
greater interest expense due to a higher coupon rate paid to 
certificate holders.

Other revenues in 2008 increased $406 million or 23 percent 
to $2.2 billion, primarily reflecting the benefits of the CPS 
acquisition, higher network and partner-related revenues, a 
reclassification from other commissions and fees from USCS as 
discussed above, and greater foreign exchange-related revenues. 
Other revenues increased $62 million or 4 percent to $1.8 billion 
in 2007 due to higher network, merchant, publishing, and 
insurance-related revenues, offset by a positive impact in 2006 
related to the rebalancing of the Company’s Travelers Cheque 
and Gift Card investment portfolio.

Interest income decreased $223 million or 3 percent 
to $7.2 billion in 2008. Interest and fees on loans decreased 
$192 million or 3 percent primarily reflecting a lower portfolio 
yield, due to the impact of reduced market interest rates on 
variably priced assets, partially offset by a slightly higher average 
owned loan balance. Interest and dividends on investment 
securities increased $98 million or 15 percent primarily 
reflecting higher liquidity-related investment levels which more 
than offset the impact of reduced investment yields. Deposits 
with banks and other decreased $129 million or 32 percent as 
lower yields more than offset higher deposit balances. During 
2007, interest income increased $1.7 billion or 30 percent to 
$7.4 billion, reflecting primarily an increase in interest and 
fees on loans, which grew $1.5 billion or 30 percent due to a 
29 percent increase in average owned loan balances.

Interest expense decreased $426 million or 11 percent 
to $3.6 billion in 2008. Interest expense related to deposits 
decreased $112 million or 20 percent, primarily due to a lower 
cost of funds which more than offset increased balances. Interest 
expense related to short-term borrowings decreased $248 
million or 34 percent, primarily due to a lower cost of funds and 
a decrease in average short-term debt. Interest expense related 
to long-term debt decreased $68 million or 3 percent, primarily 
reflecting a lower cost of funds driven by reduced market rates 
on variably priced debt, partially offset by an increase in average 
long-term debt outstanding. Interest expense of $4.0 billion in 
2007 was $1.1 billion or 39 percent higher than 2006 reflecting 
a $978 million increase in interest expense on long-term debt as 
a result of an increase in average long-term debt outstanding in 
support of growth in receivable and loan balances and a higher 
effective cost of funds.

Provisions for Losses 
Provisions for losses in 2008 increased $1.7 billion or 41 percent 
over last year to $5.8 billion, primarily due to the difficult credit 
environment, which led to increased write-off and delinquency 
rates compared to 2007. Charge card provisions for losses 
increased $223 million or 20 percent primarily due to higher 
loss and delinquency rates compared to 2007, partially offset 
by the credit-related charge in the fourth quarter of 2007. 
Cardmember lending provisions for losses increased $1.5 billion 
or 53 percent due to higher write-off and delinquency rates and 
higher average owned loan balances.

Provisions for losses increased $1.4 billion or 54 percent in 
2007. Charge card provisions for losses increased $205 million 
or 22 percent due to the additional charge for credit-related 
trends and higher business volumes. Cardmember lending 
provisions increased $1.1 billion or 70 percent due to higher 
write-off and delinquency rates, increased loan volumes, and 
the charge for credit-related trends.

Expenses
Consolidated expenses for 2008 were $19.0 billion, up $1.2 billion 
or 7 percent from $17.8 billion in 2007. The increase in 2008 
was primarily driven by higher other, net expenses, greater 
salaries and employee benefits expenses, higher occupancy 
and equipment expenses, increased professional services costs 
and greater cardmember services expense, partially offset by 
decreased cardmember rewards expense and lower marketing 
and promotion expense. Consolidated expenses for 2007 were 
$17.8 billion, up $754 million or 4 percent from $17.0 billion 
in 2006. The increase in 2007 was primarily driven by 
increased marketing and promotion, cardmember rewards and 
cardmember services expenses and higher salaries and employee 
benefits expenses, partially offset by lower other, net expenses. 
Consolidated expenses in 2008, 2007, and 2006 also included 
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were partially offset by the 2008 settlement payments from 
MasterCard and Visa. Other, net expenses in 2007 decreased 
$974 million or 30 percent to $2.2 billion compared to 2006, 
driven by a gain of $1.13 billion related to the settlement of 
litigation with Visa, and the reclassification of certain card-
acquisition costs to card fee revenue beginning July 1, 2006, 
partially offset by the $177 million gain related to the sale of 
the Company’s card and merchant-related activities in Brazil, 
Malaysia, and Indonesia in 2006, litigation expenses of $74 
million related to the settlement with Visa, and a $50 million 
contribution to the American Express Charitable Fund. 

Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 20 percent in 2008 compared to 
28 percent in 2007 and 30 percent in 2006. The effective tax rate 
for these years reflected tax benefits related to the resolution of 
certain prior years’ tax items and in 2008, a relatively lower level 
of pretax income. 

Discontinued Operations
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was 
$(172) million, $(114) million and $82 million in 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively. (Loss) Income from discontinued 
operations, net of tax, primarily reflected AEIDC and AEB 
results from operations, including AEIDC’s $275 million 
($179 million after-tax) and $105 million ($69 million after-
tax) of losses related to mark-to-market adjustments and sales 
within the AEIDC investment portfolio in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively, as well as AEB’s compliance-related remediation 
costs of $71 million ($45 million after-tax) to implement a 
robust compliance program and regulatory and legal expenses, and 
monetary penalties, of $60 million pretax and after-tax in 2007.

cash flows 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
In 2008 and 2007, net cash provided by operating activities 
exceeded net income, primarily due to provisions for losses, 
which do not require cash at the time of provision. Similarly, 
depreciation and amortization represent non-cash expenses. 
In addition, net cash was provided by net income and higher 
accounts payable and other liabilities balances (including 
the Membership Rewards liability). These accounts vary 
significantly in the normal course of business due to the amount 
and timing of various payments. 

For the year ended December 31, 2008, net cash provided 
by operating activities of $8.7 billion increased compared to 
2007. The increase was primarily due to the increase in non-cash 
provisions for losses and deferred taxes, acquisition costs and 
other, offset by the outflow of cash resulting from fluctuations in 
the Company’s other assets.

Net cash provided by operating activities was lower in 2007 
than 2006 due to fluctuations in other assets and liabilities. 

$449 million, $66 million and $152 million, respectively, of 
reengineering costs. Refer to the discussion earlier regarding 
the Company’s 2008 reengineering initiatives and Note 25 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for reengineering 
initiatives for all periods.

Marketing and promotion expenses decreased $132 million 
or 5 percent to $2.4 billion in 2008, reflecting decreased 
investments as compared to 2007, which included the 
incremental business-building costs. Marketing and promotion 
for 2007 increased $71 million or 3 percent to $2.6 billion, 
primarily reflecting incremental business-building costs. 

Cardmember rewards expenses decreased $388 million or 
8 percent to $4.4 billion in 2008, reflecting the Membership 
Rewards-related charge in 2007, which was partially offset by 
the Delta-related charge in 2008 to increase the Membership 
Rewards liability and higher volume-driven rewards costs. 
Cardmember rewards increased $1.0 billion or 28 percent to 
$4.8 billion in 2007 reflecting a $685 million charge related 
to the Membership Rewards liability due to enhancements 
to the method of liability estimation as discussed above, a 
higher redemption rate, higher volume-related rewards costs, 
partially offset by the impact of charges in 2006 associated with 
adjustments made to the Membership Rewards reserve models.

Cardmember services expenses increased $64 million or 
13 percent to $542 million in 2008, and increased $193 million or 
68 percent in 2007, reflecting higher expenses on insurance losses 
and claims as well as higher cardmember services costs. 

Salaries and employee benefits expenses increased 
$652 million or 12 percent to $6.1 billion in 2008, reflecting 
the fourth quarter of 2008 restructuring charge related to the 
Company’s reengineering initiatives, an increase in average 
headcount, greater merit and salesforce-related incentive costs 
and the pension-related gain in 2007. Salaries and employee 
benefits expenses in 2007 increased $398 million or 8 percent to 
$5.4 billion due to a higher level of employees and merit increases, 
partially offset by the $63 million pension-related gain previously 
discussed and lower severance-related costs compared to 2006. 
The increased level of employees primarily reflected employee 
additions related to customer service volumes and initiatives and 
the acquisition of Harbor Payments on December 31, 2006, and 
the acquisition of a travel services business in 2007.

Professional services expenses increased $133 million or 
6 percent to $2.4 billion primarily due to higher technology-
related consulting and credit and collection expenses. 
Professional services expenses in 2007 compared to 2006 
increased $17 million or 1 percent.

Other, net expenses in 2008 increased $895 million or 
40 percent to $3.1 billion compared to 2007 primarily due to 
the initial $1.13 billion Visa litigation settlement gain in the 
fourth quarter of 2007, net of litigation expenses, the related 
contribution to the American Express Charitable Fund and the 
2008 expenses related to the CPS acquisition. These impacts 
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
The Company’s investing activities primarily include 
funding cardmember loans and receivables, securitizations 
of cardmember loans and receivables, and the Company’s 
available-for-sale investment portfolio. 

For the year ended December 31, 2008, net cash provided 
by investing activities of $7.0 billion increased compared to 
2007, primarily due to net decreases in cardmember receivables 
and loans balances and cash provided by the sale of investments 
attributable to discontinued operations offset by cash used for 
acquisitions.

In 2007, net cash used in investing activities increased from 
2006 primarily as a result of an increase in cardmember loans 
and receivables.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
The Company’s financing activities primarily include issuing 
and repaying debt, taking customer deposits, paying dividends, 
and repurchasing its common shares. 

In 2008, net cash used in financing activities of $10.4 billion 
increased compared to 2007, primarily due to net repayments 
of debt and the net cash used in financing activities attributable 
to discontinued operations, partially offset by a decrease in the 
repurchase of American Express common shares from 2007.

In 2007, financing activities provided net cash greater than in 
2006 primarily due to net increases in borrowings and customer 
deposits.

impact of credit and capital market 
environment
Credit Markets – U.S. Consumer and Small Business Lending
During 2008, deteriorating home prices, rising unemployment 
and broad tightening of consumer credit adversely affected 
U.S. credit card issuers generally, including the Company. 
In addition, several other factors had a significant impact on 
the Company’s credit performance. First, the Company’s 
cardmember base is somewhat more skewed towards the states 
hardest hit by the U.S. real estate decline, such as California 
and Florida. Second, the Company added new cardmembers 
faster than the industry overall in the past three years, and the 
credit performance of 2-3 year old vintages tends to be worse 
than that of other vintages; however, this is part of the normal 
seasoning process. Third, the Company has a large portfolio of 
small business accounts, which typically have higher write-off 
rates and delinquencies than consumers. Finally, the economic 
downturn in 2008 had a significant impact on many of the 
Company’s affluent cardmembers.

These factors led to a sharp deterioration of the Company’s key 
lending credit metrics, with the 30+ day delinquency rate rising 
from 2.8 percent in 2007 to 4.4 percent in 2008 and the write-off 
rate rising from 3.5 percent in 2007 to 5.5 percent in 2008. As a 
result, the Company added significantly to the USCS cardmember 
lending reserves for losses in 2008.

In managing risk, the Company’s objective is to protect 
its profitability, but also protect, to the extent it can, the 
Company’s ongoing relationship with its cardmembers. With 
this in mind, the following actions have been taken by the 
Company across the U.S. Card Services portfolios:

•	 incorporating more sophisticated information in the Company’s 
risk evaluations;

•	 focusing on areas of high risk, and canceling certain accounts;

•	 reducing some lines of credit;

•	 increasing the number of customer care professionals; and

•	 assisting cardmembers who are experiencing temporary 
financial difficulty.

The Company’s view as noted above is that economic conditions 
will deteriorate further in 2009. As a result, it is expected that 
past due loans and write-offs will continue to rise further in the 
first quarter of 2009 versus the fourth quarter of 2008 and that 
the second quarter of 2009 will be higher than the first quarter 
of 2009.

Capital Markets
The global money and capital markets have been experiencing 
periods of liquidity disruption and rate volatility since the third 
quarter of 2007. Liquidity, benchmark interest rates, and credit 
concerns were further exacerbated during September 2008, 
fueled by heightened concerns about the global financial system 
after the collapse of several large financial institutions in the 
United States and elsewhere. 

The Company’s funding strategy seeks the issuance of debt 
and the acceptance of deposits with a wide range of maturities 
to spread out or “ladder” the refinancing requirement in future 
periods. Since September 2008, the market for the Company’s 
unsecured term debt and asset securitizations, like that for 
virtually all financial institutions, has been effectively frozen, 
except in connection with the Company’s participation in certain 
programs sponsored by the federal government and certain of its 
departments and agencies.

These government programs, launched or announced by the 
U.S. and other governments during the fourth quarter of 2008, 
provided some stability to the capital markets and reduced 
dislocations in benchmark indices such as LIBOR. However, if 
the unprecedented levels of volatility and disruptions reemerge 
or worsen, they could negatively impact the Company’s funding 
capabilities, liquidity position, and investment portfolios or 
derivative positions.
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Investment Portfolios
The Company’s investment portfolios support specific business 
purposes. The most significant business purposes and the 
related investments used to support those business purposes are 
as follows:

Business
Purpose

Primary 
Investments

Travelers Cheques State and Municipal obligations
Corporate debt obligations

Insurance State and Municipal obligations
Liquidity U.S. Government obligations

U.S. Government-sponsored-entities senior 
unsecured obligations
(In addition, the Company considers cash items 
such as money market funds and short-term 
time deposits as part of its liquidity resources)

AEIDC –
discontinued 
operations

Mortgage and other asset-backed securities

The Company’s objective is to manage the type and mix of assets 
as well as their maturity profile in order to ensure the cash and 
liquidity needs of the respective business purpose can be met 
without relying on the sale of investments prior to maturity. 
As a result, the Company generally holds its investments until 
their maturity. The Company nonetheless seeks to invest in 
portfolios of securities with sufficient liquidity that could be 
accessed prior to maturity should changes in cash needs occur. 

All of the Company’s investments included in continuing 
operations are classified as available-for-sale. The Company 
reviews its investments at least quarterly and more often as 
market conditions may require to evaluate their fair values and 
to identify investments that have indications of other-than-
temporary impairments. The determination of other-than-
temporary impairments for available-for-sale securities is a 
subjective process, requiring the use of various assumptions and 
application of judgment.  

State and Municipal Obligations
Total gross unrealized losses related to state and municipal 
securities amounted to approximately $1.0 billion and 
$136 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

Unrealized losses on securities may be caused by changes in 
market interest rates, which include both benchmark interest rates 
such as Treasury rates and liquidity and credit spreads that apply 
across the entire market, and specific credit events associated with 
individual issuers. The magnitude of unrealized losses may also be 
influenced in part by temporary but sharp increases in the issuance 
or other supply of similar securities in the market as well as in 
part by the expected maturity of particular issues. The Company 
believes the gross unrealized losses on the state and municipal 
securities are attributable in part to pricing pressures resulting from 
the excess supply of these types of securities in the market that 

were caused in part by unusually high redemptions of municipal 
money market funds that occurred beginning September 2008. 
The Company believes it has the ability and intent to hold these 
securities for a time sufficient to allow market conditions to 
stabilize and recover the unrealized losses. The Company expects 
that the contractual principal and interest will be received on 
these securities. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale 
securities are included in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) 
income until disposition of the investments.

Approximately 62 percent of state and municipal investments 
owned by the Company are insured by financial guarantors that 
guarantee timely payment of interest and ultimate payment of 
principal on insured obligations. 

At December 31, 2008, the state and municipal investments 
owned by the Company were rated as follows:

Higher of Financial 
Guarantors’ and 

Underlying Issuers’ 
Ratings

Underlying Issuers’ 
Ratings without 

Regard to Guarantors

AAA 15% 15%
AA 43% 35%
A 33% 40%
BBB 9% 10%

To date, the Company has not realized any losses as a result of 
financial guarantors’ credit problems. 

Government Sponsored Enterprises
At December 31, 2008, the Company owned approximately 
$3.2 billion of senior unsecured debentures issued by 
Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs): Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac. On September 7, 2008, the Federal Housing 
Finance Agency (FHFA) announced the decision to place 
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into conservatorship run by 
FHFA. These actions were designed to protect the senior and 
subordinated debt and the mortgage-backed securities of the 
GSEs. The total net unrealized gains on these securities were 
approximately $44 million at December 31, 2008. 

Mortgage and Other Asset-Backed Securities
The Company’s exposure to mortgage and other asset-backed 
securities, excluding the investments in retained subordinated 
securities from the Company’s securitization programs 
($744 million at December 31, 2008), decreased substantially 
to $288 million at December 31, 2008, from $2.5 billion at 
December 31, 2007. Of the $288 million in mortgage and 
other asset-backed securities, $213 million are used to support 
the AEIDC certificate business and are included in assets of 
discontinued operations. The decrease in mortgage and asset-
backed securities was primarily due to the sale, maturities, and 
mark-to-market loss of approximately $1.4 billion of investment 
securities used to support the AEIDC certificate business, and 
$838 million of investments included in the sale of AEB.  
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At December 31, 2008, the Company’s remaining asset-
backed securities were rated as follows:

Rating Percentage of Total

AAA 79%
AA 9%
A 3%
BBB 7%
BB 2%

Of the $288 million in mortgage and other asset-backed 
securities, $75 million of mortgage-backed securities are 
classified as available-for-sale within continuing operations 
and are rated AAA. There were no gross unrealized losses 
at December 31, 2008, related to the asset-backed securities 
classified as available-for-sale.

Money Market Mutual Fund
The Company owned a $500 million investment in the Primary 
Reserve Fund (the Fund), a money market fund, at the time the 
net asset value of the Fund fell below $1 per share in September 
2008. The Company recorded a loss of $15 million related to 
its investment in the Fund in September 2008. The Company 
received approximately $390 million from the Fund since it filed a 
redemption order with Reserve, the Fund sponsor, in September 
2008. Redemptions have been suspended and the timing of receipt 
of the remaining proceeds cannot be determined at this time. 
The remaining amount due from the Fund is recorded in other 
receivables on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

With the exception of its exposure to the Fund, the 
Company did not experience any defaults or events of default, 
or determine it would not receive timely contractual payments 
of interest and repayment of principal on any of its holdings in 
its investment portfolios.

Fair Value Measurements
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company partially adopted SFAS 
No. 157 for its financial assets and liabilities that are accounted 
for at fair value. Refer to Notes 1 and 17 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further details of the Company’s fair 
value measurements.

certain legislative, regulatory and 
other developments
As a participant in the financial services industry, the Company 
is subject to a wide array of regulations applicable to its 
businesses. Recently, the Company became a bank holding 
company, thereby resulting in the Federal Reserve Board’s 
becoming the Company’s primary regulator. As such, the 
Company is subject to the Federal Reserve Board’s regulations 
and policies, including its regulatory capital requirements. The 
Company is in the process of taking various actions to facilitate 
its compliance with the Federal Reserve Board’s regulatory 

framework. In addition, the extreme disruptions in the capital 
markets since mid-2007 and the resulting instability and 
failure of numerous financial institutions, have led to numerous 
proposals for changes in the financial services industry, including 
significant additional regulation and the formation of potential 
“super regulators” that combine the scope and authority of 
various existing regulatory bodies. Regulatory changes could 
lead to business disruptions, impact the scope or profitability 
of the Company’s business activities, require the Company to 
change certain of its business practices and could expose it to 
additional costs (including increased compliance costs).

In recent years, there has been a heightened level of 
regulatory attention on banks and the payments industry in 
many countries. Among other recent regulatory developments, 
in December 2008, federal bank regulators in the United States 
adopted amendments to the rules regarding Unfair or Deceptive 
Acts or Practices (UDAP) and Truth in Lending that restrict 
certain credit and charge card practices and require expanded 
disclosures to consumers. Similar legislative initiatives have been 
proposed. The regulatory amendments, which become effective 
July 1, 2010, include, among other matters, rules relating to 
the imposition by card issuers of interest rate increases on 
outstanding balances and the allocation of payments in respect 
of outstanding balances with different interest rates. The 
Company continues to assess the impact of the amendments on 
its business and operations and is evaluating offsetting actions 
to mitigate their impact. In the event any actions undertaken by 
the Company to offset the impact of the amendments are not 
effective, the amendments will likely have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s results of operations. 

The credit and charge card industry also faces continuing 
scrutiny in connection with the fees merchants are charged to 
accept cards. Although investigations into the way bankcard 
network members collectively set the “interchange” (i.e., the fee 
paid by the bankcard merchant acquirer to the card issuing bank 
in “four party” payment networks, like Visa and MasterCard) 
had largely been a subject of regulators outside the United 
States, a bill was introduced in Congress in early 2008 designed 
to give merchants antitrust immunity to negotiate interchange 
collectively with Visa and MasterCard. Although unlike the 
Visa and MasterCard networks, the American Express network 
does not collectively set interchange fees, antitrust actions and 
government regulation of the bankcard networks’ pricing could 
ultimately affect all networks.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board is considering 
whether to propose amendments that would significantly affect 
the accounting for off-balance sheet securitization activities, 
which could, if ultimately adopted, result in the Company having 
to consolidate approximately $29 billion of assets and liabilities of 
the American Express Credit Account Master Trust (the Lending 
Trust). This consolidation would also require the Company to 
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reestablish loss reserves of approximately $1.8 billion, which 
would reduce the Company’s regulatory capital ratios at the bank 
holding company level. The consolidation of the Lending Trust 
would primarily impact the Company’s Centurion Bank and 
FSB bank subsidiaries. Any consolidation of the Lending Trust 
could increase Centurion Bank’s and FSB’s risk-weighted assets 
as well as the required capital on their respective balance sheets 
to satisfy regulatory capital requirements.

consolidated capital 
resources and liquidity 
The Company’s balance sheet management objectives are to 
maintain:

•	 A solid and flexible equity capital profile;

•	 A broad, deep and diverse set of funding sources to finance 
its assets and meet operating requirements; and

•	 Liquidity programs that enable the Company to meet its 
obligations for at least a 12 month period should some or all 
of its funding sources become inaccessible.

capital strategy 
The Company’s objective is to retain sufficient levels of capital 
generated through earnings and other sources to maintain 
a solid equity capital base and to provide flexibility to satisfy 
future business growth. The Company believes capital allocated 
to growing businesses with a return on risk-adjusted equity in 
excess of its costs will generate shareholder value. 

The level and composition of the Company’s equity 
capital are determined in large part by the Company’s internal 
assessment of its portfolios, consolidated rating agency and 
regulatory capital requirements, and are also influenced by 
subsidiary capital requirements for the consolidated entity, the 
business environment, and by conditions in the debt funding 
markets. The Company, as a bank holding company, is subject 
to regulatory requirements administered by the U.S. federal 
banking agencies. The Federal Reserve Board has established 
specific capital adequacy guidelines that involve quantitative 
measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet 
items. The Company was not subject to these guidelines prior 
to becoming a bank holding company. In addition, Centurion 
Bank and FSB are subject to regulatory capital requirements 
of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and 
the Office of Thrift Supervision, respectively. 

The following table presents the risk-based capital ratios 
and leverage ratio for the Company and its significant banking 
subsidiaries at December 31, 2008:

Well- 
Capitalized  

Ratio
2008 

Actual

Risk-Based Capital
Tier 1 6.0%

American Express Company 9.7%
Centurion Bank 12.3%
FSB(a) 12.7%

Total 10.0%
American Express Company 11.1%
Centurion Bank 13.7%
FSB(a) 14.0%

Tier 1 Leverage 5.0%
American Express Company 8.5%
Centurion Bank 13.2%
FSB(a) 12.2%

(a) Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company infused $500 million of 
additional capital into FSB.

The Company was not previously required to calculate 
risk-based capital ratios or a leverage ratio. The methodology 
of calculating these ratios may be refined over time. 

The Company’s Tier 1 Risk-based, Total Risk-based, and 
Tier 1 Leverage ratios would have been approximately 13.1 
percent, 14.6 percent and 11.5 percent, respectively, had the 
$3.39 billion of proceeds from the U.S. Department of Treasury 
Capital Purchase Program (CPP) as discussed below, been 
received on December 31, 2008.

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s ratio of common 
shareholders’ equity and tangible common shareholders’ equity to 
risk-weighted assets was 11.3 percent and 8.5 percent, respectively. 
Common shareholders’ equity equals the Company’s shareholders’ 
equity of $11.8 billion at December 31, 2008 and tangible common 
shareholders’ equity equals common shareholders’ equity less 
goodwill and intangibles of $3.0 billion. The Company believes 
that presenting the ratio of tangible common shareholders’ equity 
to risk-weighted assets is a useful measure of evaluating the 
strength of the Company’s capital position.

The Company seeks to maintain capital levels and ratios 
in excess of the minimum regulatory requirements; failure to 
maintain minimum capital levels could cause the respective 
regulatory agencies to take actions that could limit the 
Company’s business operations.

The Company’s primary source of equity capital has been 
through the generation of net income.  Historically, capital 
generated through net income and other sources such as 
employee benefit plans has exceeded the growth in its capital 
requirements. To the extent capital has exceeded business, 
regulatory, and rating agency requirements, the Company 
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has returned excess capital to shareholders through its regular 
common dividend and the share repurchase program. 

The Company maintains certain flexibility to shift capital 
across its businesses as appropriate. For example, the Company 
may infuse additional capital into subsidiaries to maintain 
capital at targeted levels in consideration of debt ratings and 
regulatory requirements. These infused amounts can affect 
the capital and liquidity levels for American Express’ Parent 
Company (Parent Company). 

During 2008, the Company returned approximately 
35 percent of total capital generated to shareholders in the 
form of $836 million in dividends and $218 million of share 
repurchases. The Company retained a substantial portion of 
capital generated to further strengthen its balance sheet profile 
due to the challenging operating environment. 

us department of treasury 
capital purchase program - 
subsequent event
In October 2008, the United States Department of the 
Treasury (Treasury Department) announced its CPP under 
the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (EESA). 
The CPP is designed to encourage U.S. financial institutions to 
build capital to increase the flow of financing to U.S. businesses 
and consumers and to support the U.S. economy.

Subsequent to year end 2008, the Company participated 
in the CPP by issuing to the Treasury Department 3,388,890 
shares of the Company’s Fixed Rate Cumulative Perpetual 
Preferred Stock, Series A. The Series A Preferred Stock was 
issued with a ten-year warrant (Warrant) for the Treasury 
Department to purchase up to 24,264,129 of the Company’s 
common shares at an initial per share exercise price of $20.95 
per share. The aggregate gross proceeds received by the 
Company on January 9, 2009, for the Series A Preferred Stock 
and Warrant totaled $3.39 billion.

The Series A Preferred Stock pays cumulative quarterly 
dividends at a rate of 5 percent per year for the first five years 
and thereafter at a rate of 9 percent per year. The Company may 
not redeem the Series A Preferred Stock during the first three 
years except with the proceeds from one or more Qualified 
Equity Offerings (as defined in the CPP) (QEO). After three 
years, the Company may, at its discretion, redeem the Series A 
Preferred Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the recently-
enacted American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 
(ARRA) requires the Treasury Department to promulgate rules 
to permit a CPP participant to redeem the Series A Preferred 
Stock prior to the third anniversary of its issuance and not 
in connection with a QEO upon the Treasury Department’s 
consultation with such participant’s appropriate banking 
regulator. Any redemption will be at the liquidation amount 
plus accrued and unpaid dividends. The Series A Preferred 
Stock is non-voting (except upon certain events). 

Until the Company has redeemed the Series A Preferred 
Stock or the Treasury Department has transferred the Series 
A Preferred Stock to a third party, the consent of the Treasury 
Department will be required for the Company to (i) declare or 
pay any dividend or make any distribution on its common shares 
(other than regular quarterly cash dividends of not more than 
$0.18 per common share) or (ii) redeem, purchase or acquire any 
shares of its common shares or other equity or capital securities, 
other than in connection with benefit plans consistent with past 
practice and certain other limited circumstances. In addition, 
over the period that the Preferred Stock remains outstanding, 
the Company’s ability to declare or pay dividends or repurchase 
its common shares or other equity or capital securities will be 
subject to restrictions in the event that it fails to declare and 
pay (or set aside for payment) full dividends on the Series A 
Preferred Stock. 

As described below, the Warrant, which is generally 
exercisable upon its issuance, provides for the adjustment of 
the exercise price and the number of the Company’s common 
shares issuable upon exercise pursuant to customary antidilution 
provisions. If, on or prior to December 31, 2009, the Company 
receives aggregate gross cash proceeds equaling at least 
$3.39 billion from one or more Qualified Equity Offerings, 
the number of common shares issuable upon exercise of the 
Warrant will be reduced by one-half of the original number 
of shares. The Treasury Department has agreed not to exercise 
voting power with respect to any common shares issued upon 
exercise of the Warrant (Warrant Shares). Transfer of the 
Warrant or Warrant Shares would result in voting power for 
the transferee upon exercise of the Warrant or the receipt of the 
Warrant Shares. 

Neither the Series A Preferred Stock, the Warrant, nor the 
Warrant Shares will be subject to any contractual restrictions on 
transfer, except that the Treasury Department may not transfer 
or exercise one-half of the Warrant prior to the earlier of 
(i) December 31, 2009, or (ii) the date on which the Company 
receives aggregate gross cash proceeds of at least $3.39 billion 
from one or more Qualified Equity Offerings.

Under the CPP, the Company agreed to certain restrictions 
on executive compensation that would limit the tax deductibility 
of compensation the Company pays to certain executives until 
such time as the Treasury Department ceases to own any 
securities acquired under the CPP. The Company also agreed 
that, for such time period, it will take all necessary action to 
ensure that its benefit plans with respect to its senior executive 
officers comply with EESA restrictions relating to executive 
compensation, which include (i) limits on compensation 
and incentives to take unnecessary and excessive risks that 
would threaten the value of the Company, (ii) a provision for 
recovery (i.e. clawback) of amounts of compensation that later 
prove to have been based on materially inaccurate financial 
statements or other performance metrics and (iii) limitations 
on any golden parachute payment. The ARRA contains 
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significant amendments to the existing executive compensation 
provisions of EESA and adds further restrictions on executive 
compensation. Such amendments and additional restrictions are 
intended to apply retroactively to the Company and other CPP 
participants. The ARRA amends the EESA to, among other 
things, limit the amount of bonus or incentive compensation 
payable to the Company’s five senior executive officers 
identified in the Company’s proxy compensation tables (“senior 
executive officers”) and the next 20 most highly compensated 
employees (the Top 25) to one-third of the total amount of their 
annual compensation and limits the form of such payments to 
long-term restricted stock that does not fully vest during the 
period in which the Series A Preferred Stock is outstanding. 
Additionally, the ARRA expands the clawback provisions and 
golden parachute restrictions of EESA, which are described 
above, by applying them not only to senior executive officers, 
but also to the next 20 most highly compensated employees in 
the case of clawbacks and next five most highly compensated 
employees in the case of golden parachutes. The ARRA also 
contains a provision that requires the Treasury Department 
to review bonuses and incentive compensation previously 
paid to the Top 25 to determine whether any such payments 
were inconsistent with the purpose of the ARRA or otherwise 
contrary to the public interest, and if so determined, to negotiate 
for appropriate reimbursements.

As of January 9, 2009, both the Series A Preferred Stock 
and Warrant are accounted for as permanent equity on the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet, based on a relative fair 
value allocation, and components of capital, thus enhancing the 
Company’s Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios. The issuance of the 
Series A Preferred Stock and Warrant is expected to reduce the 
Company’s Net Income Available to Common Shareholders in 
determining basic and diluted EPS.

The amount of the Treasury Department’s investment in 
American Express was determined by a formula based on the 
asset size of the Company. The additional capital from the CPP 
gives the Company added stability and capital strength to pursue 
its business objectives. This investment allows the Company to 
continue to make credit available to customers—whether they 
are retail consumers, small businesses, or corporations.

share repurchases and dividends
The Company has a share repurchase program to return equity 
capital in excess of regulatory and rating agency requirements, 
internal risk-based evaluation, and business needs to 
shareholders. These share repurchases both offset the issuance 
of new shares as part of employee compensation plans and 
reduce shares outstanding. 

Approximately 68 percent of capital generated has been 
returned to shareholders since inception of the share repurchase 
program in 1994. The Company reduced its level of share 
repurchases in the first quarter of 2008 from previous levels in 

order to use the funds generated from operations to acquire the 
CPS business from GE. During 2008, the Company purchased 
4.7 million common shares at an average price of $46.10. No shares 
have been repurchased since the first quarter of 2008 in light of 
the economic uncertainties and concerns about a global recession 
and in order to use the funds generated from operations to acquire 
the CPS business from GE. Under the terms of the CPP, the 
Company is not permitted to repurchase shares of its common 
stock other than to offset issuances under benefit plans consistent 
with past practices and in certain other limited circumstances. 

Additionally, the Company will not be permitted to increase 
its dividend to common shareholders under the CPP. The 
Company may also be required to cut or eliminate such dividend 
under regulatory guidelines if earnings are not sufficient to cover 
the payouts. Also, the Company must satisfy all dividends on 
the Series A Preferred Stock before any dividends can be paid to 
common shareholders. For certain contractual restrictions related 
to payment of the Company’s dividend, see further discussion in 
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

funding strategy
The Company seeks to maintain broad and well-diversified 
funding sources to allow it to meet its maturing obligations 
and cost-effectively finance current and future asset growth in 
its global businesses as well as to maintain a strong liquidity 
profile. Diversity of funding sources by type of debt instrument, 
by maturity and by investor base, among other factors, provides 
additional insulation from the impact of disruptions in any one 
type of debt, maturity, or investor. The mix of the Company’s 
funding in any period will seek to achieve cost-efficiency consistent  
with both maintaining diversified sources and achieving its 
liquidity objectives. The Company’s funding strategy and activities 
are integrated into its asset-liability management activities. 

The Company’s proprietary card businesses are the 
primary asset-generating businesses, with significant assets in 
both domestic and international cardmember receivable and 
lending activities. The Company’s borrowing needs are in large 
part associated with its proprietary card businesses and the 
maintenance of a liquidity position to support all of its business 
activities, such as merchant payments. The Company generally 
pays merchants for card transactions prior to reimbursement by 
cardmembers. The Company funds merchant payments during 
the period cardmember loans and receivables are outstanding. 
The Company also has additional borrowing needs associated 
with general corporate purposes. The Company seeks to 
establish and maintain access to a broad and diversified set of 
funding sources.

The recent turmoil in the money and capital markets during 
2008 resulted in changes to the mix and cost of financing the 
Company obtained from its traditional funding sources, as well 
as the establishment and expansion of its retail deposit-taking 
activities.
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The Company has historically relied on the debt capital 
markets to satisfy a substantial amount of its funding needs, 
as do many financial services companies. Notwithstanding the 
difficult conditions in the financial markets during the past 
year, the Company accessed a variety of capital markets sources 
during the first three quarters of the year. The Company’s 
issuances of debt securities and securitizations, similar to most 
issuances across the capital markets, included spreads above 
benchmark rates that were significantly greater than those on 
similar issuances completed during the prior several years.

The Company’s strategy is to issue debt and deposits 
with a wide range of maturities to reduce and spread out the 
refinancing requirements in future periods. However, the 
Company’s ability to obtain financing in the debt capital market 
for unsecured term debt and asset securitizations is subject to a 
renewal of investor demand. The Company continues to assess 
its needs and investor demand, which will likely change the 
mix of its existing sources as well as seek to add new sources 
to its funding mix. The Company’s funding plan is subject to 
various risks and uncertainties, such as disruption of financial 
markets, market capacity and demand for securities offered by 
the Company, regulatory changes, ability to sell receivables and 
the performance of receivables previously sold in securitization 
transactions. Many of these risks and uncertainties are beyond 
the Company’s control.

funding programs and activities
The Company meets its funding needs through a variety of 
sources, including debt instruments such as commercial paper, 
senior unsecured debentures and asset securitizations, long-
term committed bank borrowing facilities in certain non-U.S. 
markets, and deposits placed with the Company’s U.S. banks by 
individuals and institutions.

The following discussion includes information on both a 
GAAP and managed basis. The managed basis presentation 
includes debt issued in connection with the Company’s lending 
securitization activities, which are off-balance sheet. For a 
discussion of managed basis and management’s rationale for 
such presentation, refer to the U.S. Card Services discussion 
below. The Company had the following consolidated debt, 
on both a GAAP and managed basis, and customer deposits 
outstanding at December 31: 

(Billions) 2008 2007
Short-term borrowings $ 9.0 $ 17.8
Long-term debt 60.0 55.3
Total debt (GAAP basis) 69.0 73.1
Off-balance sheet securitizations 29.0 22.7
Total debt (managed basis) 98.0 95.8
Customer deposits 15.5 15.4
Total debt (managed) and  

customer deposits $113.5 $111.2

The Company’s current funding strategy for 2009 will be to 
raise funds to maintain sufficient cash, and readily-marketable 
securities that are easily convertible to cash in order to meet 
short-term borrowings outstanding, seasonal and other working 
capital needs for the next 12 months, including maturing 
obligations, changes in receivables and other asset balances, as 
well as operating requirements. The Company has $14.9 billion of 
unsecured long-term debt and $4.8 billion of asset securitizations 
that will mature during 2009. Cash provided by or required for 
changes in business volumes will depend in large part on billings 
volume and payment patterns from cardmembers. Refer to the 
discussion above regarding how the credit market environment 
could affect the mix of debt issuances.

The Company’s equity capital and funding strategies 
are designed to maintain high and stable debt ratings from 
the major credit rating agencies, Moody’s Investor Services 
(Moody’s), Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Fitch Ratings, and 
Dominion Bond Rating Services (DBRS). Recently, three of 
the four credit rating agencies that rate the Company provided 
updates on the Company’s ratings as follows:

•	 Moody’s lowered the Long-term Senior ratings of the 
Company from A1 to A2, American Express Travel Related 
Services Company, Inc. (TRS) and several rated subsidiaries 
from Aa3 to A1 and revised its outlook of the Company and 
its subsidiaries from stable to negative. This change, which 
brings the ratings for the Company’s funding subsidiaries 
to the same level as other rating agencies, ref lects concerns 
regarding weakness in the broader economy and specific 
concerns regarding “negative asset quality trends and 
lending exposures.” Moody’s affirmed all of its short-term 
ratings. On October 23, 2008, Moody’s affirmed its ratings 
on all outstanding classes of rated asset-backed securities 
issued by the Company’s lending and charge trusts.
 On February 25, 2009, Moody’s placed on review for 
possible downgrade the long-term and short-term ratings 
of the Company (A2/Prime-1). At the same time, the long-
term debt ratings of TRS and its rated operating subsidiaries 
(senior at A1) were also placed on review for possible 
downgrade. The Prime-1 short-term ratings for TRS and its 
rated operating subsidiaries were affirmed.

•	 S&P lowered the long-term ratings of the Company, TRS and 
several rated subsidiaries from A+ to A. The outlook on the 
ratings is negative. S&P’s affirmed its short-term ratings.

•	 DBRS announced that it had revised its outlook on the 
Long-term Senior ratings of the Company and its related 
subsidiaries (A (high)) from stable to negative.

Historically, credit ratings have had a significant impact on the 
borrowing capacity and costs of the Company. A downgrade 
in the Company’s long-term debt rating would result in higher 
interest expense on the Company’s unsecured debt, as well as 
higher fees related to borrowings under its unused lines of credit.  
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In addition to increased borrowing costs, a decline in its long-
term credit rating could reduce its borrowing capacity in the 
unsecured term debt capital markets, if and when such markets 
become available. A downgrade of one level in the Company’s 
short-term rating would result in the Company having to 
significantly reduce (or eliminate) its outstanding commercial 
paper compared to historical levels. In the event a reduction 
in its borrowing capacity in the short-term debt markets were 
to occur, the Company would further shift its funding to 
other funding programs such as retail deposits, the issuance 
of long-term debt, and asset securitization, to the extent these 
markets are available. 

short-term funding programs
Short-term borrowings, including commercial paper and 
federal funds purchased, are defined as any debt or time deposit 
with an original maturity of 12 months or less. The Company’s 
short-term funding programs are used primarily to meet 
working capital needs, such as managing seasonal variations in 
receivables balances, and have not, on average, grown in size 
with its business growth. The ultimate amount and mix issued 
will depend on the Company’s needs and market conditions.  
American Express Credit Corporation’s (Credco) commercial 
paper is a principal source of short-term borrowings for 
the Company. Centurion Bank and FSB raise short-term 
borrowings through various instruments. 

The Company had the following short-term borrowings 
outstanding at December 31:

(Billions) 2008 2007
Credco:

Commercial paper $7.3 $10.5
Other 0.1 0.6

Centurion Bank and FSB:
Bank notes — 2.9
Federal funds purchased 0.5 2.4

Other 1.1 1.4
Total $9.0 $17.8

The Company’s short-term borrowings as a percentage of total 
debt at December 31 was as follows:

2008 2007
Short-term borrowings as a percentage 

of total debt (GAAP basis) 13.0% 24.3%

The Company had continuous access to the commercial paper 
market during 2008. Its commercial paper issuances after mid-
September occurred at shorter weighted average maturities 
than the Company’s historic trend, consistent with the changes 
in issuance maturities occurring across the overall commercial 
paper market, as reported by the Federal Reserve.

On October 7, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board established 
the Commercial Paper Funding Facility (CPFF). The CPFF 
provides three month liquidity to U.S. issuers of commercial 
paper through a special purpose vehicle (SPV), which purchases 
three month unsecured and asset-backed commercial paper 
directly from eligible issuers using financing provided by the 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The commercial paper must 
be rated at least A1/P1/F1 by a major nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization (NRSRO) and, if rated by 
multiple major NRSROs, must be rated at least A1/P1/F1/R1 
(middle) by two or more NRSROs. Credco is eligible to have 
up to $14.7 billion of commercial paper outstanding with the 
SPV at any one time. The SPV is currently scheduled to cease 
purchasing commercial paper on October 30, 2009, unless the 
Board extends the facility. At December 31, 2008, the Company 
had $7.3 billion of commercial paper outstanding, including 
$4.5 billion under the CPFF.

Average commercial paper outstanding was $10.8 billion 
and $7.8 billion in 2008 and 2007, respectively, including 
amounts issued through the CPFF program. Credco currently 
manages the level of short-term borrowings outstanding such 
that its back-up liquidity, including available bank credit 
facilities and cash and readily-marketable securities, are not less 
than 100 percent of net short-term borrowings. Credco’s total 
back-up liquidity coverage of net short-term borrowings was in 
excess of 100 percent at December 31, 2008 and 2007. 

deposit programs
Historically, the vast majority of deposits raised at Centurion 
Bank and FSB came through the issuance of certificates 
of deposit (CDs) to institutional investors in amounts that 
exceeded the maximum amount of FDIC insurance. During 
the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company significantly shifted  
its deposit-gathering activities from institutional to individual 
deposits in which the amounts are fully covered by FDIC 
deposit insurance. Institutional CDs were subject to many of 
the same factors that have affected the unsecured debt and asset 
securitization markets, and investors reduced their demand for 
CDs during the fourth quarter of 2008.

As part of its continuing objective to target broad and 
diversified sources of funding, the Company sought to increase 
its funding sources directed to individual investors. During 
2008 the Company launched a retail CD program through the 
Banks. These CDs are offered to individual, retail depositors in 
amounts that fully qualify for FDIC insurance protection. The 
Company’s deposits are currently gathered through distribution 
arrangements with other firms providing brokerage and 
investment services to individuals. The Company believes it 
can use the American Express brand name to expand its deposit 
base as a key source of funding and is pursuing a number of 
strategies to raise additional deposits, including offering retail 
deposits directly to the consumers. 
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The Company’s 2008 offerings, which include those 
made by the Parent Company, Credco, Centurion Bank, FSB, 
American Express Receivables Financing Corporation LLC V 
(the Charge Trust) and the American Express Credit Account 
Master Trust (the Lending Trust), are presented in the following 
table on both a GAAP and managed basis:

(Billions) Amount 

American Express Company (Parent Company only):
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes $ 3.0

American Express Credit Corporation: 
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 6.2

American Express Bank, FSB: 
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 8.1

American Express Receivables Financing
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes and  

Subordinated Notes 1.9
GAAP Basis 19.2
American Express Credit Account  

Master Trust: 
Trust Investor Certificates 11.0

Managed Basis (a) $30.2

(a) On a managed basis, issuances from the Charge Trust, an on-balance sheet 
entity, and the Lending Trust, an off-balance sheet entity, include $125 million 
and $1.3 billion, respectively, of the related A-rated and BBB-rated securities 
retained by the Charge and Lending trusts during the year.

asset securitization programs
The Company periodically securitizes cardmember receivables 
and loans arising from its card business. The securitization market 
provides the Company with cost-effective funding; however, the 
asset securitization market has been broadly unavailable since 
September 2008. Securitization of cardmember receivables and 
loans is accomplished through the transfer of those assets to 
a trust, which in turn issues certificates or notes (securities) to 
third-party investors collateralized by the transferred assets. The 
proceeds from issuance are distributed to the Company, through 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, as consideration for the transferred 
assets. Securitization transactions are accounted for as either a sale 
or secured borrowing, based upon the structure of the transaction.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company held the 
following deposits:

(Billions) 2008 2007
Retail: 

Cash sweep accounts $ 7.1 $ 2.1
CDs 6.2 —

Institutional 0.8 10.9
Others 1.4 2.4
Total customer deposits $15.5 $15.4

long-term debt programs
In 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries issued debt and 
asset securitizations with maturities ranging from 1 to 30 years. 
These amounts included approximately $11.5 billion of 
AAA-rated charge and lending securitization certificates and 
$17.4 billion of unsecured debt across a variety of maturities 
and markets. During the year, the Company retained 
approximately $656 million of related A-rated securities and 
$783 million of BBB-rated securities, as the pricing and yields 
for these securities were not attractive for the Company due to 
the market conditions.

On October 14, 2008, the FDIC announced the establishment 
of the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program (TLGP), to 
temporarily guarantee newly-issued senior unsecured debt 
of eligible entities, including insured banks, and to provide 
guarantee coverage to non-interest-bearing transaction accounts 
in FDIC-insured institutions, regardless of amount. Centurion 
Bank and FSB, as FDIC depository institutions, are both eligible 
to participate in this program and issue up to $13.3 billion of 
unsecured debt that would be guaranteed under the TLGP. The 
$17.4 billion of unsecured debt issued in 2008 included the 
issuance of $5.9 billion of unsecured debt in December by FSB 
through its access to the TLGP. 
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Securitization of cardmember receivables generated 
under designated consumer charge card and small business 
charge card accounts is accomplished through the transfer of 
cardmember receivables to the American Express Issuance 
Trust (Charge Trust). Securitizations of these receivables are 
accounted for as secured borrowings because the Charge Trust 
is not a qualifying special purpose entity (QSPE). Accordingly, 
the related assets being securitized are not accounted for as sold 
and continue to be reported as owned assets on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The related securities issued to 
third-party investors are reported as long-term debt on the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, the 
Charge Trust held total assets and liabilities of:

(Billions) 2008 2007
Assets $7.8 $9.0
Liabilities $5.0 $3.1

Securitization of the Company’s cardmember loans generated 
under designated consumer lending accounts is accomplished 
through the transfer of cardmember loans to a QSPE, the 
Lending Trust. In a securitization structure like the Lending 
Trust (a revolving master trust), credit card accounts are selected 
and the rights to the current cardmember loans, as well as future 
cash flows related to the corresponding accounts, are transferred 
to the trust for the life of the accounts. In consideration for the 
transfer of these rights, the Company, through its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, receives an undivided, pro rata interest in the trust 
referred to as the “seller’s interest”, which is reflected on its balance 
sheet as a component of cardmember loans. The seller’s interest is 
required to be maintained at a minimum level of 7 percent of the 
outstanding securities in the Lending Trust. If the seller’s interest 
was reduced below the 7 percent level, the Company would be 
required to add additional cardmember loans to the Lending 
Trust. As of December 31, 2008, the amount of seller’s interest 
was approximately 40 percent of outstanding securities.

When the Lending Trust issues a security to a third party, 
a new investor interest is created. The Company removes 
the corresponding cardmember loans from its Consolidated 
Balance Sheets, recognizes a gain on sale and release of credit 
reserves, and records an interest-only strip. Since the third 
quarter of 2007, the Company has also typically been retaining 
any subordinated securities issued as part of a transaction, due 
to present market conditions. 

The total investors’ interest outstanding will change through 
new issuances or maturities. The seller’s interest will change as a 
result of new trust issuances or maturities as well as new account 
additions, new charges on securitized accounts, and collections. As 
seller’s interest changes each period, the related allowance for loss 
will change as well. When a security matures, the trust uses a portion 
of the collections to repay the security, and as a result the investors’ 
interest decreases. In the monthly period that contains a maturity, 

new charges on securitized accounts have historically been greater 
than the portion of the collections required to repay the maturing 
security, and therefore, seller’s interest has increased in an amount 
greater than or equal to the decrease in investors’ interest.

The Company retains servicing responsibilities for the 
transferred cardmember loans through its subsidiary, TRS, and 
earns a related fee. No servicing asset or liability is recognized 
at the time of a securitization because the Company receives 
adequate compensation relative to current market servicing 
fees. Any billed finance charges related to the investors’ portion 
of securitized cardmember loans are reported as other assets on 
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 
the Lending Trust held total assets of:

(Billions) 2008 2007
Investors’ interest $29.0 $22.7
Seller’s interest 12.6 13.5
Lending Trust total assets $41.6 $36.2

At December 31, the fair value of the retained interests was as 
follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Subordinated securities $744 $ 78
Interest-only strip 32 223
Total $776 $301

Under the respective terms of the Lending Trust and the Charge 
Trust agreements, the occurrence of certain events could result in 
payment of trust expenses, establishment of reserve funds, or in 
a worst-case scenario, early amortization of investor certificates. 
See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the 
definition of Excess Spread, net, Total Excess Spread Rate, net, 
and the related key metrics reported by each trust.

In the event the excess spread, net in the Lending Trust 
becomes negative, and the issuer rate collections are utilized 
to pay Lending Trust expenses, this would be reflected as 
an expense in securitization income, net in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Income and as a reduction of the 
Total Excess Spread Rate, net.

In the event the excess spread rate, net for a given fixed or 
floating rate series is reduced below certain levels for either the 
Lending Trust or the Charge Trust, certain triggering events 
occur, including:

•	 If the three-month average excess spread rate, net for a 
given fixed or floating rate series falls below five percent 
or four percent for the Lending Trust and Charge Trust, 
respectively, the affected Trust is required to fund a cash 
reserve account (from cash that would normally revert back 
to the Company through its subsidiaries) in increasing 
amounts from $6 million up to a maximum of approximately 
$2.0 billion for the Lending Trust and from $52 million up 
to a maximum of approximately $207 million for the Charge 
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Trust. During February 2009, for certain fixed rate series 
within the Lending Trust, a cash reserve account is required 
to be funded in the amount of $22 million, of which a partial 
funding in the amount of $1.5 million is being recorded in 
other receivables on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The Company has rights to this cash, and it will only 
be used if this cash is required to help pay-off any outstanding 
principal or interest at maturity or in the event of an early 
amortization (see below). These fixed rate series, referred to 
above, will mature in 2009 and 2011, and it is expected that 
the cash in the cash reserve account will revert back to the 
Company upon maturity.

•	 If the three-month average excess spread rate, net for a given 
fixed or floating rate series for either Trust falls below zero 
percent, an early amortization of the affected Trust will 
occur. The applicable cash reserve account (see above) for 
each Trust is available to the investors if the collections from 
the securitized loans and receivables are insufficient to pay 
the principal balance of the investors’ notes and certificates.

•	 In the event of an early amortization of the Lending Trust, 
the lending receivable assets and investor certificates issued 
by the Lending Trust would revert to the Company’s balance 
sheet and the investor certificates would be required to be 
repaid over an approximate four month period, based on the 
estimated average life of the securitized loans. Although 
the repayment of the investor certificates is non-recourse 
to the Company, the Company would need an alternate 
source of funding for the lending receivables assets that, as 
a consequence of the early amortization, would revert to the 
Company’s balance sheet, as well as for lending receivables 
assets that would be generated in the future from the  
accounts that are the source of the reverted receivables.

•	 In the event of an early amortization of the Charge 
Trust, the underlying investor notes issued by the Charge 
Trust are required to be repaid over an approximate one 
month period, based on the estimated average life of the 
securitized receivables. 

•	 In the event of an early amortization event of either of 
the Trusts, obtaining an alternative source of funding of a 
commensurate amount would present a severe liquidity 
challenge for the Company.

With respect to both the Lending Trust and the Charge Trust, 
a decline in the actual or implied short-term credit rating of 
TRS below A-1/P-1 would trigger a requirement that TRS, as 
servicer, transfer collections on the securitized assets to investors 
on a daily, rather than a monthly, basis or make alternative 
arrangements with the rating agencies to allow TRS to continue 
to transfer collections on a monthly basis. Such alternative 
arrangements include obtaining appropriate guarantees for the 

performance of the payment and deposit obligations of TRS, as 
servicer. No such events have occurred during 2008 and 2007.

No officer, director, or employee holds any equity interest 
in either trust, or receives any direct or indirect compensation 
from either trust. Neither trust in the Company’s securitization 
programs owns stock of the Company or the stock of any 
affiliate. Investors in the securities issued by either trust have 
no recourse against the Company if cash flows generated from 
the securitized assets are inadequate to service the obligations 
of either trust.

For additional information about the Company’s asset 
securitizations that could affect the Company’s liquidity position 
including three-month average excess spread rates, refer to 
Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

liquidity strategy
The Company seeks to ensure that it has adequate liquidity 
in the form of cash and readily-marketable securities easily 
convertible into cash, as well as access to cash and equivalents, 
to continuously meet its business needs, sustain operations, and 
satisfy its obligations for a period of at least 12 months without 
access to the unsecured and asset securitization debt capital 
markets.  This objective is managed by regularly accessing 
capital through a broad and diverse set of funding programs, by 
maintaining cash and readily-marketable securities, as well as 
through a variety of contingent sources of cash and financing. 
The Company maintains a liquidity plan that enables it to 
continuously meet its daily obligations when its access to 
financing becomes impaired or markets become inaccessible. 
The plan contemplates a hypothetical 12-month liquidity 
crisis occurring as a sudden and unexpected event that makes 
financing from its various funding sources unavailable. 

The sources of cash in such stress environments include, but 
are not limited to, the Company’s cash and readily-marketable 
securities, an undrawn committed conduit facility to purchase 
securitized credit card receivables, secured borrowing from the 
Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco through the Federal 
Reserve discount window and the Term Auction Facility 
(TAF), remaining capacity under the TLGP and CPFF 
through the period of the programs’ expiration, the sale of 
consumer and commercial cardmember receivables, and small 
business and consumer loans to private investors through its 
existing securitization programs, as well as committed bank 
credit facilities. The Company has identified over $80 billion in 
alternate sources of cash from these sources.

As a result of the Company’s funding activities during 2008, 
the Company raised funds that substantially exceeded its 2008 
funding needs. The excess was invested with the purpose of 
increasing the amount of cash and readily-marketable securities 
the Company holds.
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As of December 31, 2008, the Company’s cash and readily-
marketable securities position was as follows:

(Billions) Total

Cash and cash equivalents $16.9(a)

Readily-marketable securities 5.1(b)

Total cash and readily-marketable securities 22.0
Short-term debt outstanding (9.0)
Excess liquidity investment portfolio $13.0

(a) Excludes cash and cash equivalents on hand for day-to-day operations of 
$3.6 billion.

(b) Consists of certain available-for-sale investment securities (U.S. Treasury 
and government-sponsored agencies) that are considered highly liquid.

In addition, the Company received $3.39 billion of CPP 
proceeds on January 9, 2009. 

The upcoming approximate maturities of the Company’s 
long-term debt and debt issued in connection with off-balance 
sheet securitizations are as follows:

(Billions) Debt Maturities

Quarter Ending: Long-term

Off- 
Balance 

Sheet Total

March 31, 2009 $ 2.3 $1.5 $ 3.8
June 30, 2009 7.2 0.6 7.8
September 30, 2009 2.6 2.7 5.3
December 31, 2009 2.8 — 2.8
Total $14.9 $4.8 $19.7

The Company’s funding needs for 2009 are expected to arise 
from these debt maturities as well as changes in business needs, 
primarily changes in outstanding cardmember loans and 
receivables. Based upon current expectations for reductions in 
loan and receivables balances, the Company believes that its 
excess cash and readily-marketable securities are sufficient to meet 
its funding needs throughout 2009. This excludes any impact if 
the securitization trusts were to trigger certain events that would 
require an early amortization.

The Company considers various factors in determining 
the amount of liquidity it maintains, such as economic 
and financial market conditions, seasonality in business 
operations, growth in its businesses, the cost and availability 
of alternative liquidity sources, and regulatory and credit rating 
agency considerations.

The amount of cash and readily-marketable securities the 
Company expects to maintain will be substantially greater 
than its historical levels of holdings. The Company expects to 
incur higher net interest cost on these amounts, which will be 
dependent on the amount the Company actually maintains, as 
well as the difference between its cost of funding these amounts 
and their investment yields.

Cash and Readily-Marketable Securities
At December 31, 2008, the Company held, as part of its contingent 
liquidity plan, a total of $16.9 billion of short-term instruments 
and $5.1 billion of longer-term readily-marketable securities. 
These investments are of high credit quality, highly liquid short-
term instruments and longer term, highly liquid instruments, such 
as U.S. Treasury securities, government-sponsored entity debt, or 
government-guaranteed debt. These instruments are managed to 
either mature prior to the maturity of borrowings that will occur 
within the next 12 months, or are sufficiently liquid that the 
Company can sell them or enter into sale/repurchase agreements 
to immediately raise cash proceeds to meet liquidity needs.

Securitized Borrowing Capacity
Securitized borrowings through its conduit facility and the 
Federal Reserve discount window are significant sources within 
the Company’s liquidity plan.

Conduit Facility
The conduit facility is a $5 billion committed bank agreement that 
gives the Company the right to sell up to $5 billion face amount 
of AAA-rated certificates issued from the American Express 
Credit Account Master Trust (the Lending Trust). This facility 
can be utilized in any amount up to $5 billion and at any time 
through June 29, 2009. The purchasers’ commitments to fund 
any unfunded amounts under this facility are subject to the terms 
and conditions of, among other things, a purchase agreement 
among subsidiaries, the purchasers and certain other parties. 
This agreement contains, among other things, a condition that 
the ratings of “Aaa” by Moody’s and “AAA” by S&P’s on the 
certificates shall not have been reduced or withdrawn (and are not 
on credit watch or negative outlook for possible downgrade below 
such ratings).

Federal Reserve Discount Window and Term Auction Facility
FSB and Centurion Bank are insured depository institutions that 
have the capability of borrowing from the Federal Reserve Bank of 
San Francisco, subject to the amount of qualifying collateral that 
they pledge. On October 3, 2008, the Banks were approved to 
access the discount window and the TAF, subject to the discretion 
of the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco and sufficient credit 
and charge card receivables pledged as collateral, thereby providing 
the Banks with an additional source of liquidity, if needed.

The Company has approximately $41.6 billion in U.S. credit 
card loans and charge card receivables that could be sold over time 
through its existing securitization trusts, its undrawn committed 
securitization facility referred to above, or pledged in return for 
secured borrowings, to provide further liquidity, subject in each 
case to applicable market conditions and eligibility criteria.

40

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 40 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 41 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 41 opeRaToR PM2 



2 0 0 8  financial review 

american express company  

Committed Bank Credit Facilities
The Company maintained committed bank credit facilities at 
December 31, 2008 as follows:

(Billions) Total
Parent 

Company Credco
Centurion 

Bank FSB

Committed(a) $11.2 $1.3 $9.1(b) $0.4 $0.4
Outstanding $ 2.5 $ — $2.5 $ — $ —

(a) Committed lines supported by 34 financial institutions.

(b) Credco has the right to borrow a maximum amount of $10.4 billion with a 
commensurate maximum $1.3 billion reduction in the amount available to 
Parent Company.

The Company’s committed facilities expire as follows:

(Billions)

2010 $ 2.0
2011 3.2
2012 6.0
Total $11.2

The availability of the credit lines is subject to the Company’s 
compliance with certain financial covenants, including the 
maintenance by the Company of consolidated tangible net worth 
of at least $4.1 billion, the maintenance by Credco of a 1.25 
ratio of combined earnings and fixed charges to fixed charges, 
and the compliance by Centurion Bank and FSB with applicable 
regulatory capital adequacy guidelines. At December 31, 2008, the 
Company’s consolidated tangible net worth was approximately 
$9.8 billion, Credco’s ratio of combined earnings and fixed 
charges to fixed charges was 1.50 and Centurion Bank and FSB 
each exceeded their regulatory capital adequacy guidelines.

Committed bank credit facilities do not contain material 
adverse change clauses, which may preclude borrowing under 
the credit facilities. The facilities may not be terminated should 
there be a change in the Company’s credit rating. 

In consideration of all the funding sources described above, the 
Company believes it would have access to liquidity to satisfy all 
maturing obligations and fund normal business operations for at 
least a 12-month period in the event that access to the secured and 
unsecured fixed income capital markets is completely interrupted for 
that length of time. Refer to Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. These events are not considered likely to occur.

Parent Company Funding
Parent Company long-term debt outstanding was $7.9 billion 
and $6.7 billion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
During 2008, the Parent Company issued $2.0 billion of 
7 percent fixed-rate Senior Notes due 2018 and $1 billion of 
8.15 percent fixed-rate Senior Notes due 2038.

The Parent Company is authorized to issue commercial 
paper. This program is supported by a $1.25 billion multi-
purpose committed bank credit facility. The credit facility 
will expire in 2010 and 2012 in the amounts of $500 million 
and $750 million, respectively. There was no Parent Company 
commercial paper outstanding during 2008 and 2007, and no 
borrowings have been made under its bank credit facility. 

off-balance sheet 
arrangements and 
contractual obligations 
The Company has identified both on- and off-balance sheet 
transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other relationships 
that may have a material current or future effect on its financial 
condition, changes in financial condition, results of operations, 
or liquidity and capital resources.
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contractual obligations 
The table below identifies on- and off-balance sheet transactions 
that represent contractually committed future obligations of the 
Company. Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase 

goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding on the 
Company and that specify significant terms, including: fixed or 
minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum, or variable 
price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction.

Payments due by year

(Millions) Total 2009 2010–2011 2012–2013
2014 and 

thereafter 
On-Balance Sheet(a): 

Long-term debt $60,041 $14,948 $19,346 $16,400 $ 9,347
Interest payments on long-term debt(b) 8,996 1,642 2,468 1,492 3,394
Other long-term liabilities(c) 294 126 49 26 93

Off-Balance Sheet: 
Lease obligations 2,639 265 446 340 1,588
Purchase obligations(d) 713 581 115 17 —

Total $72,683 $17,562 $22,424 $18,275 $14,422

(a) The above table excludes approximately $1.2 billion of tax liabilities that have been recorded in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting 
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” as inherent complexities and the number of tax years currently open for examination in multiple jurisdictions do not permit 
reasonable estimates of payments, if any, to be made over a range of years.

(b) Estimated interest payments were calculated using the effective interest rate in place at December 31, 2008, and reflects the effect of existing interest rate swaps. 
Actual cash flows may differ from estimated payments.

(c) At December 31, 2008, there were no minimum required contributions, and no contributions are currently planned, for the U.S. American Express Retirement 
Plan. For the U.S. American Express Supplemental Retirement Plan and non-U.S. defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit plans, contributions in 2009 
are anticipated to be approximately $88 million, and this amount has been included within other long-term liabilities. Remaining obligations under defined benefit 
pension and postretirement benefit plans aggregating $648 million have not been included in the table above as the timing of such obligations is not determinable. 
Additionally, other long-term liabilities do not include $4.6 billion of Membership Rewards liabilities as the Company does not consider these to be long-term 
obligations.

(d) The purchase obligation amounts represent non-cancelable minimum contractual obligations by period under contracts that were in effect at December 31, 2008. 
Termination fees are included in these amounts.

The Company also has certain contingent obligations to 
make payments under contractual agreements entered into 
as part of the ongoing operation of the Company’s business, 
primarily with co-brand partners. The contingent obligations 
under such arrangements were approximately $6.1 billion as of 
December 31, 2008. 

In addition to the off-balance sheet contractual obligations 
noted above, the Company has off-balance sheet arrangements 
that include guarantees, retained interests in structured 
investments, unconsolidated variable interest entities and other 
off-balance sheet arrangements as more fully described below. 

guarantees 
The Company’s principal guarantees are associated with 
cardmember services to enhance the value of owning an 
American Express card. At December 31, 2008, the Company 
had guarantees totaling approximately $69 billion related to 
cardmember protection plans, as well as other guarantees in the 
ordinary course of business that are within the scope of FASB 
Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure 
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees 
of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 45). Refer to Note 15 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion 
regarding the Company’s guarantees. 

certain other off-balance sheet 
arrangements 
At December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately 
$253 billion of unused credit available to cardmembers as part 
of established lending product agreements. Total unused credit 
available to cardmembers does not represent potential future 
cash requirements, as a significant portion of this unused 
credit will likely not be drawn. The Company’s charge card 
products have no pre-set limit and, therefore, are not ref lected 
in unused credit available to cardmembers. As discussed in 
the Consolidated Liquidity and Capital Resources section, 
the Company’s securitizations of cardmember loans are also 
off-balance sheet. The Company’s cardmember receivables 
securitizations remain on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Refer to Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for discussion regarding the Company’s other off-balance sheet 
arrangements.

risk management
introduction 
The key objective of risk management at American Express is to 
drive profitable growth, while limiting the exposure to adverse 
financial impacts. By building analytical and technological 
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capabilities, creating measurable limits on risk exposures, 
optimizing investment decisions, and identifying unacceptable 
risks, risk management contributes to the Company’s efforts to 
create shareholder and customer value. 

In addition to business risk, the Company recognizes four 
fundamental sources of risk: 

•	 Credit risk; 

•	 Market risk;

•	 Liquidity risk; and 

•	 Operational risk. 

These risk types, which are described below, are interrelated and 
span the Company’s business units and geographic locations. 
Depending on their nature and scope, the Company manages 
and monitors these risks centrally at the enterprise-wide level 
and/or at the business unit level, as appropriate. 

principles
The Company’s risk management is based on the following three 
principles: 

• Independent oversight; 

• Board-approval of risk limits and escalation triggers; 

• Risk manager and business unit ownership of risk-return 
decision-making. 

The measurement and reporting of the Company’s risks are 
performed independently by risk management leaders. The 
Company’s risk management leaders partner with business unit 
managers in making risk-return decisions using standardized 
risk metrics. Both risk and business unit managers are jointly 
accountable for the outcome of risk-return decisions within the 
Enterprise-wide Risk Management Committee (ERMC) and 
the Board approved limits and escalation triggers. 

governance
The Audit Committee of the Board approves the Company’s 
Enterprise-wide Risk Management policy, which defines 
risk management objectives, risk appetite limits, and the 
governance structure. The ERMC supports the Board in its 
oversight function and works closely with the Company’s most 
senior executives to ensure that risk management policies are 
implemented across the Company. The ERMC measures and 
monitors enterprise-wide risk with a particular emphasis on 
preventing excessive risk taking. It also establishes subordinate 
risk policies for each of the four sources of risk noted above and 
oversees risk committees across the Company. 

Business unit managers and independent risk management 
leaders are responsible for optimizing risk-return decisions and 
containing risk within established limits.

The large majority of transactions and initiatives can proceed 
within the existing business unit risk management processes. 
However, risks that are large, new, or with enterprise-wide 
implications receive enhanced scrutiny.

roles and responsibilities
The ERMC is chaired by the Company’s Chief Risk  
Officer who reports directly to the President of American 
Express Company, who also leads the Global Consumer 
Group. The Chief Risk Officer is directly responsible for 
individual and institutional credit risk and operational 
risk, and provides guidance on the risk-related issues 
through the ERMC. The Chief Risk Officer is supported 
by centralized functions such as global fraud, privacy  
and enterprise risk, and the Chief Credit Officer of each 
business unit.

In addition, the Chief Risk Officer is responsible for creating 
an appropriate company-wide risk culture, monitoring and 
reporting on the Company’s risk profile, ensuring adherence 
to the approved risk tolerance/escalation guidelines, and 
implementing best-in-class approaches to risk management 
throughout the Company. 

In addition to the Chief Risk Officer, the ERMC is 
composed of: 

•	 The Chief Market Risk Officer;

•	 The Chief Operational Risk Officer;

•	 The Chief Credit Officers of each operating segments of the 
Company; and

•	 The enterprise-wide leaders for compliance, controllership, 
global banking, and information security.

In order to enhance its enterprise-wide risk assessment, the 
ERMC continues to evolve risk management capabilities 
that help the Company make better business and investment 
decisions as well as strengthen measuring, managing and 
transparent reporting of risk. The ERMC also launches focused 
risk management initiatives to assess the sources of significant 
exposures. 

Under the ERMC leadership, committees governing each 
risk type develop policies and procedures for their specific 
areas, manage and monitor those risks, and strengthen 
risk capabilities.

credit risk management process 
Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss from obligor or 
counterparty default. Credit risks in the Company are divided 
into two broad categories: consumer and institutional. Each has 
distinct risk management tools and metrics. 
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consumer credit risk
Consumer credit risk arises principally from consumer and 
small business charge cards, credit cards, lines of credit, and 
loans. These portfolios consist of millions of borrowers across 
multiple geographies, occupations, industries and levels of 
net worth. The Company benefits from the attractive profile 
of its cardmembers, which is driven by brand positioning, 
underwriting, and customer management policies, premium 
customer servicing, and product reward features. The risk in 
these portfolios is correlated with broad economic trends, such 
as unemployment rates and home values, which can have a 
material affect on credit performance.

General principles and the overall framework for managing 
consumer credit risk across the Company are defined in the 
Individual Credit Risk Policy approved by the ERMC. This 
policy is further supported by subordinate policies and practices 
covering all facets of consumer credit extension, including 
prospecting, approvals, authorizations, line management, 
collections, and fraud prevention. These policies ensure 
consistent application of credit management principles and 
standardized reporting of asset quality and loss recognition. 

Consumer credit risk management is supported by 
sophisticated proprietary scoring and decision-making models 
that use the most up-to-date proprietary information on 
customers, such as spending and payment history, data feeds from 
credit bureaus, and mortgage information. The Company has 
developed unique decision logic for each customer interaction, 
including prospect targeting, new account approvals, line 
assignment, balance transfers, cross selling and overall account 
management and collection. 

institutional credit risk
Institutional credit risk arises principally within the Company’s 
corporate card services, merchant services, network services, and 
from the Company’s investment activities. Unlike consumer 
credit risk, institutional credit risk is characterized by a lower 
loss frequency but higher severity. It is affected both by general 
economic conditions and by borrower-specific events. The 
Company’s senior risk officers recognize that the absence of large 
losses in any given year or over several years is not necessarily 
representative of the risk of institutional portfolios, given the 
infrequency of loss events in such portfolios.

General principles and the overall framework for managing 
institutional credit risk across the Company are defined in 
the Institutional Credit Risk Policy approved by the ERMC. 
The Institutional Risk Management Committee (IRMC) is 
responsible for implementation and enforcement of this policy 
and for providing guidance to the credit officers of each business 
unit with substantial institutional credit risk exposures, who in 
turn make investment decisions in core risk capabilities, ensure 
proper implementation of the underwriting standards and 

contractual rights of risk mitigation, monitor risk exposures, 
and determine risk mitigation actions. The IRMC formally 
reviews large institutional exposures to ensure compliance 
with ERMC guidelines and procedures and escalates them 
to the ERMC as appropriate. At the same time, the IRMC 
provides continuous guidance to business unit risk teams to 
optimize risk-adjusted returns on capital. A company-wide risk 
rating utility and a specialized airline risk group provide risk 
assessment of institutional obligors.

market risk management process 
Market risk is the risk to earnings or value resulting from 
movements in market prices. The Company’s market risk 
exposure is primarily generated by: 

•	 Interest rate risk in its card, insurance, and certificate 
businesses; and 

•	 Foreign exchange risk in its international operations. 

General principles and the overall framework for managing 
market risk across the Company are defined in the Market Risk 
Policy approved by the ERMC. Market risk is centrally managed 
by the Market Risk Committee, chaired by the Chief Market 
Risk Officer of the Company. Within each business, market 
risk exposures are monitored and managed by various asset/
liability committees, guided by Board-approved policies covering 
derivative financial instruments, funding and investments. 
Derivative financial instruments derive their value from an 
underlying variable or multiple variables, including interest rate, 
foreign exchange, and equity indices or prices. These instruments 
enable end users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to various 
market risks and, for that reason, are an integral component of the 
Company’s market risk and related asset/liability management 
strategy and processes. Use of derivative financial instruments is 
incorporated into the discussion below as well as Note 14.

Market exposure is a byproduct of the delivery of products 
and services to cardmembers. Interest rate risk is primarily 
generated by funding cardmember charges and fixed-rate 
loans with variable rate borrowings. These assets and liabilities 
generally do not create naturally offsetting positions with 
respect to basis, re-pricing, or maturity characteristics. 

For the Company’s charge card and fixed-rate lending 
products, interest rate exposure is managed by shifting the 
mix of funding toward fixed-rate debt and by using derivative 
instruments, with an emphasis on interest rate swaps, which 
effectively fix interest expense for the length of the swap. The 
Company may change the amount hedged and the hedge 
percentage may change based on changes in business volumes 
and mix, among other factors. For the majority of its cardmember 
loans, which are linked to a floating rate base and generally 
reprice each month, the Company uses floating rate funding. 
The Company regularly reviews its strategy and may modify 

44

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 44 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 45 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 45 opeRaToR PM2 



2 0 0 8  financial review 

american express company  

it. Derivative financial instruments, primarily interest rate 
swaps, with notional amounts of approximately $18.0 billion 
were outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007. These 
derivatives generally qualify for hedge accounting. A portion of 
these derivatives outstanding as of December 31, 2008, extend 
to 2018. The Company does not engage in derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. 

The detrimental effect on the Company’s pretax earnings 
of a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates 
would be approximately $152 million ($112 million related to 
the U.S. dollar), based on the 2008 year-end positions. This 
effect, which is calculated using a static asset liability gapping 
model, is primarily determined by the volume of variable rate 
funding of charge card and fixed-rate lending products for 
which the interest rate exposure is not managed by derivative 
financial instruments. As of year end 2008, the percentage of 
total worldwide managed loans that were deemed to be fixed-
rate was 36 percent, with the remaining 64 percent deemed to 
be variable rate. 

Foreign exchange risk is generated by cardmember cross-
currency charges, foreign currency denominated balance sheet 
exposures, translation exposure of foreign operations, and 
foreign currency earnings in international units. The Company’s 
foreign exchange risk is managed primarily by entering into 
agreements to buy and sell currencies on a spot basis or by 
hedging this market exposure to the extent it is economically 
justified through various means, including the use of derivative 
financial instruments such as foreign exchange forward, options, 
and cross-currency swap contracts, which can help “lock in” the 
value of the Company’s exposure to specific currencies. 

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, foreign currency products 
with total notional amounts of approximately $17 billion 
and $14 billion, respectively, were outstanding. Derivative 
hedging activities related to cross-currency charges, balance 
sheet exposures, and foreign currency earnings generally do 
not qualify for hedge accounting; however, derivative hedging 
activities related to translation exposure of foreign operations 
generally do. 

With respect to cross-currency charges and balance 
sheet exposures, including related foreign exchange forward 
contracts outstanding, the effect on the Company’s earnings 
of a hypothetical 10 percent change in the value of the U.S. 
dollar would be immaterial as of December 31, 2008. With 
respect to foreign currency earnings, the adverse impact on 
pretax income of a 10 percent strengthening of the U.S. dollar 
related to anticipated overseas operating results for the next 
12 months, including any related foreign exchange forward 
contracts entered into in January 2009, would hypothetically 
be $105 million as of December 31, 2008. With respect to 
translation exposure of foreign operations, including related 
foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding, a 10 percent 

strengthening in the U.S. dollar would result in an immaterial 
reduction in equity as of December 31, 2008. 

The actual impact of interest rate and foreign exchange rate 
changes will depend on, among other factors, the timing of rate 
changes, the extent to which different rates do not move in the 
same direction or in the same direction to the same degree, and 
changes in the volume and mix of the Company’s businesses.

For example, the Company is also subject to market risk from 
changes in the relationship between the benchmark prime rate 
that determines the yield on its variable-rate lending receivables 
and the benchmark LIBOR rate that determines the effective 
interest cost on a significant portion of its outstanding debt, 
including asset securitizations. Simultaneous and identically-
sized changes in the same direction of these two indices do not 
contribute to the market risk described above, as there is no 
material mismatch in the effective repricing frequency of these 
two indices. However, differences in the rate of change of these 
two indices, commonly referred to as basis risk, will impact the 
Company’s variable-rate U.S. lending net interest margin. The 
Company currently has approximately $44.6 billion of prime-
based, variable-rate U.S. lending receivables that are funded 
with LIBOR-indexed debt, including asset securitizations. 
Historically, the spread between 1 month LIBOR and the 
federal funds rate has averaged 20 basis points. During the 
fourth quarter of 2008, this spread was as high as approximately 
300 basis points, although it has subsequently declined from 
those levels. 

liquidity risk management process 
Liquidity risk is defined as the inability to access cash and 
equivalents needed to meet business requirements and satisfy 
the Company’s obligations. General principles and the overall 
framework for managing liquidity risk across the Company are 
defined in the Liquidity Risk Policy approved by the ERMC. 
The Company balances the trade-offs between maintaining too 
much liquidity, which can be costly and limit financial flexibility, 
with having inadequate liquidity, which may result in financial 
distress during a liquidity event. Liquidity risk is centrally 
managed by the Funding and Liquidity Committee, chaired 
by the Corporate Treasurer. The Company has developed a 
liquidity plan that enables it to meet its daily cash obligations 
when access to both unsecured and secured funds in the debt 
capital markets is impaired or unavailable. This plan is designed 
to ensure that the Company and all of its main operating 
entities could continuously maintain business operations for 
a 12-month period in which its access to all capital markets 
financing is interrupted. The hypothetical 12-month liquidity 
crisis is assumed to occur as a sudden and unexpected event that 
temporarily impairs access to or makes unavailable financing in 
the unsecured debt capital markets. 
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Liquidity risk is managed both at an aggregate company level 
and at the major legal entities in order to ensure that sufficient 
funding and liquidity resources are available in the amount and in 
the location needed in a stress event. The Funding and Liquidity 
Committee manages the forecasts of the Company’s aggregate 
and subsidiary cash positions and financing requirements, the 
funding plans designed to satisfy those requirements under 
normal conditions, establishes guidelines to identify the amount 
of liquidity resources required, and monitors positions and 
determines any actions to be taken. Liquidity planning also 
takes into account operating cash flexibilities. 

operational risk management process 
Managing operational risk is an important priority for the 
Company. The Company defines operational risk as the risk 
of not achieving business objectives due to inadequate or failed 
processes or information systems, human error or the external 
environment (e.g., natural disasters) including losses due 
to failures to comply with laws and regulations. Operational 
risk is inherent in all business activities and can impact an 
organization through direct or indirect financial loss, brand 
damage, customer dissatisfaction, or legal or regulatory penalties. 
Current areas of significant focus include data protection, anti-
money laundering, vendor risk, impact of reengineering efforts, 
financial reporting risk and both internal and external fraud.

The general principles and the overall framework for 
managing operational risk across the Company are defined 
in the Operational Risk Policy approved by the ERMC. The 
Operational Risk Management Committee (ORMC) provides 
governance for the operational risk framework including related 
policies and is chaired by the Chief Operational Risk Officer 
with member representation from business units and support 
groups. These groups have the responsibility for implementing 
the framework as well as for the day-to-day management of 
operational risk.

In order to appropriately measure operational risk, the 
Company has developed a comprehensive operational risk 
model. This model assesses (i) risk events, i.e. what occurred 
or could have occurred; (ii) root causes, i.e. why did it occur 
or could have occurred; and (iii) impact, i.e. how was the 
Company affected or might have been affected. The impact on 
the Company is assessed from a financial, brand, regulatory and 
legal perspective. The operational risk model also assesses the 
frequency and likelihood that events may occur again so that 
the appropriate mitigation steps may be taken.

Additionally, the Company uses an operational risk 
framework to identify, measure, monitor, and report inherent 
and emerging operational risks. This framework consists of 
a) the ORMC oversight, b) an operational risk event capture 
process, and c) process and entity-level risk self assessments.

Internal losses and external losses are captured and analyzed 

in the operational risk event capture database. Risk managers 
responsible for the areas where losses have occurred are required 
to create action plans and escalate events based on thresholds 
to the ORMC.

The process risk self-assessment methodology is used to 
facilitate compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 
and is also used for non-financial operational risk self assessments. 
This methodology involves identifying key processes across 
the Company and then determining the inherent operational 
risks. Once these risks have been identified, the existing control 
environment is defined, key controls are tested and relevant issues 
are escalated to the appropriate governing bodies.

The operational risk framework also includes the entity 
risk self-assessment. This is a risk workshop where senior 
leaders identify the key operational risks that the business 
unit or support group faces and determines the Company’s 
preparedness to respond should these risks occur. Top risks are 
tracked to ensure that the appropriate monitoring or mitigation 
is in place. 

The Company also has a reporting process that provides 
business unit leaders with operational risk information on 
a quarterly basis to help them assess the overall operational 
risks of their business units. These scorecards identify the key 
components of the operational risk framework and relevant 
operational risk metrics.

These initiatives have resulted in improved operational risk 
intelligence and heightened level of preparedness to manage 
risk events and conditions that may adversely impact the 
Company’s operations.

business segment results 
The Company’s businesses are organized into two customer-
focused groups, the Global Consumer Group and the Global 
Business-to-Business Group. U.S. Card Services (USCS) and 
International Card Services (ICS) are aligned within the Global 
Consumer Group and Global Commercial Services (GCS) and 
Global Network & Merchant Services (GNMS) are aligned 
within the Global Business-to-Business Group. 

The Company considers a combination of factors when 
evaluating the composition of its reportable operating segments, 
including the results reviewed by the chief operating decision 
maker, economic characteristics, products and services offered, 
classes of customers, product distribution channels, geographic 
considerations (primarily U.S. versus international), and 
regulatory environment considerations. Refer to Note 24 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of 
products and services by segment.
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Results of the business segments essentially treat each 
segment as a stand-alone business. The management reporting 
process that derives these results allocates income and expense 
using various methodologies as described below. 

total revenues net of interest expense 
The Company allocates discount revenue and certain other 
revenues among segments using a transfer pricing methodology. 
Segments earn discount revenue based on the volume of 
merchant business generated by cardmembers. Within the 
USCS, ICS, and GCS segments, discount revenue reflects 
the issuer component of the overall discount rate; within the 
GNMS segment, discount revenue reflects the network and 
merchant component of the overall discount rate. Total interest 
income and net card fees are directly attributable to the segment 
in which they are reported. 

provisions for losses 
The provisions for losses are directly attributable to the segment 
in which they are reported.

expenses
Marketing and promotion expenses are reflected in each segment 
based on actual expenses incurred, with the exception of brand 
advertising, which is reflected in the GNMS segment. Rewards 
and cardmember services expenses are reflected in each segment 
based on actual expenses incurred within each segment.

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses, 
such as professional services, occupancy and equipment and 
communications, reflect expenses incurred directly within 
each segment. In addition, expenses related to the Company’s 
support services, such as technology costs, are allocated to each 
segment based on support service activities directly attributable 
to the segment. Other overhead expenses, such as staff group 
support functions, are allocated to segments based on each 
segment’s relative level of pretax income, with the exception 
of certain fourth quarter 2008 severance and other charges 
of $133 million related to the Company’s fourth quarter 
reengineering initiative. These charges were reflected in the 
Corporate & Other segment as this was a corporate initiative, 
which is further discussed in Note 25 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and earlier in the Financial Review. 
This presentation is consistent with how such charges were 
reported internally. Financing requirements are managed on 
a consolidated basis. Funding costs are allocated based on 
segment funding requirements. 

capital 
Each business segment is allocated capital based on established 
business model operating requirements, risk measures, and 
regulatory capital requirements. Business model operating 
requirements include capital needed to support operations 
and specific balance sheet items. The risk measures include 
considerations for credit, market, and operational risk.

income taxes 
Income tax provision (benefit) is allocated to each business 
segment based on the effective tax rates applicable to various 
businesses that make up the segment. 

u.s. card services
selected income statement data 
gaap basis presentation 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Revenues
Discount revenue, net card 

fees and other $10,357 $10,243 $ 9,286
Securitization income, net 1,070 1,507 1,489
Interest income 4,736   5,125 3,688
Interest expense 2,166 2,653 1,843

Net interest income 2,570 2,472 1,845
Total revenues net of interest 

expense 13,997 14,222 12,620
Provisions for losses 4,389  2,998   1,625
Total revenues net of interest 

expense after provision for losses 9,608 11,224 10,995
Expenses 
Marketing, promotion, rewards and 

cardmember services 4,837 5,140 4,445
Salaries and employee benefits and 

other operating expenses 3,630 3,354 3,227
Total 8,467 8,494 7,672

Pretax segment income 1,141 2,730 3,323
Income tax provision 289 907 1,171
Segment income $ 852 $ 1,823 $ 2,152
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selected statistical information (a) 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Billions, except percentages 
and where indicated)  2008 2007 2006
Card billed business $ 382.0 $ 375.2 $ 333.4
Total cards-in-force (millions) 44.2 43.3 40.7
Basic cards-in-force (millions) 32.9 32.3 30.1
Average basic cardmember spending 

(dollars) $11,594 $12,011 $11,521
U.S. Consumer Travel:

Travel sales (millions) $ 3,113 $ 2,975 $ 2,357
Travel commissions and fees/sales 8.2% 8.0% 8.4%

Total segment assets $ 77.8 $ 82.3 $ 71.0
Segment capital (millions) (b) $ 4,788 $ 4,454 $ 4,686
Return on average segment 

capital(c) 18.0% 40.2% 47.4%
Return on average tangible 

segment capital(c) 19.0% 41.8% 49.2%
Cardmember receivables: 

Total receivables $ 17.8 $ 21.4 $ 20.6
30 days past due as a %  

of total 3.7% N/A N/A
Average receivables $ 19.2 $ 19.7 $ 18.3
Net write-off rate(d) 3.6% N/A N/A

Cardmember lending — 
owned basis(e): 
Total loans(f) $ 32.7 $ 43.3 $ 33.5
30 days past due loans as a %  

of total 4.7% 2.8% 2.1%
Average loans(f) $ 36.7 $ 37.1 $ 27.5
Net write-off rate 5.8% 3.1% 2.5%
Net interest yield on  

cardmember loans(g) 8.5% 8.9% 8.9%
Cardmember lending — 

managed basis(h): 
 Total loans(f) $ 62.4 $ 65.9 $ 53.7

30 days past due loans as a % of 
total 4.7% 2.8% 2.2%

Average loans(f) $ 64.0 $ 58.2 $ 47.9
Net write-off rate 5.5% 3.1% 2.4%
Net interest yield on 

cardmember loans(g) 9.1% 9.1% 9.1%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information.

(b) Segment capital represents capital allocated to a segment based upon 
specific business operational needs, risk measures, and regulatory capital 
requirements.

(c) Return on average segment capital is calculated by dividing (i) segment 
income ($852 million, $1.8 billion, and $2.2 billion for 2008, 2007, and 
2006, respectively) by (ii) average segment capital ($4.7 billion, $4.5 billion, 
and $4.5 billion for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively). Return on average 
tangible segment capital is computed in the same manner as return on 
average segment capital except the computation of average tangible segment 
capital excludes average goodwill and other intangibles of $243 million, 
$170 million, and $171 million at December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
respectively. The Company believes the return on average tangible segment 
capital is a useful measure of the profitability.

(d) In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company revised the time period in 
which past due cardmember receivables in USCS are written off to 180 days 
past due, consistent with applicable bank regulatory guidance. Previously, 
receivables were written off when 360 days past due. The net write-offs 
for 2008 include approximately $341 million resulting from this write-off 
methodology change, which is not reflected in the table above. Including the 
$341 million in write-offs, the net write-off rate was 5.4 percent for 2008. 

(e) “Owned,” a GAAP basis measurement, reflects only cardmember loans 
included on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(f ) Loan balances used to calculate average loans for all periods presented have 
been revised in connection with the Company’s conversion to a bank holding 
company. Specifically, deferred card fees net of deferred direct acquisition 
costs for cardmember loans were reclassified from other liabilities to 
cardmember loans for all periods.

(g) See below for calculations of net interest yield on cardmember loans. 
The Company believes net interest yield on cardmember loans (on both 
an owned and managed basis) is useful to investors because it provides a 
measure of profitability of the Company’s cardmember lending portfolio.

(h) Includes on-balance sheet cardmember loans and off-balance sheet 
securitized cardmember loans. The difference between the “owned basis” 
(GAAP) information and “managed basis” information is attributable to the 
effects of securitization activities. Refer to the information set forth under 
U.S. Card Services Selected Financial Information for further discussion of 
the managed basis presentation.

calculation of net interest yield on 
cardmember loans (a)

(Millions, except percentages 
and where indicated) 2008 2007
Owned Basis:  

Net interest income $2,570 $2,472 
Average loans (billions)(b) $ 36.7 $  37.1 
Adjusted net interest income $3,127 $3,293 
Adjusted average loans (billions) $  36.8 $ 37.1 
Net interest yield on  

cardmember loans 8.5% 8.9%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key terms 
and related information. 

(b) Loan balances used to calculate average loans for all periods presented have 
been revised in connection with the Company’s conversion to a bank holding 
company. Specifically, deferred card fees net of deferred direct acquisition costs 
for cardmember loans were reclassified from other liabilities to cardmember 
loans for all periods. 

results of operations for the three years 
ended december 31, 2008 – gaap basis
The following discussion of U.S. Card Services’ segment results 
of operations is presented on a GAAP basis. 

U.S. Card Services reported segment income of $852 million 
for 2008, a $971 million or 53 percent decrease from $1.8 billion 
in 2007, which decreased $329 million or 15 percent from 2006.

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense 
In 2008, U.S. Card Services’ total revenues net of interest 
expense decreased $225 million or 2 percent to $14.0 billion 
due to lower securitization income, net, decreased other 
commissions and fees and lower interest income, partially offset 
by slightly higher discount revenue, net card fees and other, as 
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well as lower interest expense. Discount revenue, net card fees 
and other of $10.4 billion in 2008, increased $114 million or 
1 percent from 2007, due to higher other revenue, greater net 
card fees and increased travel commissions and fees, which were 
partially offset by lower commissions and fees. The increase in 
billed business reflected a 2 percent increase in basic cards-in-
force, offset by a 3 percent decline in average basic cardmember 
spending. Within U.S. Card Services, small business volumes 
rose 7 percent in 2008, offset by a slight decrease in consumer 
billed business. Interest income of $4.7 billion in 2008 was 
$389 million or 8 percent lower than in 2007, primarily 
due to lower market interest rate-driven yields and a slight 
decrease in average owned lending balances. Interest expense 
of $2.2 billion in 2008, decreased $487 million or 18 percent as 
compared to a year ago, primarily due to a lower cost of funds. 
Total revenues net of interest expense of $14.2 billion in 2007 
were $1.6 billion or 13 percent higher than 2006 as a result of higher 
interest income, increased discount revenue, net card fees and other, 
and greater securitization income, net, partially offset by increased 
interest expense.

Provisions for Losses 
Provisions for losses increased $1.4 billion or 46 percent to 
$4.4 billion for 2008 compared to 2007, due to higher write-
off and delinquency rates in the lending and charge portfolios 
reflecting the challenging U.S. credit environment. Provisions 
for losses increased $1.4 billion or 84 percent to $3.0 billion 
for 2007 compared to 2006, reflecting increased write-off and 
delinquency rates, the impact of loan growth, and the credit-
related charge previously discussed.

Expenses 
During 2008, U.S. Card Services’ expenses decreased $27 million 
or less than 1 percent to $8.5 billion, due to lower marketing, 
promotion, rewards and cardmember services expenses, 
partially offset by greater salaries and employee benefits and 
other operating expenses. Expenses in 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
included $30 million, $13 million, and $23 million, respectively, 
of charges related to reengineering activities primarily related 
to the Company’s reengineering initiative in 2008 as previously 
discussed and reengineering activities within consumer and 
small business services in 2007 and 2006. Expenses in 2007 
of $8.5 billion were $822 million or 11 percent higher than in 
2006, primarily due to higher marketing, promotion, rewards 
and cardmember services expenses, and greater salaries and 
employee benefits and other operating expenses.

Marketing, promotion, rewards and cardmember services 
expenses decreased $303 million or 6 percent in 2008 to 
$4.8 billion, due to the Membership Rewards related charge in 
2007 noted above, the incremental business-building expenses 
in 2007 compared to lower marketing and promotion expenses 

in 2008, partially offset by the Delta-related charge in 2008 to 
increase the Membership Rewards liability and higher volume-
related rewards costs. Marketing, promotion, rewards and 
cardmember services expenses increased $695 million or 16 
percent in 2007 to $5.1 billion, reflecting the increase to the 
Membership Rewards liability resulting from enhancements to 
the method of liability estimation, a higher redemption rate, and 
higher volume-driven rewards costs, partially offset by slightly 
lower marketing and promotion expenses and the charges 
associated with adjustments made to the U.S. Membership 
Rewards reserve model in 2006. Salaries and employee benefits 
and other operating expenses of $3.6 billion in 2008 increased 
$276 million or 8 percent from 2007. The increase was due to 
higher software, operations, technology and credit and collection 
costs, the pension-related gain in 2007 and costs related to 
the Company’s reengineering initiatives in 2008. Salaries and 
employee benefits and other operating expenses of $3.4 billion in 
2007 increased $127 million or 4 percent from 2006. The increase 
was due to higher technology and volume-related operating 
expenses, partially offset by the previously discussed pension-
related gain of $36 million in 2007 and the reclassification to 
revenues of certain card acquisition-related costs beginning in 
the third quarter of 2006 as discussed previously.

Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 25 percent for 2008 compared to 
33 percent and 35 percent for 2007 and 2006, respectively. The 
effective tax rate for 2008 and 2007 reflected benefits related to the 
resolution of certain prior years’ tax items and in 2008, a relatively 
lower level of pretax income.

differences between gaap and managed 
basis presentation
For U.S. Card Services, the managed basis presentation assumes 
that there have been no off-balance sheet securitization 
transactions, i.e., all securitized cardmember loans and related 
income effects are reflected as if they were in the Company’s 
balance sheets and income statements, respectively. For the 
managed basis presentation, revenue and expenses related to 
securitized cardmember loans are reflected in other commissions 
and fees (included in discount revenue, net card fees and other 
in the U.S. Card Services Selected Financial Information), 
interest income, interest expense, and provisions for losses. 
On a managed basis, there is no securitization income, net 
as the managed basis presentation assumes no securitization 
transactions have occurred.

The Company presents U.S. Card Services information 
on a managed basis because that is the way the Company’s 
management views and manages the business. Management 
believes that a full picture of trends in the Company’s 
cardmember lending business can only be derived by evaluating 
the performance of both securitized and non-securitized 
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cardmember loans. Management also believes that use of a 
managed basis presentation presents a more accurate picture 
of the key dynamics of the cardmember lending business. 
Irrespective of the on- and off-balance sheet funding mix, it 
is important for management and investors to see metrics for 
the entire cardmember lending portfolio because they are more 
representative of the economics of the aggregate cardmember 
relationships and ongoing business performance and trends over 
time. It is also important for investors to see the overall growth 
of cardmember loans and related revenue in order to evaluate 
market share. These metrics are significant in evaluating the 
Company’s performance and can only be properly assessed 
when all non-securitized and securitized cardmember loans are 
viewed together on a managed basis. The Company does not 
currently securitize international loans.

On a GAAP basis, revenue and expenses from securitized 
cardmember loans are reflected in the Company’s income 
statements in securitization income, net, fees and commissions, 
and provisions for losses for cardmember lending. At the time 
of a securitization transaction, the securitized cardmember 
loans are removed from the Company’s balance sheet, and the 
resulting gain on sale is reflected in securitization income, net 
as well as an impact to provisions for losses (credit reserves 
are no longer recorded for the cardmember loans once sold). 
Over the life of a securitization transaction, the Company 
recognizes servicing fees and other net revenues (referred to 
as “excess spread”) related to the interests sold to investors 
(i.e., the investors’ interests). These amounts, in addition to 
changes in the fair value of interest-only strips, are reflected 
in securitization income, net and fees and commissions. The 
Company also recognizes total interest income over the life of 
the securitization transaction related to the interest it retains 
(i.e., the seller’s interest). At the maturity of a securitization 
transaction, cardmember loans on the balance sheet increase, 
and the impact of the incremental required loss reserves is 
recorded in provisions for losses.

As presented, in aggregate over the life of a securitization 
transaction, the pretax income impact to the Company is the 
same whether or not the Company had securitized cardmember 
loans or funded these loans through other financing activities 
(assuming the same financing costs). The income statement 
classifications, however, of specific items will differ.

u.s. card services
selected financial information 
managed basis presentation 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Discount revenue, net card fees  

and other:
Reported for the period (GAAP) $10,357 $10,243 $ 9,286
Securitization adjustments(a) 400 310 199
Managed discount revenue,  

net card fees and other $10,757 $10,553 $ 9,485
Interest income:

Reported for the period (GAAP) $ 4,736 $ 5,125 $ 3,688
Securitization adjustments(a) 3,512 3,130 2,937
Managed interest income $ 8,248 $ 8,255 $ 6,625

Securitization income, net:
Reported for the period (GAAP) $ 1,070 $ 1,507 $ 1,489
Securitization adjustments(a) (1,070) (1,507) (1,489)
Managed securitization income, net $ — $ — $ —

Interest expense:
Reported for the period (GAAP) $ 2,166 $ 2,653 $ 1,843
Securitization adjustments(a) 830 1,136 1,057
Managed interest expense $ 2,996 $ 3,789 $ 2,900

Provisions for losses:
Reported for the period (GAAP) $ 4,389 $ 2,998 $ 1,625
Securitization adjustments(a) 2,002 871 550
Managed provisions for losses $ 6,391 $ 3,869 $ 2,175

(a) The managed basis presentation assumes that there have been no off-balance 
sheet securitization transactions, i.e., all securitized cardmember loans 
and related income effects are reflected as if they were in the Company’s 
balance sheets and income statements, respectively. For the managed basis 
presentation, revenue and expenses related to securitized cardmember loans 
are reflected in other commissions and fees (included above in discount 
revenue, net card fees and other), interest income, interest expense, and 
provisions for losses. On a managed basis, there is no securitization income, 
net as the managed basis presentation assumes no securitization transactions 
have occurred. 
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calculation of net interest yield on 
cardmember loans(a)

(Millions, except percentages 
and where indicated) 2008 2007
Managed Basis 

Net interest income(b) $5,252 $4,466 
Average loans (billions)(c) $ 64.0 $ 58.2 
Adjusted net interest income $5,809 $5,286 
Adjusted average loans (billions) $ 64.1 $ 58.3
Net interest yield on cardmember loans 9.1% 9.1%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information.

(b) Includes the GAAP to managed basis securitization adjustments to interest 
income and interest expense as set forth under U.S. Card Services Selected 
Financial Information managed basis presentation.

(c) Loan balances used to calculate average loans for all periods presented 
have been revised in connection with the Company’s conversion to a bank 
holding company. Specifically, deferred card fees net of deferred direct 
acquisition costs for cardmember loans were reclassified from other liabilities 
to cardmember loans for all periods. 

results of operations for the  
three years ended december 31, 2008 – 
managed basis
The following discussion of U.S. Card Services is on a managed 
basis.

Discount revenue, net card fees and other in 2008 increased 
$204 million or 2 percent to $10.8 billion, largely due to higher 
net card fees, greater other revenues, higher travel commissions 
and fees, and increased discount revenues, which were partially 
offset by lower other commissions and fees. Discount revenue, net 
card fees and other in 2007 increased $1.1 billion or 11 percent 
to $10.6 billion, due to higher discount revenues, greater other 
commissions and fees, higher net card fees, and increased travel 
commissions and fees. Interest income in 2008 of $8.2 billion 
remained flat as lower market interest rate-driven yields more 
than offset the 10 percent growth in average managed lending 
balances. Interest income in 2007 increased $1.6 billion or 
25 percent to $8.3 billion driven by interest and fees on loans 
largely due to higher average managed loan balances and an 
increased portfolio yield. Interest expense in 2008 decreased 
$793 million or 21 percent to $3.0 billion due to a lower market 
interest rate-driven cost of funds which more than offset higher 
average managed receivable balances. In 2007, interest expense 
increased $889 million or 31 percent in 2007 to $3.8 billion 
due to higher average loan and receivables balances and higher 
funding rates. Provisions for losses increased $2.5 billion or 
65 percent to $6.4 billion in 2008, reflecting the impact of 
higher write-off and delinquency rates and higher average 
managed loan balances, partially offset by the credit-related 
charge in 2007. Provisions for losses increased $1.7 billion or 
78 percent to $3.9 billion in 2007 due to increased write-off 
and delinquency rates, the impact of strong loan and volume 
growth, and the credit-related charge previously discussed.

international card 
services
selected income statement data 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Revenues 

Discount revenue, net card fees and 
other $3,758 $3,499 $3,243

Interest income 1,984 1,741 1,440
Interest expense 961 909 718

Net interest income 1,023 832 722
Total revenues net of interest expense 4,781 4,331 3,965
Provisions for losses 1,030 812 852
Total revenues net of interest expense 

after provision for  losses 3,751 3,519 3,113
Expenses 

Marketing, promotion, rewards  
and cardmember  services 1,453 1,566 1,109

Salaries and employee benefits  
and other operating expenses 2,145 1,836 1,692

Total 3,598 3,402 2,801
Pretax segment income 153 117 312
Income tax benefit (198) (174) (31)
Segment income $ 351 $ 291 $ 343
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selected statistical information(a) 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Billions, except percentages 
and where indicated) 2008 2007 2006
Card billed business $106.1 $ 98.0 $ 86.3
Total cards-in-force (millions) 16.3 16.0 15.6
Basic cards-in-force (millions) 11.4 11.3 11.2
Average basic cardmember  

spending (dollars) $9,292 $8,772 $7,491
International Consumer Travel: 

Travel sales (millions) $1,267 $1,113 $ 922
Travel commissions and fees/sales 8.1% 8.6% 8.7%

Total segment assets $ 20.4 $ 21.4 $ 18.9
Segment capital (millions) (b) $1,997 $2,062 $1,724
Return on average segment capital(c) 16.7% 15.3% 17.9%
Return on average tangible  

segment capital(c) 22.5% 21.4% 25.2%
Cardmember receivables: 

Total receivables $ 5.6 $ 6.6 $ 6.0
90 days past due as a % of total 3.1% 1.8% 2.3%
Net loss ratio as a % of 

charge volume 0.24% 0.26% 0.26%
Cardmember lending: 

Total loans(c) $ 9.5 $ 11.2 $ 9.7
30 days past due loans as a % of total 3.6% 2.8% 2.9%
Average loans(d) $ 10.9 $ 10.0 $ 8.8
Net write-off rate(e) 4.8% 4.9% 5.9%
Net interest yield on cardmember 

loans(f) 9.8% 8.9% 8.4%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information.

(b) Segment capital represents capital allocated to a segment based upon specific 
business operational needs, risk measures, and regulatory capital requirements. 

(c) Return on average segment capital is calculated by dividing (i) segment 
income ($351 million, $291 million, and $343 million for 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively) by (ii) average segment capital ($2.1 billion, 
$1.9 billion, and $1.9 billion for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively). 
Return on average tangible segment capital is computed in the same 
manner as return on average segment capital except the computation 
of average tangible segment capital excludes average goodwill and 
other intangibles of $543 million, $539 million, and $552 million at 
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The Company believes 
the return on average tangible segment capital is a useful measure of the 
profitability.

(d) Loan balances used to calculate average loans for all periods presented has 
been revised in connection with the Company’s conversion to a bank holding 
company. Specifically, deferred card fees net of deferred direct acquisition 
costs for cardmember loans were reclassified from other liabilities to 
cardmember loans for all periods. 

(e) In the third quarter of 2008, the Company revised its method of reporting 
the cardmember lending net write-off rate. Historically, the net write-off 
rate has been presented using net write-off amounts for principal, interest, 
and fees. However, industry convention is generally to include only the net 
write-offs related to principal in write-off rate disclosures. The Company 
is presenting the net write-off rate using the net write-off amounts for 
principal only, consistent with industry convention. 2006 historical data 
for ICS was not available to present the write-off rate for principal only. 
Accordingly, the ICS write-off rate includes write-offs of interest and fees.

(f ) See below for calculations of net interest yield on cardmember loans. The 
Company believes net interest yield on cardmember loans is useful to 
investors because it provides a measure of profitability of the Company’s 
cardmember lending portfolio.

calculation of net interest yield on 
cardmember loans(a)

(Millions, except percentage
and where indicated) 2008 2007

Net interest income $1,023 $ 832
Average loans (billions)(b) $ 10.9 $10.0
Adjusted net interest income $1,072 $ 889
Adjusted average loans (billions) $ 10.9 $10.0
Net interest yield on cardmember loans 9.8% 8.9%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key terms 
and related information. 

(b) Loan balances used to calculate average loans for all periods presented 
have been revised in connection with the Company's conversion to a bank 
holding company. Specifically, deferred card fees net of deferred direct 
acquisition costs for cardmember loans were reclassified from other liabilities 
to cardmember loans for all periods. 

results of operations for the three 
years ended december 31, 2008 
International Card Services reported segment income of 
$351 million for 2008, a $60 million or 21 percent increase 
from $291 million in 2007, which decreased $52 million or 
15 percent from 2006. A significant portion of International 
Card Services segment income in 2008 and 2007 pertains to 
the Company’s internal tax allocation process. See further 
discussion in the Income Tax section below.

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense 
In 2008, International Card Services’ total revenues net of 
interest expense increased $450 million or 10 percent to 
$4.8 billion due to higher discount revenue, net card fees and 
other and increased interest income, partially offset by higher 
interest expense. Discount revenue, net card fees, and other 
revenues increased $259 million or 7 percent to $3.8 billion 
in 2008, due to increases in all three categories. The 8 percent 
increase in billed business in 2008 reflected a 6 percent increase 
in average spending per proprietary basic card and a 1 percent 
increase in basic cards-in-force. Assuming no changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates from 2007 to 2008, billed business and 
average spending per proprietary basic cards-in-force increased 7 
percent and 5 percent, respectively, in 2008 and all International 
Card Services’ major geographic regions experienced mid to 
high single-digits billed business growth. Interest income rose 
$243 million or 14 percent to $2.0 billion in 2008, primarily 
due to 9 percent growth in the average cardmember loans and 
a higher cardmember portfolio yield. Interest expense of $961 
million in 2008, rose $52 million or 6 percent as compared to 
a year ago, due to higher average loan balances and business 
volumes. Total revenues net of interest expense of $4.3 billion 
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in 2007 were $366 million or 9 percent higher than 2006 due to 
higher discount revenue, net card fees and other and increased 
total interest income, partially offset by higher interest expense.

Provisions for Losses
Provisions for losses increased $218 million or 27 percent to $1.0 
billion in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily due to increased 
reserve levels due to the challenging economic environment and 
loan and business volume growth. Provisions for losses decreased 
$40 million or 5 percent to $812 million in 2007 compared to 
2006, primarily due to lower write-off and past due rates and 
lower provisions related to Taiwan, partially offset by higher 
volumes and lending balances.

Expenses 
During 2008, International Card Services’ expenses increased 
$196 million or 6 percent to $3.6 billion, due to increased 
salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses, 
partially offset by lower marketing, promotion, rewards and 
cardmember services costs. Expenses in 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
included $83 million, $16 million, and $32 million, respectively, 
of reengineering costs primarily related to the Company’s 
reengineering initiatives in 2008 as previously discussed and 
reengineering in the international payments business for 
2007 and 2006. Expenses in 2007 of $3.4 billion were $601 
million or 21 percent higher than 2006 primarily due to higher 
marketing, promotion, rewards and cardmember services 
costs and increased salaries and employee benefits and other 
operating expenses.

Marketing, promotion, rewards and cardmember services 
expenses decreased $113 million or 7 percent to $1.5 billion in 
2008, due to the Membership Rewards related charge and the 
incremental business-building costs in 2007 noted above, which 
more than offset higher marketing and promotion expenses, and 
volume-related rewards costs in 2008. Marketing, promotion, 
rewards and cardmember services expenses increased $457 
million or 41 percent to $1.6 billion in 2007, due to higher 
Membership Rewards liability resulting from enhancements 
to the method of liability estimation, greater volume-related 
rewards costs, and higher marketing and promotion and business 
building costs. Salaries and employee benefits and other operating 
expenses increased $309 million or 17 percent to $2.1 billion in 
2008, primarily due to higher salaries and employee benefits 
expense and increased other operating expenses, which reflected 
the costs related to the Company’s reengineering initiatives in 
2008, as well as greater professional services expense. Salaries and 
employee benefits and other operating expenses increased $144 
million or 9 percent to $1.8 billion in 2007, and reflected gains of 
$114 million during 2006 related to the sales of the Company’s 
card-related activities in Brazil, Malaysia, and Indonesia, partially 
offset by the reclassification of certain card acquisition related 
costs effective July 1, 2006.

Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was negative 129 percent in 2008 versus 
negative 149 percent in 2007 and negative 10 percent in 2006. 
International Card Services includes a tax benefit of $198 million 
and $174 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively. The tax benefit 
is likely to continue, since the Company’s internal tax allocation 
process provides this segment with the consolidated benefit 
related to its ongoing funding activities outside the United 
States. Additionally, the tax rates in 2008 and 2007 reflected 
various tax benefits related to the resolution of certain prior 
years’ tax items. 

global commercial 
services
selected income statement data 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Revenues 

Discount revenue, net card fees  
and other $5,081 $4,697 $4,254

Interest income 168 187 120
Interest expense 553 615 474

Net interest income (385) (428) (354)
Total revenues net of interest expense 4,696 4,269 3,900
Provisions for losses 231 163 113
Total revenues net of interest expense 

after provisions for losses 4,465 4,106 3,787
Expenses 

Marketing, promotion, rewards  
and cardmember services 377 387 307

Salaries and employee benefits and 
other operating expenses 3,395 2,975 2,764
Total 3,772 3,362 3,071

Pretax segment income 693 744 716
Income tax provision 188 208 239
Segment income $ 505 $ 536 $ 477
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selected statistical information (a) 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Billions, except percentages 
and where indicated) 2008 2007 2006
Card billed business $ 129.2 $ 122.1 $ 106.9
Total cards-in-force (millions) 7.1 6.8 6.7
Basic cards-in-force (millions) 7.1 6.8 6.7
Average basic cardmember 

spending (dollars) $18,527 $18,017 $16,264
Global Corporate Travel:

Travel sales $ 21.0 $ 20.5 $ 18.5
Travel commissions and 

fees/sales 7.8% 7.7% 8.1%
Total segment assets $ 25.1 $ 21.1 $ 18.9
Segment capital (millions) (b) $ 3,550 $ 2,239 $ 1,907
Return on average segment capital(c) 15.8% 25.3% 25.7%
Return on average tangible  

segment capital(c) 34.3% 43.3% 42.8%
Cardmember receivables: 

Total receivables $ 9.4 $ 11.4 $ 10.3
90 days past due as a % of total 2.7% 2.1% 1.9%
Net loss ratio as a % of 

charge volume 0.13% 0.10% 0.09%

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information. 

(b) Segment capital represents capital allocated to a segment based upon 
specific business operational needs, risk measures, and regulatory capital 
requirements.

(c) Return on average segment capital is calculated by dividing (i) segment 
income ($505 million, $536 million, and $477 million for 2008, 2007, and 
2006, respectively) by (ii) average segment capital ($3.2 billion, $2.1 billion, 
and $1.9 billion for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively). Return on average 
tangible segment capital is computed in the same manner as return on 
average segment capital except the computation of average tangible segment 
capital excludes average goodwill and other intangibles of $1.7 billion, 
$881 million, and $743 million at December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
respectively. The Company believes the return on average tangible segment 
capital is a useful measure of the profitability of its business growth.

results of operations for the three 
years ended december 31, 2008 
Global Commercial Services reported segment income of 
$505 million for 2008, a $31 million or 6 percent decrease 
from $536 million in 2007, which increased $59 million or 
12 percent from 2006. 

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense
In 2008, Global Commercial Services’ total revenues net 
of interest expense increased $427 million or 10 percent to 
$4.7 billion due to increased discount revenue, net card fees, and 
other revenues and lower interest expense. Discount revenue, 
net card fees, and other revenues increased $384 million or 
8 percent to $5.1 billion in 2008 primarily due to higher other 
revenues, driven partially by the CPS acquisition and greater 
discount and travel revenues. The 6 percent increase in billed 

business in 2008 reflected a 3 percent increase in average 
spending per proprietary basic card and a 4 percent increase in 
basic cards-in-force. Assuming no changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates from 2007 to 2008, billed business and average 
spending per proprietary basic card increased 5 percent and 
2 percent, respectively, in 2008 and volume growth within 
the United States of 4 percent compared to growth within 
the Company’s other major geographic regions ranging from 
the mid single-digits in Europe and Asia Pacific, to the low 
double-digits in Canada and the high teens in Latin America. 
Interest expense decreased $62 million or 10 percent to 
$553 million in 2008 due to a lower cost of funds, primarily 
within the United States, partially offset by the cost of funding 
the CPS acquisition. Total revenues net of interest expense of 
$4.3 billion in 2007 were $369 million or 9 percent higher 
than 2006 as a result of increased discount revenue, net card 
fees, and other, partially offset by higher interest expense.

Provisions for Losses
Provisions for losses increased $68 million or 42 percent to 
$231 million in 2008 compared to 2007, reflecting higher loss 
and past due rates due to the challenging economic environment. 
Provisions for losses increased $50 million or 44 percent to 
$163 million in 2007 compared to 2006 due to higher volumes 
and loss rates.

Expenses 
During 2008, Global Commercial Services’ expenses increased 
$410 million or 12 percent to $3.8 billion, due to higher salaries 
and employee benefits and other operating expenses. Expenses 
in 2008, 2007, and 2006, included $138 million, $25 million, 
and $58 million, respectively, of reengineering costs primarily 
reflecting the Company’s reengineering initiatives in 2008 
as previously discussed and reengineering costs primarily 
in business travel in 2007 and 2006. Expenses in 2007 of 
$3.4 billion were $291 million or 9 percent higher than 2006 
primarily due to greater salaries and employee benefits and 
other operating expenses and higher marketing, promotion, 
rewards and cardmember services expenses.

Marketing, promotion, rewards and cardmember services 
expenses decreased $10 million or 3 percent to $377 million 
in 2008, primarily due to the Membership Rewards related 
charge in 2007, offset by higher volume-related rewards 
costs and the Delta related charge in 2008 to increase the 
Membership Rewards liability. Marketing, promotion, rewards 
and cardmember services expenses increased $80 million or 
26 percent to $387 million in 2007, primarily reflecting higher 
Membership Rewards liability resulting from enhancements 
to the method of liability estimation, partially offset by the 
adjustments made to the Membership Rewards reserve models 
in 2006. Salaries and employee benefits and other operating 
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expenses increased $420 million or 14 percent to $3.4 billion 
in 2008, due to higher other operating expenses and greater 
salaries and employee benefits expense, which reflected the 
impacts of the CPS acquisition, as well as the costs related to the 
Company’s reengineering initiatives in 2008 and the pension-
related gain in 2007. Salaries and employee benefits and 
other operating expenses increased $211 million or 8 percent 
to $3.0 billion in 2007, due to higher salaries and benefits in 
part due to the acquisition of Harbor Payments on December 
31, 2006, and the acquisition of a travel services business in 
2007, increased other operating expenses which reflected a $38 
million gain during 2006 related to the sale of the Company’s 
card-related activities in Brazil, Malaysia, and Indonesia, and 
higher occupancy and equipment expenses. These items were 
partially offset by the pension-related gain in 2007 and the 
reclassification of certain card acquisition related costs effective 
July 1, 2006.

Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 27 percent in 2008 versus 28 percent 
in 2007 and 33 percent in 2006. The rates for each of these years 
reflect tax benefits related to the resolution of certain prior years’ 
tax items. 

global network & 
merchant services 
selected income statement data 

Years Ended December 31, 
(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Revenues 

Discount revenue, fees and other $3,875 $3,549 $3,059
Interest income 5 3 5
Interest expense (222) (312) (280)

Net interest income 227 315 285
Total revenues net of interest expense 4,102 3,864 3,344
Provisions for losses 127 103 63
Total revenues net of interest expense 

after provisions for losses 3,975 3,761 3,281
Expenses

Marketing and promotion 553 595 518
Salaries and employee benefits and 

other operating expenses 1,932 1,606 1,575
Total 2,485 2,201 2,093

Pretax segment income 1,490 1,560 1,188
Income tax provision 495 538 409
Segment income $ 995 $1,022 $ 779

selected statistical information (a)

Years Ended December 31, 
(Billions, except percentages 
and where indicated) 2008 2007 2006
Global Card billed business(b) $683.3 $647.3 $561.5
Global Network &

Merchant Services:
Total segment assets $ 7.0 $ 6.5 $ 4.4
Segment capital (millions) (c) $1,451 $1,170 $1,272

Return on average segment capital(d) 75.4% 90.7% 60.3%
Return on average tangible  

segment capital(d) 77.4% 93.4% 64.1%
Global Network Services: 

Card billed business $ 67.4 $ 52.9 $ 35.4
Total cards-in-force (millions) 24.8 20.3 15.0

(a) See Glossary of Selected Terminology for the definitions of certain key 
terms and related information.

(b) Global Card billed business includes activities (including cash advances) 
related to proprietary cards, cards issued under network partnership 
agreements, and certain insurance fees charged on proprietary cards.

(c) Segment capital represents capital allocated to a segment based upon 
specific business operational needs, risk measures, and regulatory capital 
requirements.

(d) Return on average segment capital is calculated by dividing (i) segment 
income ($1.0 billion, $1.0 billion, and $779 million for 2008, 2007, and 
2006, respectively) by (ii) average segment capital ($1.3 billion, $1.1 billion, 
and $1.3 billion for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively). Return on average 
tangible segment capital is computed in the same manner as return on average 
segment capital except the computation of average tangible segment capital 
excludes average goodwill and other intangibles of $35 million, $33 million, 
and $78 million at December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The 
Company believes the return on average tangible segment capital is a useful 
measure of the profitability of its business growth.

results of operations for the three 
years ended december 31, 2008
Global Network & Merchant Services reported segment income 
of $995 million in 2008, a $27 million or 3 percent decrease 
from $1.0 billion in 2007, which increased $243 million or 
31 percent from 2006.

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense 
Global Network & Merchant Services’ total revenues net of 
interest expense increased $238 million or 6 percent to $4.1 
billion in 2008, due to increased discount revenue, fees and 
other revenues offset by lower interest expense credit. Discount 
revenue, fees and other revenues increased $326 million or 
9 percent to $3.9 billion in 2008 reflecting growth in merchant-
related revenues, due to the 6 percent increase in global card 
billed business and higher GNS-related revenues. Interest 
expense credit decreased $90 million or 29 percent to 
$222 million in 2008 due to a lower rate-driven interest credit, 
primarily in the United States, related to internal transfer 
pricing, which recognizes the merchant services’ accounts 
payable-related funding benefit. Total revenues net of interest 
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expense of $3.9 billion in 2007 were $520 million or 16 percent 
higher due to growth in merchant-related revenues, primarily 
generated from the increase in global card billed business of 
15 percent, higher GNS-related revenues, and the completion 
of independent operator agreements in Brazil, Malaysia, and 
Indonesia in 2006.

Provisions for Losses
Provisions for losses increased $24 million or 23 percent to 
$127 million in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily reflecting 
merchant-related provisions. Provisions for losses in 2007 
increased $40 million or 63 percent to $103 million due to 
higher merchant-related bankruptcies. 

Expenses 
During 2008, Global Network & Merchant Services’ 
expenses increased $284 million or 13 percent to $2.5 billion  
due to increased salaries and employee benefits and other 
operating expenses, partially offset by a decrease in marketing 
and promotion expenses. Expenses in 2008, 2007, and 
2006, included $31 million, $6 million, and $8 million of 
reengineering costs, respectively, primarily related to the 
Company’s reengineering initiatives in 2008 as previously 
discussed and international establishment services in 2007 and 
2006. Expenses in 2007 of $2.2 billion were $108 million or  
5 percent higher than 2006, primarily due to higher marketing 
and promotion expenses and increased salaries and employee 
benefits and other operating expenses.

Marketing and promotion expenses decreased $42 million 
or 7 percent in 2008 to $553 million, reflecting lower brand 
and other marketing and promotion expenses as compared 
to incremental business-building costs in 2007. Marketing 
and promotion expenses increased 15 percent in 2007 to 
$595 million, reflecting an increase in brand, merchant, and 
partner-related advertising costs. 

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses 
increased $326 million or 20 percent to $1.9 billion in 2008, 
primarily due to increased merchant-related reserves due to 
the challenging economic environment, last year’s gains related 
to the sale of the Company’s merchant-related operations in 
Russia, greater salaries and employee benefits expense, which 
reflected the expansion of the merchant sales force and the costs 
related to the Company’s reengineering initiatives in 2008 and 
higher volume-related expenses. Salaries and employee benefits 
and other operating expenses increased $31 million or 2 percent 
to $1.6 billion in 2007, reflecting higher salaries and employee 
benefits and volume-related expenses, partially offset by the 
pension-related gain in 2007.

Income Taxes
The effective tax rate was 33 percent in 2008 and 34 percent in 
2007 and 2006. 

corporate & other 
Corporate & Other had net income of $168 million and 
$454 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, and net expense 
of $126 million in 2006. Net income in 2008 reflected the 
$186 million and $172 million after-tax income related to the 
MasterCard and Visa litigation settlements, respectively, offset by 
a $19 million after-tax charge primarily relating to the ongoing 
AEB operations retained by the Company in the first quarter 
of 2008. 2008, 2007, and 2006, included $108 million after-
tax, $4 million after-tax, and $20 million after-tax, respectively, 
of reengineering costs, primarily related to the Company’s 
reengineering initiatives in 2008 as previously discussed.

Net income in 2007 reflected the $700 million after-tax gain 
resulting from the initial $1.13 billion due March 31, 2008, from 
Visa as part of the litigation settlement. This was partially offset by 
a $46 million after-tax litigation related charge, and a $31 million 
after-tax charge for the contribution to the American Express 
Charitable Fund. Net expense in 2006 also included the $42 million 
after-tax gain related to the rebalancing of the Travelers Cheque and 
Gift Card investment portfolio.

exposure to airline industry 
The Company has multiple co-brand relationships and rewards 
partners, of which airlines are one of the most important and 
valuable. The Company’s largest airline co-brand partner is Delta 
Air Lines (Delta), which merged with Northwest Airlines on 
October 29, 2008. On December 9, 2008, the Company announced 
that it had agreed to a 7-year extension of its exclusive co-brand 
credit card partnerships with Delta, as well as other partnership 
arrangements, including Membership Rewards, merchant 
acceptance and travel. American Express’ Delta SkyMiles Credit 
Card co-brand portfolio accounts for approximately 5 percent of 
the Company’s worldwide billed business and less than 15 percent 
of worldwide cardmember lending receivables. 

In 2008, there were a significant number of airline 
bankruptcies and liquidations, driven in part by volatile fuel 
costs and weakening economies around the world. Historically, 
the Company has not experienced significant revenue declines 
when a particular airline scales back or ceases operations due 
to a bankruptcy or other financial challenges. This is because 
volumes generated by that airline are typically shifted to other 
participants in the industry that accept the Company’s card 
products. Nonetheless, the Company is exposed to business and 
credit risk in the airline industry primarily through business 
arrangements where the Company has remitted payment to the 
airline for a cardmember purchase of tickets that have not yet 
been used or “flown.” In the event that the cardmember is not 
able to use the ticket and the Company, based on the facts and 
circumstances, credits the cardmember for the unused ticket, 
this business arrangement creates a potential exposure for the 
Company. This credit exposure is included in the maximum 
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amount of undiscounted future payments disclosed in Note 15 to 
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. Historically, 
even for an airline that is operating under bankruptcy protection, 
this type of exposure usually does not generate any significant 
losses for the Company because an airline operating under 
bankruptcy protection needs to continue accepting credit and 
charge cards and honoring requests for credits and refunds in the 
ordinary course of its business. Typically, as an airline’s financial 
situation deteriorates, the Company delays payment to the 
airline thereby increasing cash withheld to protect the Company 
in the event the airline is liquidated. The Company’s goal in 
these distressed situations is to hold sufficient cash over time to 
ensure that upon liquidation, the cash held is equivalent to the 
credit exposure related to any unused tickets. The Company has 
not to date experienced significant losses from airlines that have 
ceased operations and entered into liquidation proceedings. 

The current environment poses heightened challenges to the 
Company’s ability to manage the airline risk, as more airlines 
are converting their bankruptcy restructurings into liquidations 
or, in some instances, moving directly to liquidation thereby 
giving the Company less time to cover the Company’s exposure. 
In addition, possible mergers, acquisitions and asset divestitures 
in the airline industry may affect co-brand and Membership 
Rewards relationships with involved airlines.

other reporting matters 
accounting developments 
See the Recently Issued Accounting Standards section of Note 1  
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

glossary of selected terminology 
Adjusted average loans — Represents average loans on an owned 
or managed basis, as applicable, excluding the impact of deferred 
card fees, net of deferred direct acquisition costs of cardmember 
loans on an owned or managed basis, as applicable.

Adjusted net interest income — Represents net interest income 
allocated to the Company’s cardmember lending portfolio 
on an owned or managed basis, as applicable, which excludes 
the impact of card fees on loans and balance transfer fees 
attributable to the Company’s cardmember lending portfolio 
on an owned or managed basis, as applicable.

Asset securitizations — Asset securitization involves the transfer 
and sale of receivables or loans to a special purpose entity 
created for the securitization activity, typically a trust. The trust, 
in turn, issues securities, commonly referred to as asset-backed 
securities that are secured by the transferred receivables or loans. 
The trust uses the proceeds from the sale of such securities to 
pay the purchase price for the underlying receivables or loans. 

Average discount rate — This calculation is designed to 
approximate merchant pricing. It represents the percentage of 
billed business (both proprietary and Global Network Services) 
retained by the Company from merchants it acquires, prior to 
payments to third parties unrelated to merchant acceptance.

Basic cards-in-force — Proprietary basic consumer cards-in-
force includes basic cards issued to the primary account owner 
and does not include additional supplemental cards issued on 
that account. Proprietary basic small business and corporate 
cards-in-force include basic and supplemental cards issued to 
employee cardmembers. Non-proprietary basic cards-in-force 
includes all cards that are issued and outstanding under network 
partnership agreements. 

Billed business — Represents the dollar amount of charges on 
all American Express cards; also referred to as spend or charge 
volume. Proprietary billed business includes charges made 
on the Company’s proprietary cards-in-force, cash advances 
on proprietary cards and certain insurance fees charged on 
proprietary cards. Non-proprietary billed business represents 
the charges through the Company’s global network on cards 
issued by the Company’s network partners. Billed business 
is reflected in the United States or outside the United States 
based on where the cardmember is domiciled.

Capital ratios — Represents the minimum standards established 
by the regulatory agencies as a measure to determine whether 
the regulated entity has sufficient capital to absorb on and off-
balance sheet losses beyond current loss accrual estimates.

Card acquisition — Primarily represents the issuance of new 
cards to either new or existing cardmembers through marketing 
and promotion efforts.

Cardmember — The individual holder of an issued American 
Express branded charge or credit card. 

Interest income — Interest and fees on loans is assessed using the 
average daily balance method for loans owned. These amounts 
are recognized based upon the principal amount outstanding in 
accordance with the terms of the applicable account agreement 
until the outstanding balance is paid or written-off. 

Interest and dividends on investment securities primarily 
relates to the Company’s performing fixed-income securities. 
Interest income is accrued as earned using the effective 
interest method, which adjusts the yield for security premiums 
and discounts, fees and other payments, so that the related 
investment security recognizes a constant rate of return on the 
outstanding balance throughout its term. These amounts are 
recognized until these securities are in default or when it is likely 
that future interest payments will not be made as scheduled.

Interest income on deposits with banks and other is 
recognized as earned, and primarily relates to the placement of 

57

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 56 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 57 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:31 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 57 opeRaToR PM2 



2 0 0 8  financial review 

american express company  

cash in excess of near-term funding requirements in interest-
bearing time deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and other 
interest bearing demand and call accounts.

Interest expense — Interest expense includes interest incurred 
primarily to fund cardmember lending, charge card product 
receivables, general corporate purposes, and liquidity needs, 
and is recognized as incurred. Interest expense is divided 
principally into three categories (i) deposits, which primarily 
relates to interest expense on deposits taken from customers 
and institutions, (ii) short-term borrowings, which primarily 
relates to interest expense on commercial paper, federal funds 
purchased, bank overdrafts, and other short-term borrowings, 
and (iii) long-term debt, which primarily relates to interest 
expense on the Company’s long-term debt.

Cardmember loans — Represents the outstanding amount due 
from cardmembers for charges made on their American Express 
credit cards, as well as any interest charges and card-related 
fees. Cardmember loans also include balances with extended 
payment terms on certain charge card products and are net of 
unearned revenue. 

Cardmember receivables — Represents the outstanding amount 
due from cardmembers for charges made on their American 
Express charge cards as well as any card-related fees. 

Charge cards — Represents cards that carry no pre-set spending 
limits and are primarily designed as a method of payment and 
not as a means of financing purchases. Cardmembers generally 
must pay the full amount billed each month. No finance charges 
are assessed on charge cards. 

Credit cards — Represents cards that have a range of revolving 
payment terms, grace periods, and rate and fee structures. 

Discount revenue — Represents revenue earned from fees 
charged to merchants with whom the Company has entered 
into a card acceptance agreement for processing cardmember 
transactions. The discount fee generally is deducted from the 
Company’s payment reimbursing the merchant for cardmember 
purchases. Such amounts are reduced by contra-revenue such as 
payments to third-party card issuing partners, cash-back reward 
costs, and corporate incentive payments.

Interest-only strip — Interest-only strips are generated from 
U.S. Card Services’ securitization activity and are a form of 
retained interest held by the Company in the securitization. 
This financial instrument represents the present value of 
estimated future positive “excess spread” expected to be 
generated by the securitized assets over the estimated life of 
those assets. Excess spread is the net cash flow from interest 
and fee collections allocated to the third-party investors’ 
interests in the securitization after deducting the interest paid 
on the investor certificates, credit losses, contractual servicing 
fees, and other expenses. 

Merchant acquisition — Represents the signing of merchants to 
accept American Express-branded charge and credit cards.

Net card fees — Represents the charge card membership fees 
earned during the period. These fees are recognized as revenue 
over the covered card membership period (typically one year), 
net of provision for projected refunds for cancellation of card 
membership. Beginning prospectively as of July 1, 2006, certain 
card acquisition-related costs were reclassified from other, net 
expenses to a reduction in net card fees over the membership 
period covered by the card fee. 

Net interest yield on cardmember loans — Represents the net 
spread earned on cardmember loans. Net interest yield on 
cardmember loans (both on an owned and managed basis) is 
computed by dividing adjusted net interest income by adjusted 
average loans, computed on an annualized basis. The calculation 
of net interest yield on cardmember loans (both on an owned 
and managed basis) includes interest and fees that are deemed 
uncollectible. For the owned basis presentation, reserves and net 
write-offs related to uncollectible interest and fees are recorded 
through provisions for losses – cardmember lending, and for the 
managed basis presentation, reserves and net write-offs related 
to uncollectible interest and fees are included as a reduction 
to securitization income, net; therefore, such reserves and net 
write-offs are not included in the net interest yield calculation.

Net loss ratio — Represents the ratio of charge card write-
offs consisting of principal (resulting from authorized and 
unauthorized transactions) and fee components, less recoveries, 
on cardmember receivables expressed as a percentage of gross 
amounts billed to cardmembers. 

Net write-off rate — Represents the amount of cardmember 
loans or USCS cardmember receivables written off consisting 
of principal (resulting from authorized transactions), less 
recoveries, as a percentage of the average loan balance or USCS 
average receivables during the period. 

Qualified Equity Offering — The sale and issuance for cash by 
the Company to persons other than the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries after the original issue date of shares of perpetual 
preferred stock, common stock or any combination of such 
stock, that, in each case, qualify as and may be included in 
Tier 1 capital of the Company at the time of issuance under 
the applicable risk-based capital guidelines of the Company’s 
appropriate federal banking agency (other than any such sales 
and issuances made pursuant to agreements or arrangements 
entered into, or pursuant to financing plans which were publicly 
announced, on or prior to October 13, 2008).

Return on average equity — Return on average equity is 
calculated by dividing one year period net income by one year 
average total shareholders’ equity. 
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Return on average tangible equity — Return on average tangible 
equity is computed in the same manner as return on average 
equity except the computation of average tangible shareholders’ 
equity excludes average goodwill and other intangibles. 

Return on average segment capital — Return on average segment 
capital is calculated by dividing one year period segment income 
by one year average segment capital. 

Return on average tangible segment capital — Return on average 
tangible segment capital is computed in the same manner as 
return on average segment capital except the computation of 
average tangible segment capital excludes average goodwill and 
other intangibles. 

Risk-weighted assets — Risk-weighted assets are assets weighted 
for risk according to a formula used by the Federal Reserve Board 
to conform to capital adequacy guidelines. On and off-balance 
sheet items are weighted for risk, with off-balance sheet items 
converted to balance sheet equivalents, using risk conversion 
factors, before being allocated a risk-adjusted weight.

Securitization income, net — Includes non-credit provision 
components of the net gains or losses from securitization activities; 
changes in fair value of the interest-only strip; excess spread 
related to securitized cardmember loans; and servicing income, 
net of related discounts or fees. Excess spread, which is recognized 
as earned, is the net cash flow from interest and fee collections 
allocated to the third-party investors’ interests in the securitization 
after deducting the interest paid on the investor certificates, credit 
losses, contractual servicing fees, and other expenses.

Stored value and prepaid products — Includes Travelers Cheques 
and other prepaid products such as gift cheques and cards as well 
as reloadable Travelers Cheque cards. These products are sold 
as safe and convenient alternatives to currency for purchasing 
goods and services. 

Tier 1 capital ratio — Tier 1 capital ratio is calculated as Tier 1  
capital divided by risk-weighted assets. Tier 1 capital is the sum 
of common stockholders’ equity, certain perpetual preferred 
stock, and minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries, 
adjusted for certain other comprehensive income items, 
ineligible goodwill and intangible assets. This ratio is commonly 
used by regulatory agencies to assess a financial institution’s 
financial strength and is the primary form of capital used to 
absorb losses beyond current loss accrual estimates. 

Tier 1 leverage ratio — Tier 1 leverage ratio is calculated by 
dividing Tier 1 capital (as defined above) by its average total 
consolidated assets for the most recent quarter.

Total cards-in-force — Represents the number of cards that 
are issued and outstanding. Total consumer cards-in-force 
includes basic cards issued to the primary account owner and 
any supplemental cards, which represent additional cards issued 
on that account. Total small business and corporate cards-in-
force include basic cards issued to employee cardmembers. 
Proprietary cards-in-force represent card products where the 

Company owns the cardmember relationship including card 
issuance, billing and credit management and strategic plans 
such as marketing, promotion, and development of card 
products and offerings. Proprietary cards-in-force include co-
brand and affinity cards. For non-proprietary cards-in-force 
(except for certain independent operator network partnership 
agreements), the Company maintains the responsibility to 
acquire and service merchants that accept the Company’s cards 
and the cardmember relationship is owned by the Company’s 
network partners that issue the cards. 

Total risk-based capital ratio — Total risk-based capital ratio is 
calculated as the sum of Tier 1 capital (as defined above) and 
Tier 2 capital divided by risk-weighted assets. The Company 
calculates Tier 2 capital as the sum of the allowance for receivable 
and loan losses (limited to 1.25 percent of risk-weighted assets) 
and 45 percent of the unrealized gains on equity securities.

Travel sales — Represents the total dollar amount of travel 
transaction volume for airline, hotel, car rental, and other travel 
arrangements made for consumers and corporate clients. The 
Company earns revenue on these transactions by charging a 
transaction or management fee. 

forward-looking statements 
This report includes forward-looking statements, which are 
subject to risks and uncertainties. The forward-looking 
statements, which address the Company’s expected business and 
financial performance, among other matters, contain words such 
as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “optimistic,” “intend,” “plan,” 
“aim,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “likely,” and 
similar expressions. Readers are cautioned not to place undue 
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only 
as of the date on which they are made. The Company undertakes 
no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements. 
Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, 
the following: consumer and business spending on the Company’s 
credit and charge card products and Travelers Cheques and other 
prepaid products and growth in card lending balances, which 
depend in part on the economic environment, and the ability to 
issue new and enhanced card and prepaid products, services and 
rewards programs, and increase revenues from such products, 
attract new Cardmembers, reduce Cardmember attrition, capture 
a greater share of existing Cardmembers’ spending, and sustain 
premium discount rates on its card products in light of regulatory 
and market pressures, increase merchant coverage, retain 
Cardmembers after low introductory lending rates have expired, 
and expand the Global Network Services business; the Company’s 
ability to manage credit risk related to consumer debt, business 
loans, merchants and other credit trends, which will depend in 
part on the economic environment, including, among other 
things, the housing market, the rates of bankruptcies and 
unemployment, which can affect spending on card products, 
debt payments by individual and corporate customers and 
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businesses that accept the Company’s card products, and on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s credit models; the impact of the 
Company’s efforts to deal with delinquent Cardmembers in the 
current challenging economic environment, which may affect 
payment patterns of Cardmembers and the perception of the 
Company’s services, products and brands, the Company’s near-
term write-off rates, including during the first half of 2009, and 
the volumes of the Company’s loan balances in 2009; the write-
off and delinquency rates in the medium- to long-term of 
Cardmembers added by the Company during the past few years, 
which could impact their profitability to the Company; the 
Company’s ability to effectively implement changes in the pricing 
of certain of its products and services; fluctuations in interest 
rates (including fluctuations in benchmarks, such as LIBOR and 
other benchmark rates, and credit spreads), which impact the 
Company’s borrowing costs, return on lending products and the 
value of the Company’s investments; the Company’s ability to 
meet its long-term on average and over time financial targets; the 
actual amount to be spent by the Company on marketing, 
promotion, rewards and Cardmember services based on 
management’s assessment of competitive opportunities and other 
factors affecting its judgment; the ability to control and manage 
operating, infrastructure, advertising and promotion expenses as 
business expands or changes, including the ability to accurately 
estimate the provision for the cost of the Membership Rewards 
program; fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; the 
Company’s ability to grow its business and generate excess capital 
and earnings in a manner and at levels that will allow the 
Company to return a portion of capital to shareholders, which 
will depend on the Company’s ability to manage its capital needs, 
and the effect of business mix, acquisitions and rating agency and 
regulatory requirements, including those arising from the 
Company’s status as a bank holding company; the ability of the 
Company to meet its objectives with respect to the growth of its 
brokered retail CD program and brokerage sweep account 
program and the implementation of its direct deposit initiative; 
the success of the Global Network Services business in partnering 
with banks in the United States, which will depend in part on the 
extent to which such business further enhances the Company’s 
brand, allows the Company to leverage its significant processing 
scale, expands merchant coverage of the network, provides Global 
Network Services’ bank partners in the United States the benefits 
of greater Cardmember loyalty and higher spend per customer, 
and merchant benefits such as greater transaction volume and 
additional higher spending customers; the ability of the Global 
Network Services business to meet the performance requirements 
called for by the Company’s recent settlements with MasterCard 
and Visa; trends in travel and entertainment spending and the 
overall level of consumer confidence; the uncertainties associated 
with business acquisitions, including, among others, the failure to 
realize anticipated business retention, growth and cost savings, as 
well as the ability to effectively integrate the acquired business 
into the Company’s existing operations; the underlying 

assumptions and expectations related to the February 2008 sale 
of the American Express Bank Ltd. businesses and the 
transaction’s impact on the Company’s earnings proving to be 
inaccurate or unrealized; the success, timeliness and financial 
impact (including costs, cost savings, and other benefits, including 
increased revenues), and beneficial effect on the Company’s 
operating expense to revenue ratio, both in the short-term 
(including during 2009) and over time, of reengineering initiatives 
being implemented or considered by the Company, including 
cost management, structural and strategic measures such as 
vendor, process, facilities and operations consolidation, 
outsourcing (including, among others, technologies operations), 
relocating certain functions to lower-cost overseas locations, 
moving internal and external functions to the internet to save 
costs, and planned staff reductions relating to certain of such 
reengineering actions; the Company’s ability to reinvest the 
benefits arising from such reengineering actions in its businesses; 
bankruptcies, restructurings, consolidations or similar events 
(including, among others, the Delta Air Lines/Northwest 
Airlines merger) affecting the airline or any other industry 
representing a significant portion of the Company’s billed 
business, including any potential negative effect on particular 
card products and services and billed business generally that 
could result from the actual or perceived weakness of key business 
partners in such industries; the triggering of obligations to make 
payments to certain co-brand partners, merchants, vendors and 
customers under contractual arrangements with such parties 
under certain circumstances; a downturn in the Company’s 
businesses and/or negative changes in the Company’s and its 
subsidiaries’ credit ratings, which could result in contingent 
payments under contracts, decreased liquidity and higher 
borrowing costs; the ability of the Company to satisfy its liquidity 
needs and execute on its funding plans, which will depend on, 
among other things, the Company’s future business growth, its 
credit ratings, market capacity and demand for securities offered 
by the Company, performance by the Company’s counterparties 
under its bank credit facilities and other lending facilities, 
regulatory changes, including changes to the policies, rules and 
regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System and the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, the 
Company’s ability to securitize and sell receivables and the 
performance of receivables previously sold in securitization 
transactions and the Company’s ability to meet the criteria for 
participation in certain liquidity facilities and other funding 
programs, including the Commercial Paper Funding Facility and 
the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program, being made 
available through the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and other federal 
departments and agencies; the Company’s ability to redeem or 
otherwise access in a timely manner up to approximately $100 
million invested in the Primary Reserve Fund, from which 
redemptions have been currently suspended; accuracy of estimates 
for the fair value of the assets in the Company’s investment 
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portfolio and, in particular, those investments that are not readily 
marketable, including the valuation of the interest-only strip 
relating to the Company’s lending securitizations and the ability 
of our charge card and lending trusts to maintain excess spreads 
at levels sufficient to avoid material set-asides or early amortization 
of our charge card and lending securitizations, which will depend 
on various factors such as income derived from the relevant 
portfolios and their respective credit performances; the Company’s 
ability to avoid material losses on its investment portfolio, 
including its investments in state and municipal obligations, the 
issuers of which could be adversely affected by the challenging 
economic environment; the Company’s ability to invest in 
technology advances across all areas of its business to stay on the 
leading edge of technologies applicable to the payment industry; 
the Company’s ability to attract and retain executive management 
and other key employees in light of the limitations on 
compensation imposed on participants in the U.S. Department 
of the Treasury’s Capital Purchase Program in which the 
Company is a participant; the Company’s ability to protect its 
intellectual property rights (IP) and avoid infringing the IP of 
other parties; the potential negative effect on the Company’s 
businesses and infrastructure, including information technology, 
of terrorist attacks, natural disasters or other catastrophic events 
in the future; political or economic instability in certain regions 
or countries, which could affect lending and other commercial 
activities, among other businesses, or restrictions on convertibility 
of certain currencies; changes in laws or government regulations; 
the potential impact of regulations recently adopted by federal 
bank regulators relating to certain credit and charge card practices, 
including, among others, the imposition by card issuers of interest 
rate increases on outstanding balances and the allocation of 
payments in respect of outstanding balances with different 
interest rates, which could have an adverse impact on the 
Company’s net income; accounting changes; outcomes and costs 
associated with litigation and compliance and regulatory matters; 
and competitive pressures in all of the Company’s major 
businesses. A further description of these and other risks and 
uncertainties can be found in the Company’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, and the 
Company’s other reports filed with the SEC.
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management’s report on 
internal control over 
financial reporting 
The management of American Express Company (the  
Company) is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting. 

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, 
and includes those policies and procedures that: 

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; 

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the Company; and 

• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2008. In making this assessment, the Company’s 
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. 

Based on management’s assessment and those criteria, we 
conclude that, as of December 31, 2008, the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting is effective. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent 
registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation 
report appearing on the following page on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2008.
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report of independent 
registered public 
accounting firm 
the board of directors and shareholders of 
american express company: 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
and the related consolidated statements of income, of cash 
flows and of shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of American Express Company 
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the 
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management 
is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting appearing on page 62. 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 
statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement and whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 
Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our 
audit of internal control over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also 
included performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions 
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of 
the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

New York, New York

February 26, 2009
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Years Ended December 31, (Millions, except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006
Revenues
Non-interest revenues

Discount revenue $15,025 $14,596 $12,978
Net card fees 2,150 1,919 1,824
Travel commissions and fees 2,010 1,926 1,778
Other commissions and fees 2,307 2,417 2,233
Securitization income, net 1,070 1,507 1,489
Other 2,157 1,751 1,689

Total non-interest revenues 24,719 24,116 21,991
Interest income

Interest and fees on loans 6,159 6,351 4,869
Interest and dividends on investment securities 771 673 561
Deposits with banks and other 271 400 271

Total interest income 7,201 7,424 5,701
Interest expense

Deposits 454 566 543
Short-term borrowings 483 731 623
Long-term debt 2,573 2,641 1,663
Other 45 43 37

Total interest expense 3,555 3,981 2,866
Net interest income 3,646 3,443 2,835

Total revenues net of interest expense 28,365 27,559 24,826
Provisions for losses  

Charge card 1,363 1,140 935
Cardmember lending 4,231 2,761 1,623
Other 204 202 108

Total provisions for losses 5,798 4,103 2,666
Total revenues net of interest expense after provisions for losses 22,567 23,456 22,160
Expenses

Marketing, promotion, rewards and cardmember services 7,361 7,817 6,504
Salaries and employee benefits 6,090 5,438 5,040
Professional services 2,413 2,280 2,263
Other, net 3,122 2,227 3,201

Total 18,986 17,762 17,008
Pretax income from continuing operations 3,581 5,694 5,152
Income tax provision 710 1,568 1,527

Income from continuing operations 2,871 4,126 3,625
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (172) (114) 82

Net income $ 2,699 $ 4,012 $ 3,707
Earnings per Common Share — Basic:

Income from continuing operations $ 2.49 $ 3.52 $ 2.99
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations (0.15) (0.10) 0.07

Net income $ 2.34 $ 3.42 $ 3.06
Earnings per Common Share — Diluted:

Income from continuing operations $ 2.48 $ 3.45 $ 2.93
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations (0.15) (0.09) 0.06
Net income $ 2.33 $ 3.36 $ 2.99
Average common shares outstanding for earnings per common share: 

Basic   1,154 1,173 1,212
Diluted 1,157 1,196 1,238

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31, (Millions, except share data) 2008 2007 
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash due from banks $ 1,574 $ 1,700
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks (including federal funds sold and securities purchased  

under resale agreements: 2008, $141; 2007, $3,878) 6,554 5,407
Short-term investment securities 12,419 1,771

 Total 20,547 8,878
Accounts receivable

Cardmember receivables, less reserves: 2008, $810; 2007, $1,149 32,178 38,923
Other receivables, less reserves: 2008, $118; 2007, $92 4,393 3,071

Loans 
Cardmember lending, less reserves: 2008, $2,570; 2007, $1,831 39,641 52,577
Other, less reserves: 2008, $39; 2007, $45 1,018 762

Investment securities 12,526 13,214
Premises and equipment — at cost, less accumulated depreciation: 

2008, $3,743; 2007, $3,453 2,948 2,692
Other assets 12,607 7,348
Assets of discontinued operations 216 22,278

Total assets $126,074 $149,743
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities

Customer deposits $ 15,486 $ 15,397
Travelers Cheques outstanding 6,433 7,197
Accounts payable 8,428 7,740
Short-term borrowings 8,993 17,761
Long-term debt 60,041 55,285
Other liabilities 14,592 13,807
Liabilities of discontinued operations 260 21,527

Total liabilities 114,233 138,714
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 16)
Shareholders’ Equity

Common shares, $.20 par value, authorized 3.6 billion shares; issued and outstanding  
1,160 million shares in 2008 and 1,158 million shares in 2007 232 232

Additional paid-in capital 10,496 10,164
Retained earnings 2,719 1,075
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Net unrealized securities (losses) gains, net of tax: 2008, $458; 2007, $(6) (699) 12
Net unrealized derivatives losses, net of tax: 2008, $44, 2007, $40 (80) (71)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax: 2008, $64; 2007, $7 (368) (255)
Net unrealized pension and other postretirement benefit costs, net of tax: 2008, $216; 2007, $56 (459) (128)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,606) (442)
Total shareholders’ equity 11,841 11,029

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $126,074 $149,743

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 31, (Millions) 2008 2007 2006 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income $ 2,699 $ 4,012 $ 3,707
Loss (Income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 172 114 (82)

Income from continuing operations 2,871 4,126 3,625
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided by  

operating activities 
Provisions for losses 6,290 4,527 3,021
Depreciation and amortization 712 648 608
Deferred taxes, acquisition costs and other 442 (851) (378)
Stock-based compensation 229 276 275
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions: 

Other receivables 101 (927) (295)
Other assets (2,223) (170) (491)
Accounts payable and other liabilities 885 1,013 2,608
Travelers Cheques outstanding (770) (22) 47
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities attributable to discontinued operations 129 (129) 92

Net cash provided by operating activities 8,666 8,491 9,112
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Sale of investments 4,657 3,034 5,394
Maturity and redemption of investments 9,620 6,154 9,348
Purchase of investments (14,724) (9,592) (14,596)
Net decrease (increase) in cardmember loans/receivables 5,448 (20,801) (15,096)
Proceeds from cardmember loan securitizations 9,619 7,825 3,491
Maturities of cardmember loan securitizations (4,670) (3,500) (4,435)
Purchase of premises and equipment (977) (938) (832)
Sale of premises and equipment 27 55 78
(Acquisitions) dispositions, net of cash acquired/sold (4,589) (124) 779
Net cash provided by investing activities attributable to discontinued operations 2,625 786 557
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7,036 (17,101) (15,312)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net change in customer deposits 358 3,361 (1,876)
Net (decrease) increase in short-term borrowings (8,693) 2,682 119
Issuance of long-term debt 19,213 20,833 19,180
Principal payments on long-term debt (13,787) (9,214) (7,755)
Issuance of American Express common shares 176 852 1,203
Repurchase of American Express common shares (218) (3,572) (4,093)
Dividends paid (836) (712) (661)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities attributable to discontinued operations (6,653) 1,236 461

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (10,440) 15,466 6,578
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 20 166 264
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,282 7,022 642
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year includes cash of discontinued  

operations:  2008, $6,390; 2007, $4,445; 2006, $3,332 15,268 8,246 7,604

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year includes cash of discontinued  
operations: 2008, $3; 2007, $6,390; 2006, $4,445 $ 20,550 $ 15,268 $ 8,246

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Three Years Ended December 31, 2008 (Millions, except per share amounts) Total
Common 

Shares

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income/(Loss)

Retained 
Earnings

Balances at December 31, 2005 $10,549 $248 $ 8,652 $ (139) $ 1,788
Comprehensive income

Net income 3,707 3,707
Change in net unrealized securities gains (45) (45)
Change in net unrealized derivatives gains (116) (116)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 178 178
Minimum pension liability adjustment (2) (2)
Total comprehensive income 3,722

Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158, net of tax (396) (396)
Repurchase of common shares (4,093) (15) (534) (3,544)
Acquisition of Harbor Payments, Inc. 147 147
Other changes, primarily employee plans 1,274 7 1,373 (106)
Cash dividends declared 

Common, $0.57 per share (692) (692)

Balances at December 31, 2006 10,511 240 9,638 (520) 1,153
Comprehensive income 

Net income 4,012 4,012
Change in net unrealized securities gains (80) (80)
Change in net unrealized derivatives (losses) gains (98) (98)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (33) (33)
Net unrealized pension and other post retirement 

benefit gains 289 289
Total comprehensive income 4,090

Repurchase of common shares (3,572) (12) (494) (3,066)
Other changes, primarily employee plans 867 4 1,020 (157)
Adoption of FIN 48 (127) (127)
Cash dividends declared 

Common, $0.63 per share (740) (740)

Balances at December 31, 2007 11,029 232 10,164 (442) 1,075
Comprehensive income 

Net income 2,699 2,699
Change in net unrealized securities (losses) gains (711) (711)
Change in net unrealized derivatives losses (9) (9)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (113) (113)
Net unrealized pension and other post retirement 

benefit losses (334) (334)
Total comprehensive income 1,532

Repurchase of common shares (218) (1) (42) (175)
Other changes, primarily employee plans 334 1 374 3 (44)
Cash dividends declared 

Common, $0.72 per share (836) (836)

Balances at December 31, 2008 $11,841 $232 $10,496 $(1,606) $ 2,719

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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notes to consolidated 
financial statements
note 1 
summary of significant 
accounting policies 
the company 
American Express Company (the Company), a bank holding 
company, is a leading global payments and travel company. 
The Company’s principal products and services are charge and 
credit payment card products and travel-related services offered 
to consumers and businesses around the world. The Company’s 
businesses are organized into two customer-focused groups, the 
Global Consumer Group and the Global Business-to-Business 
Group. The Global Consumer Group’s range of products and 
services include charge and credit card products for consumers 
and small businesses worldwide primarily through its U.S. 
bank subsidiaries and affiliates; consumer travel services; 
and stored value products such as Travelers Cheques and 
prepaid products. The Global Business-to-Business Group 
offers business travel, corporate cards and other expense 
management products and services; network services for the 
Company’s network partners; and merchant acquisition and 
merchant processing, point-of-sale, servicing and settlement 
and marketing products and services for merchants. The 
Company’s various products and services are sold globally to 
diverse customer groups, including consumers, small businesses,  
middle-market companies, and large corporations. These 
products and services are sold through various channels 
including direct mail, on-line applications, targeted sales forces, 
and direct response advertising. 

reportable operating segments
The Company is principally engaged in two customer focused 
groups, the Global Consumer Group and the Global Business-
to-Business Group. The U.S. Card Services (USCS) and 
International Card Services (ICS) segments are aligned within 
the Global Consumer Group, and the Global Commercial 
Services (GCS) and the Global Network & Merchant Services 
(GNMS) segments are aligned within the Global Business-to-
Business Group. Refer to Note 24 for additional information.

bank holding company
During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company became a 
bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company 
Act of 1956, and the Federal Reserve Board (Federal Reserve) 
became the Company’s primary federal regulator. As such, 
the Company is subject to the Federal Reserve’s regulations, 
policies and minimum capital standards.

The primary reasons for the Company converting to a bank 
holding company were to become a Federal Reserve member 

and to have the same status and regulator as a majority of the 
Company’s peers. Taking this action allowed the Company to 
participate more fully in some government programs, which 
provides greater flexibility during uncertain economic times. 
The Company converting to a bank holding company will not 
change its payments focused model, nor its core businesses.

As a result of converting to a bank holding company, 
the Company has made certain changes to its Consolidated 
Statements of Income and Consolidated Balance Sheets and 
reclassified certain prior period amounts in order to conform to 
the current presentation of its financials in accordance with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s regulations applicable to  
bank holding companies. These changes and reclassifications 
within the Consolidated Statements of Income include (i) new 
categories of interest income and interest expense, and changes 
to the component classifications thereof, (ii) the reclassification 
of card fees on lending products from net card fees to interest 
and fees on loans, (iii) separate disclosure of certain financial 
statement line items, which are presented in Note 23, and (iv) 
certain other placement and line title changes. The changes 
and reclassifications within the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
include (i) the breakout of interest and non-interest bearing cash 
accounts into separate lines, (ii) the reclassification of unearned 
income on loans from other liabilities to a contra-asset, and (iii) 
certain other line title changes. These reclassifications had no 
impact on the Company’s consolidated net income.

principles of consolidation 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are 
prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP). All significant intercompany transactions 
are eliminated. 

The Company consolidates all voting interest entities in 
which the Company holds a greater than 50 percent voting 
interest. Entities in which the Company’s voting interest is 
20 percent or more but 50 percent or less are accounted for 
under the equity method. All other investments are accounted 
for under the cost method unless the Company determines that 
it exercises significant influence over an entity by means other 
than voting rights, in which case the entity is accounted for 
under the equity method. 

Investments with Variable Interest Entities (VIEs) are 
limited. The Company generally utilizes VIEs in connection 
with its cardmember receivable securitizations within the USCS 
segment. The Company consolidates any VIEs for which it is 
considered to be the primary beneficiary. The determination 
of whether an entity is a VIE is based on the amount and 
characteristics of the entity’s equity. An enterprise is required 
to consolidate a VIE when it has a variable interest for which 
it is deemed to be the primary beneficiary, that is, it will absorb 
a majority of the VIE’s expected losses or receive a majority of 
the VIE’s expected residual returns. 
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Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (QSPEs) under 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 140, 
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets 
and Extinguishments of Liabilities”, are not consolidated. The 
Company utilizes QSPEs in connection with cardmember 
lending securitizations within the USCS segment. 

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts have 
been made to conform to the current presentation. These 
reclassifications did not have an impact on the Company’s 
results of operations or cash flows, and primarily include those 
described in the Bank Holding Company section above and in 
the Company’s Form 8-K filed September 12, 2008.

In addition, beginning prospectively as of July 1, 2006, 
certain card acquisition related costs were reclassified from 
other expenses to a reduction in net card fees. 

foreign currency 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated into U.S. dollars based upon exchange rates 
prevailing at the end of each year. The resulting translation 
adjustments, along with any related qualifying hedge and tax 
effects, are included in accumulated other comprehensive 
(loss) income, a component of shareholders’ equity. Translation 
adjustments, including qualifying hedge and tax effects, are 
reclassified to earnings upon the sale or substantial liquidation 
of investments in foreign operations. Revenues and expenses 
are translated at the average month-end exchange rates 
during the year. Gains and losses related to non-functional 
currency transactions, including non-U.S. operations where the 
functional currency is the U.S. dollar, are reported net in other 
revenue or other, net expense, depending on the nature of the 
activity, in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Net non-functional currency transaction gains amounted to 
approximately $15 million, $27 million, and $11 million in 
2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

amounts based on estimates  
and assumptions
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. These estimates are based, in part, on 
management’s assumptions concerning future events. Among 
the more significant assumptions are those that relate to reserves 
for cardmember losses relating to loans and charge receivables, 
Membership Rewards, income taxes and fair value measurements, 
as discussed below. These accounting estimates reflect the best 
judgment of management, but actual results could differ. 

total revenues net of interest expense
The Company generates revenue from a variety of sources 
including global payments, such as charge and credit cards, 
travel services and investments funded by the sale of stored 
value products, such as Travelers Cheques. 

Discount Revenue 
Discount revenue represents fees charged to merchants 
with which the Company has entered into card acceptance 
agreements for facilitating transactions between the merchants 
and the Company’s cardmembers. The discount generally is 
deducted from the payment to the merchant and recorded as 
discount revenue at the time the charge is captured. 

Net Card Fees 
Card fees are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over 
the 12-month card membership period, net of deferred direct 
card acquisition costs and a reserve for projected membership 
cancellations. Charge card fees are recognized in net card fees 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Lending product 
fees are considered an enhancement to the yield on the product, 
and therefore are recognized in interest and fees on loans in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Travel Commissions and Fees 
The Company earns travel commissions and fees by charging 
clients transaction or management fees for selling and arranging 
travel and travel management services. Client transaction 
fee revenue is recognized at the time the client books the 
travel arrangements. Travel management services revenue is 
recognized over the contractual term of the agreement. The 
Company’s travel suppliers (for example, airlines, hotels, car 
rental companies) pay commissions and fees on tickets issued, 
sales and other services based on contractual agreements. 
Commissions and fees from travel suppliers are generally 
recognized at the time a ticket is purchased or over the term 
of the contract. Commissions and fees that are based on actual 
usage that is unknown at time of purchase (for example, hotel 
and car rentals), are recognized when cash is received.

Other Commissions and Fees 
Other commissions and fees, which are recognized primarily 
in the period in which they are charged to the cardmember, 
include delinquency fees and other card related assessments, 
and foreign currency conversion fees. Also included are fees 
related to the Company’s Membership Rewards program, 
which are deferred and recognized over the period covered by 
the fee and are included in deferred charge card fees and other, 
net of deferred acquisition costs.

Securitization Income, Net 
Securitization income, net includes non-credit provision 
components of the net gains or losses from securitization 
activities, excess spread related to securitized cardmember loans, 
changes in the fair value of the interest-only strip, and servicing 
income, net of related discounts or fees. Excess spread, which 
is recognized as earned, is the net cash flow from interest and 
fee collections allocated to the third-party investors’ interests 
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in the securitization after deducting the interest paid on the 
investor certificates, credit losses, contractual servicing fees and 
other expenses.

Other Non-Interest Revenues
Other revenues includes insurance premiums earned from 
cardmember travel and other insurance programs, publishing 
revenues, revenues arising from contracts with GNS partners 
including royalties and signing fees, and other miscellaneous 
revenue and fees. 

Contra-revenue 
The Company regularly makes payments through contractual 
arrangements with merchants, Corporate Card Clients and 
certain other customers. Payments to customers are generally 
classified as contra-revenue unless a specifically identifiable 
benefit (e.g., goods or services) is received by the Company 
in consideration for that payment and the fair value of such 
benefit is determinable and measurable. If no such benefit 
is identified, then the entire payment is classified as contra-
revenue, and included within total non-interest revenues in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income in the line item where the 
related transaction revenues are recorded (e.g., discount revenue, 
travel commissions and fees, and other commissions and fees). 
If such a benefit is identified, then the payment is classified as 
expense up to the estimated fair value of the benefit. 

Interest Income
Interest and fees on loans is assessed using the average daily 
balance method for loans owned. These amounts are recognized 
based upon the principal amount outstanding in accordance 
with the terms of the applicable account agreement until the 
outstanding balance is paid or written-off. 

Interest and dividends on investment securities primarily 
relates to the Company’s performing fixed-income securities. 
Interest income is accrued as earned using the effective 
interest method, which adjusts the yield for security premiums 
and discounts, fees and other payments, so that the related 
investment security recognizes a constant rate of return on the 
outstanding balance throughout its term. These amounts are 
recognized until these securities are in default or when it is likely 
that future interest payments will not be made as scheduled.

Interest income on deposits with banks and other is 
recognized as earned, and primarily relates to the placement of 
cash in excess of near-term funding requirements in interest-
bearing time deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and other 
interest bearing demand and call accounts.

Interest Expense
Interest expense includes interest incurred primarily to fund 
cardmember lending, charge card product receivables, general 
corporate purposes, and liquidity needs, and is recognized 
as incurred. Interest expense is divided principally into three 

categories (i) deposits, which primarily relates to interest 
expense on deposits taken from customers and institutions, 
(ii) short-term borrowings, which primarily relates to interest 
expense on commercial paper, federal funds purchased, bank 
overdrafts, and other short-term borrowings, and (iii) long-
term debt, which primarily relates to interest expense on the 
Company’s long-term debt.

expenses 
Marketing, Promotion, Rewards, and Cardmember Services
Marketing and promotion expense includes advertising costs, 
which are expensed in the year in which the advertising first 
takes place. Cardmember rewards expense includes the costs of 
rewards programs (including Membership Rewards, discussed 
in the Other Liabilities section below). Cardmember services 
expense includes protection plans and complimentary services 
provided to cardmembers.

Stock-based Compensation 
The Company recognizes the cost of employee stock awards 
granted in exchange for employee services based on the grant-
date fair value of the award, net of expected forfeitures. Those 
costs are recognized ratably over the vesting period, which is 
generally 25 percent per year beginning with the first anniversary 
of the grant date.

Other, Net Expense
Other, net expense includes general operating expenses, 
gains (losses) on sale of assets or businesses not classified as 
discontinued operations, and litigation and insurance costs or 
settlements.

balance sheet 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and amounts due from 
banks, interest-bearing bank balances including federal funds sold 
and securities purchased under resale agreements, and other highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less.

Accounts Receivable 
Cardmember receivables 
Cardmember receivables represent amounts due from charge 
card customers. These receivables are recorded at the time 
a cardmember enters into a point-of-sale transaction with a 
merchant. Cardmember receivable balances are presented on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets net of reserves for losses, discussed 
below, and includes principal and any related accrued fees. 

Reserves for losses — cardmember receivables 
Reserves for losses relating to cardmember receivables represent 
management’s best estimate of the losses inherent in the 
Company’s outstanding portfolio of receivables. Management’s 
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evaluation process requires certain estimates and judgments. 
Reserves for these losses are primarily based upon models that 
analyze specific portfolio statistics and reflect management’s 
judgment regarding overall reserve adequacy. The analytic 
models take into account several factors, including average 
write-off rates for various stages of receivable aging (i.e., 
current, 30 days, 60 days, 90 days) over a 24-month period and 
average bankruptcy and recovery rates. Management considers 
whether to adjust the analytic models based on other factors, 
such as reserves as a percentage of past-due accounts, reserves 
as a percentage of cardmember loans and receivables, and net 
write-off coverage. Other factors considered include leading 
economic and market indicators, such as the unemployment 
rate, consumer confidence index, purchasing manager’s index, 
bankruptcy filings, concentration of credit risk such as based 
on tenure, industry or geographic regions, and the legal and 
regulatory environment.

Cardmember receivables balances are written off when 
management deems amounts to be uncollectible and is generally 
determined by the number of days past due. Receivables in 
bankruptcy or owed by deceased individuals are written off upon 
notification, while other accounts are written off when 180 days 
past due for cardmember receivables within the USCS segment 
and when 360 days past due for cardmember receivables within 
the ICS and GCS segments. Previously, cardmember receivables 
in the USCS segment were written off when 360 days past 
due. During 2008, consistent with applicable bank regulatory 
guidance, the Company modified its write-off methodology to 
write off cardmember receivables in the USCS segment when 
180 days past due. Net cardmember receivables write-offs in 
2008 included approximately $341 million resulting from this 
change in write-off methodology. The impact of this change to 
the provision for charge card losses was not material.

Investment Securities 
Investment securities include debt and equity securities and are 
classified within the available-for-sale category.

Available-for-sale investment securities are carried at fair 
value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets with unrealized gains 
(losses) recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss), net of income tax provisions (benefits). Realized gains and 
losses on these securities are recognized in results of operations 
upon disposition of the securities using the specific identification 
method on a trade date basis. In addition, realized losses are 
recognized when management determines that a decline in value 
is other-than-temporary, which requires judgment regarding 
the amount and timing of recovery. Indicators of other-than-
temporary impairment for debt securities include issuer 
downgrade, default, or bankruptcy. The Company also considers 
the extent to which cost exceeds fair value, the duration and size of 
that gap, management’s judgment about the issuer’s current and 
prospective financial condition, as well as its intent and ability to 
hold the security until recovery of the unrealized losses. 

Loans 
Cardmember lending 
Cardmember loans represent amounts due from lending product 
customers. These loans are recorded at the time a cardmember 
enters into a point-of-sale transaction with a merchant or 
when a charge card customer enters into an extended payment 
arrangement. Cardmember loans are presented on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets net of reserves for cardmember 
losses, discussed below, and include accrued interest receivable 
and fees as of the balance sheet date. The Company’s policy is 
to cease accruing for interest receivable on a cardmember loan 
at the time when the account is written off. 

Reserve for losses — cardmember lending 
The Company’s methodology for reserving for losses relating 
to cardmember loans is consistent with reserving for losses 
relating to cardmember receivables. Cardmember loans (other 
than those in bankruptcy or owed by deceased individuals) are 
written off when 180 days past due.

Asset Securitizations 
The Company periodically securitizes cardmember receivables 
and loans by transferring those financial assets to a trust. The 
trust then issues securities to third-party investors, and these 
securities are collateralized by the transferred assets. The 
Company accounts for its transfers of these financial assets in 
accordance with SFAS No. 140.

In order for a securitization of financial assets to be 
accounted for as a sale, the transferor must surrender control 
over those financial assets to the extent that the transferor 
receives consideration other than beneficial interests in the 
transferred assets. 

Cardmember loans are transferred to a QSPE, and such 
transactions are structured to meet the sales criteria. Accordingly, 
when loans are sold through securitizations, the Company 
removes the  loans from its Consolidated Balance Sheets and 
recognizes a gain or loss on sale and retained interests in the 
securitizations. 

In contrast, cardmember receivables are transferred 
to a variable interest entity, a trust that does not meet the 
requirements for treatment as a qualifying sale. Securitizations 
of cardmember receivables are accounted for as secured 
borrowings.

Premises and Equipment 
Premises and Equipment 
Premises and equipment, including leasehold improvements, 
are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Costs incurred 
during construction are capitalized and are depreciated once an 
asset is placed in service. Depreciation is generally computed 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
assets, which range from 3 to 8 years for equipment. Premises 



notes to consolidated financial statements
american express company  

73

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 72 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 73 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 73 opeRaToR PM2 

are depreciated based upon their estimated useful life at the 
acquisition date, which generally ranges from 40 to 60 years. 

Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the lesser of the remaining term of the leased 
facility or the economic life of the improvement, which ranges 
from 5 to 10 years. The Company maintains operating leases 
worldwide for facilities and equipment. Rent expense for facility 
leases is recognized ratably over the lease term, and is calculated 
to include adjustments for rent concessions, all non-market 
based rent escalations, and leasehold improvement allowances. 
The Company accounts for lease restoration obligations 
in accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset 
Retirement Obligations” which requires recognition of the fair 
value of restoration liabilities when incurred, and amortization 
of capitalized restoration costs over the lease term.

Software development costs 
The Company capitalizes certain costs associated with the 
acquisition or development of internal-use software. Once the 
software is ready for its intended use, these costs are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the software’s estimated useful life, 
generally 5 years.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost of an 
acquired company over the fair value of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. Goodwill is included in other assets on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company assigns goodwill 
to its reporting units for the purpose of impairment testing. A 
reporting unit is defined as an operating segment, or a business 
one level below an operating segment. The Company evaluates 
goodwill for impairment annually and between annual tests if 
events occur or circumstances change that more likely than not 
reduce the fair value of reporting units below their carrying 
amounts. In determining whether impairment has occurred, 
the Company generally uses a comparative market multiples 
approach for calculating fair value. 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets, primarily customer relationships, are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives of 1 to 22 years on a 
straight-line basis. Intangible assets are included in other assets 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company reviews 
intangible assets for impairment quarterly and whenever events 
and circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not 
be recoverable. In addition, on an annual basis, the Company 
performs an impairment evaluation of all intangible assets 
based upon fair value generally using a discounted cash flow 
approach. An impairment is recognized if the carrying amount 
is not recoverable and exceeds the asset’s fair value. 

Other Liabilities 
Membership Rewards 
The Membership Rewards program allows enrolled 
cardmembers to earn points that can be redeemed for a 
broad range of rewards, including travel, entertainment, retail 
certificates, and merchandise. The Company establishes balance 
sheet reserves which represent the estimated cost of points 
earned to date that are ultimately expected to be redeemed. 
These reserves reflect management’s judgment regarding 
overall adequacy. A weighted average cost per point redeemed 
during the previous 12 months, adjusted as appropriate for 
recent changes in redemption costs, is used to approximate 
future redemption costs and is affected by the mix of rewards 
redeemed. Management uses models to estimate ultimate 
redemption rates based on historical redemption statistics, card 
product type, year of program enrollment, enrollment tenure, 
and card spend levels. 

The provision for the cost of Membership Rewards points 
is included in marketing, promotion, rewards and cardmember 
services and the balance sheet reserves are included in other 
liabilities. The Company continually evaluates its reserve 
methodology and assumptions based on developments in 
redemption patterns, cost per point redeemed, contract changes, 
and other factors. 

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities 
All derivatives are recognized on balance sheet at fair value 
as either assets or liabilities. The fair value of the Company’s 
derivative financial instruments are determined using either 
market quotes or valuation models that are based upon the net 
present value of estimated future cash flows and incorporate 
current market data inputs. The Company reports its derivative 
assets and liabilities in other assets and other liabilities, 
respectively, on a net by counterparty basis where management 
believes it has the legal right of offset under enforceable netting 
arrangements. The accounting for the change in the fair value 
of a derivative financial instrument depends on its intended use 
and the resulting hedge designation, if any, as discussed below. 

Cash flow hedges 
A cash flow hedge is a derivative designated to hedge the exposure 
of variable future cash flows that is attributable to a particular 
risk associated with an existing recognized asset or liability, or a 
forecasted transaction. For derivative financial instruments that 
qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portions of the gain 
or loss on the derivatives are recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive (loss) income and reclassified into earnings 
when the hedged cash flows are recognized into earnings. 
The amount that is reclassified into earnings is presented in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income with the hedged 
instrument or transaction impact, primarily in interest expense. 
Any ineffective portion of the gain or loss, as determined by the 
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accounting requirements, is reported as a component of other, 
net expense. If a hedge is de-designated or terminated prior 
to maturity, the amount previously recorded in accumulated 
other comprehensive (loss) income is recognized into earnings 
over the period that the hedged item impacts earnings. If a 
hedge relationship is discontinued because it is probable that 
the forecasted transaction will not occur according to the 
original strategy, any related amounts previously recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income are recognized 
into earnings immediately. 

Fair value hedges 
A fair value hedge is a derivative designated to hedge the 
exposure of future changes in the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, or an identified portion thereof that is attributable to a 
particular risk. For derivative financial instruments that qualify 
as a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivatives, 
as well as of the corresponding hedged assets and liabilities 
are recorded in earnings as a component of other, net expense, 
resulting in the ineffectiveness from the hedging relationship.

If a fair value hedge is de-designated or no longer considered 
to be effective, changes in fair value of the derivative continue to 
be recorded through earnings but the hedged asset or liability is 
no longer adjusted for changes in fair value. The existing basis 
adjustment of the hedged asset or liability is then amortized or 
accreted as an adjustment to yield over the remaining life of the 
asset or liability.

Net investment hedges in foreign operations 
A net investment hedge in foreign operations is a derivative used 
to hedge future changes in currency exposure of a net investment 
in a foreign operation. For derivative financial instruments that 
qualify as net investment hedges in foreign operations, the 
effective portions of the change in fair value of the derivatives 
are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income 
as part of the cumulative translation adjustment. Any ineffective 
portions of net investment hedges are recognized in other, net 
expense during the period of change. 

Derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge accounting 
Derivative financial instruments that are entered into for 
hedging purposes are designated as such when the Company 
enters into the contract. For all derivative financial instruments 
that are designated for hedging activities, the Company 
formally documents all of the hedging relationships between 
the hedge instruments and the hedged items at the inception of 
the relationships. Management also formally documents its risk 
management objectives and strategies for entering into the hedge 
transactions. The Company formally assesses, at inception and 
on a quarterly basis, whether derivatives designated as hedges 
are highly effective in offsetting the fair value or cash flows of 
hedged items. These assessments usually are made through the 
application of the dollar-offset method. 

In accordance with its risk management policies, the 
Company generally structures its hedges with very similar 
terms to the hedged items. When applying the accounting 
requirements, the Company recognizes ineffectiveness 
through earnings. If it is determined that a derivative is not 
highly effective as a hedge, the Company will discontinue the 
application of hedge accounting. 

Non-designated derivatives and trading activities
For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting, or are not designated as hedges, changes in 
fair value are reported in current period earnings generally as 
a component of other revenue, interest expense, or other, net 
expenses depending on the type of derivative instrument and 
the nature of the transaction.

Income Taxes 
The Company, its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries, and certain 
non-U.S. subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax 
return. The Company is subject to the income tax laws of the 
United States, its states and municipalities and those of the 
foreign jurisdictions in which the Company operates. These tax 
laws are complex, and the manner in which they apply to the 
taxpayer’s facts is sometimes open to interpretation. Given these 
inherent complexities, the Company must make judgments in 
assessing the likelihood that a tax position will be sustained 
upon examination by the taxing authorities based on the 
technical merits of the tax position. A tax position is recognized 
only when, based on management’s judgment regarding the 
application of income tax laws, it is more likely than not that the 
tax position will be sustained upon examination. The amount 
of benefit recognized for financial reporting purposes is based 
on management’s best judgment of the most likely outcome 
resulting from examination given the facts, circumstances and 
information available at the reporting date. The Company 
adjusts the level of unrecognized tax benefits when there is new 
information available to assess the likelihood of the outcome. 
Interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits are 
reported in the income tax provision.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on 
the differences between the GAAP financial statements and 
tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates 
expected to be in effect for the years in which the differences 
are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is established 
when management determines that it is more likely than not 
that all or some portion of the benefit of the deferred tax assets 
will not be realized.

The Company does not provide for federal income taxes on 
foreign earnings intended to be permanently reinvested outside 
the United States.
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Fair Value Measurements
Effective January 1, 2008, the Company partially adopted 
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) SFAS 
No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS No. 157). SFAS 
No. 157 applies broadly to financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities reported or disclosed at fair value under 
existing authoritative accounting pronouncements. FASB 
Staff Position (FSP) FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB 
Statement No. 157” (FSP FAS 157-2), delays the effective date 
of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial 
liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at 
fair value in the Company’s financial statements on a recurring 
basis (at least annually), until its fiscal year beginning after  
November 15, 2008, including interim periods within that 
fiscal year ( January 1, 2009 for the Company). In accordance 
with FSP FAS 157-2, the Company has partially adopted 
SFAS No. 157 and has not applied the provisions of SFAS 
No. 157 to its non-financial assets that are not measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis. 

The Company’s partial adoption of SFAS No. 157 did 
not result in significant changes to the valuation techniques it 
had previously used to measure the fair value of its financial 
instruments. Fair value is defined as the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date, and is based on the Company’s principal 
or most advantageous market for the specific asset or liability. 
The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
financial position or results of operations.

SFAS No. 157 established a three-level hierarchy of valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value, defined as follows: 

•	 Unadjusted Quoted Prices – The fair value of an asset or 
liability is based on unadjusted quoted prices, in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. An example would 
be a marketable equity security that is actively traded on the 
New York Stock Exchange. (Level 1) The Company does 
not have any assets or liabilities classified within Level 1 of 
the fair value hierarchy.

•	 Pricing Models with Significant Observable Inputs – The 
fair value of an asset or liability is based on information 
derived from either an active market quoted price, which 
may require further adjustment based on the attributes of 
the financial asset or liability being measured, or an inactive 
market transaction. Circumstances when adjustments to 
market quoted prices may be appropriate include (i) a 
quoted price for an actively traded equity investment that is 
adjusted for a contractual trading restriction, or (ii) the fair 
value derived from a trade of an identical or similar security 
in an inactive market. (Level 2) The Company’s investment 
securities and derivatives are classified within Level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy. Refer to Notes 2, 5, and 14.

•	 Pricing Models with Significant Unobservable Inputs – 
The fair value of an asset or liability is primarily based on 
internally derived assumptions surrounding the timing and 
amount of expected cash flows for the financial instrument. 
Therefore, these assumptions are unobservable in either an 
active or inactive market. An example would be the retained 
subordinated interest in a securitization trust. (Level 3) The 
Company’s retained subordinated securities and interest-
only strip, from its securitization programs, are classified 
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Refer to Note 6.

The level in the fair value hierarchy to which an asset or 
liability is classified is based upon the lowest level of input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. For example, 
if an asset or liability is valued based on observable inputs 
(e.g., Level 2) as well as unobservable inputs (e.g., Level 3), 
and the unobservable inputs significantly contributed to the 
determination of fair value, it is classified in Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy.

recently issued accounting standards 
The FASB recently issued the following accounting standards, 
which are effective beginning January 1, 2009. 

•	 FSP No. EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instruments 
Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions are 
Participating Securities” (FSP EITF 03-6-1) states unvested 
share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable 
rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (e.g., Restricted 
Stock Awards) whether paid or unpaid, are participating 
securities and should be included in the computation of basic 
and diluted earnings per share pursuant to the two-class 
method. FSP EITF 03-6-1 requires all prior-period EPS data 
presented to be adjusted retrospectively (including interim 
financial statements, summaries of earnings, and selected 
financial data) to conform to its provisions. The retrospective 
adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 is expected to have an annual 
decrease of between $.01 and $.03 on basic and diluted 
earnings per share for the years 2005 through 2008.

The adoption of the accounting standards listed below will not 
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or 
results of operations.

• SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” 
(SFAS No. 141(R)) replaces the previous business 
combination accounting guidance under SFAS No. 141. 
SFAS No. 141(R) primarily requires the following changes 
in applying the purchase method of accounting to the 
acquisition of a business. (1) All acquisitions of controlling 
interests are fully measured at fair value, including purchases 
of a less-than-100 percent stake, (2) direct acquisition costs 
(e.g., investment banking, legal and accounting costs) are 
expensed, (3) contingent consideration is recognized and 
measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, with post-
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acquisition adjustments to the fair value recorded through 
earnings, and (4) any non-controlling interests’ share of 
earnings in a partially owned subsidiary are included in the 
consolidated net income of the group. 

• SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated 
Financial Statements” (SFAS No. 160), which is to be 
retrospectively applied for presentation and disclosure 
purposes, requires entities to include non-controlling 
(minority) interests in partially owned consolidated 
subsidiaries within shareholders’ equity in the consolidated 
financial statements. All amounts related to non-controlling 
interests are presented separately on the face of the financial 
statements. SFAS No. 160 also requires the consolidating 
entity to include, prospectively, all earnings of the consolidated 
subsidiary attributable to the non-controlling interest holder 
in its income statement with an offsetting charge (credit) to 
the non-controlling interest in shareholders’ equity. 

• SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities – an amendment of FASB Statement 
No. 133” (SFAS No. 161), amends and expands the disclosure 
requirements of FASB Statement No. 133, “Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS 
No. 133) requiring enhanced disclosures about the Company’s 
derivative and hedging activities. Under SFAS No. 161, the 
Company is required to provide disclosures about (a) how 
and why it uses derivative instruments, (b) how derivative 
instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under 
SFAS No. 133 and its related interpretations, and (c) how 
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect the 
Company’s financial position, results of operations, and cash 
flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective prospectively, and applies 
to derivative instruments existing at the reporting date, with 
comparative disclosures of earlier periods encouraged upon 
initial adoption. 

• EITF No. 07-1, “Accounting for Collaborative 
Arrangements” (EITF 07-1), which is to be retrospectively 
applied, defines collaborative arrangements as those 
that do not involve a separate legal entity and in which 
the participants are actively involved and are exposed to 
significant risks and rewards that depend on the ultimate 
commercial success of the endeavor. EITF 07-1 also clarifies 
that the equity method of accounting should not be applied 
and requires the disclosure of the Company’s accounting 
policies regarding income statement characterization, 
the amounts and income statement classification of the 
arrangements and information about the nature and purpose 
of the arrangements. 

• FSP No. FAS 142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life 
of Intangible Assets” (FSP FAS 142-3), removes the 
requirement within SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other 

Intangible Assets” for an entity to consider, when determining 
the useful life of a recognized intangible asset, whether an 
intangible asset can be renewed without substantial cost or 
material modifications to the existing terms and conditions. 
FSP FAS 142-3 requires an entity to consider its own 
historical experience in developing renewal or extension 
assumptions, or assumptions that a marketplace participant 
would use about renewal or extension. 

•	 FSP FAS 157-2, as described above, delays the effective date 
of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial 
liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at 
fair value in the Company’s financial statements on a recurring 
basis (at least annually), until January 1, 2009.

In addition to the above, the FASB also recently issued the 
following accounting standard, which is effective for the year 
ending December 31, 2009, the adoption of which will not 
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or 
results of operations.

•	 FSP No. FAS 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about 
Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets” (FSP FAS 132(R)-1), 
amends SFAS 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures 
about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits,” to provide 
guidance on an employer’s disclosures about plan assets of a 
defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. These 
disclosures include: how investment allocation decisions 
are made, including the factors that are pertinent to an 
understanding of investment policies and strategies, the major 
categories of plan assets, the inputs and valuation techniques 
used to measure the fair value of plan assets, the effect of 
fair value measurements using significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3) on changes in plan assets for the period and 
significant concentrations of risk within plan assets.
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note 2 
acquisitions, divestitures, 
and discontinued 
operations 
acquisitions
Corporate Payment Services
On March 28, 2008, the Company purchased Corporate 
Payment Services (CPS), General Electric Company’s 
commercial card and corporate purchasing business unit. The 
total cash consideration of $2.3 billion paid by the Company 
consisted of the contractual purchase price of approximately 
$1.1 billion plus the repayment of CPS’ $1.2 billion in 
outstanding debt as of the acquisition date. 

The following table summarizes the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed by reportable operating segment as of the 
acquisition date, reflecting the final purchase price allocation 
completed in the fourth quarter of 2008:

(Millions) GCS USCS Total

Other receivables $1,149 $ — $1,149
Other loans — 107 107
Goodwill 818 — 818
Definite-lived intangibles 217 1 218
Premises and equipment 14 — 14
Other assets 3 — 3

Total assets 2,201 108 2,309
Total liabilities 63 2 65

Net assets $2,138 $106 $2,244

The customer receivables and loans acquired as part of the CPS 
acquisition, totaling $1.1 billion and $107 million, respectively, 
as of the acquisition date, are included in other receivables and 
other loans. As underlying cardmember relationships migrate 
to the Company’s products, the associated receivables will 
be reflected in the cardmember receivables and cardmember 
lending lines on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of 
December 31, 2008, the amount of CPS receivables included 
in other receivables and other loans was $880 million and 
$99 million, respectively; and, no CPS receivables were 
included in cardmember receivables or cardmember lending. 
The migration of CPS customers to the Company’s products 
is expected to be substantially completed by the first quarter 
of 2009. 

The acquisition of CPS did not have a significant impact 
on the Company’s results of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2008.

divestitures
On May 31, 2007, the Company completed the sale of 
its merchant-related activities in Russia for a net gain of 
approximately $27 million ($18 million after-tax), recorded 

in the Company’s continuing operations, and reflected in the 
GNMS segment.

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company completed 
the sale of its card and merchant-related activities in Malaysia, 
and its card and merchant-related activities in Indonesia for 
combined proceeds of $94 million. The transactions generated 
a gain of $33 million ($24 million after-tax), and are reported in 
the Company’s continuing operations ($23 million in the ICS 
segment and $10 million in the GCS segment). 

On June 30, 2006, the Company completed the sale of its 
card and merchant-related activities and international banking 
activities in Brazil for approximately $470 million. The 
transaction generated a net after-tax gain of $109 million. 
$144 million ($131 million after-tax) of the gain relates to the 
card and merchant-related activities sold and is reported in 
the Company’s continuing operations ($91 million in the ICS 
segment, $28 million in the GCS segment, and $25 million in 
the GNMS segment). A $48 million ($22 million after-tax) loss 
resulted from the sale of the Company’s international banking 
activities; this portion of the sale was reflected in discontinued 
operations, as discussed below.

The Company will continue to maintain its presence in the 
merchant-related businesses within Russia and in the card and 
merchant-related businesses within Malaysia, Indonesia, and 
Brazil through its GNS arrangements with the acquirers and 
its retention of agreements with multinational merchants.

discontinued operations 
On September 18, 2007, the Company entered into an agreement 
to sell its international banking subsidiary, American Express 
Bank Ltd. (AEB) to Standard Chartered PLC (Standard 
Chartered). The sale was completed on February 29, 2008. 
In the second quarter of 2008, the Company and Standard 
Chartered agreed on the final purchase price of $796 million, 
equaling the final net asset value of the AEB businesses that 
were sold plus $300 million. The sale resulted in an after-tax 
gain of $11 million. 

On September 18, 2007, the Company also entered into an 
agreement with Standard Chartered to sell American Express 
International Deposit Company (AEIDC), a subsidiary that 
issues investment certificates to AEB’s customers, 18 months 
after the close of the AEB sale through a put/call agreement. 
In the third quarter of 2008, AEIDC qualified to be reported 
as a discontinued operation as it is the Company’s intention to 
exercise its AEIDC put option in the third quarter of 2009.

On June 30, 2006, the Company completed the sale of certain 
of its activities in Brazil as discussed above. The international 
banking portion of the transaction generated an after-tax loss 
of $22 million reported in discontinued operations for banking 
activities the Company exited in Brazil. Financial results for these 
operations, prior to the second quarter of 2006, were not reclassified 
as discontinued operations because such results are not material.
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For all periods presented, all of the operating results, assets 
and liabilities, and cash flows of discontinued operations, except 
as described above, have been removed from the Corporate & 
Other segment and are presented separately in the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Summary operating results 
of the discontinued operations included AEB (except for certain 
components of AEB that are not being sold), AEIDC, and the 
Brazilian banking activities, as well as businesses disposed of 
in previous years. The Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been adjusted to exclude discontinued 
operations unless otherwise noted. 

Results from discontinued operations for the years ended 
December 31, were as follows: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Total revenues net of interest expense $ (43) $ 925 $1,097
Pretax (loss) income from  

discontinued operations(a) $(160) $(163) $ 108
Income tax provision (benefit) 12 (49) 26
(Loss) Income from discontinued 

operations, net of tax $(172) $(114) $ 82

(a) Included in the results from discontinued operations for 2008, 2007 and 
2006 are pretax losses of $275 million ($179 million after-tax), $105 million 
($69 million after-tax), and $0, respectively, for mark-to-market adjustments 
and sales associated with the AEIDC investment portfolio. 

Assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations at 
December 31, were as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3 $ 6,390
Investments 213 5,730
Loans, net of reserves — 8,283
Other assets — 1,875

Total assets 216 22,278
Liabilities:

Customer deposits — 15,079
Investment certificate reserves 22 5,299
Other liabilities(a) 238 1,149

Total liabilities 260 21,527
Net (deficit) assets $ (44) $ 751

(a) The balance at December 31, 2008, represents a loan to AEIDC from AEIDC’s 
parent; this loan is expected to be settled concurrent with, or following the 
transfer of AEIDC to Standard Chartered in the third quarter of 2009. 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, associated 
with discontinued operations at December 31, was as follows: 

(Millions) 2008(a) 2007
Accumulated other comprehensive loss,  

net of tax:
Net unrealized securities losses $ — $(15)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — (28)
Net unrealized pension and other 

postretirement benefit costs — 2
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ — $(41)

(a) As noted above, all of AEIDC’s investment portfolio was reclassified from 
available-for-sale to Trading in the third quarter of 2007. As a result, no 
further balances remain in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to 
this portfolio. 

Goodwill of approximately $27 million was included in AEB’s 
assets as of December 31, 2007.
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assets and liabilities of discontinued operations measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis:
As described in Note 1, on January 1, 2008, the Company partially adopted SFAS No. 157 for its financial assets and financial 
liabilities that are accounted for at fair value. The fair value measurement and disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 157 are prospective 
in nature and, therefore, apply to financial assets and financial liabilities included in discontinued operations from January 1, 2008, 
forward. The following table presents the AEIDC financial instruments carried at fair value at December 31, 2008 and the respective 
SFAS No. 157 fair value hierarchy level: 

(Millions)

Total Carrying Value included in Assets 
of Discontinued Operations on the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet  
at December 31, 2008 

Fair Value 
Hierarchy Level 

Residential mortgage-backed securities
Non-Government Sponsored Entities:

Prime(a) $ 46 2
Alt-A(a) 159 2

Total residential mortgage-backed securities 205
Other asset-backed securities(b) 8 3
Total investments at fair value $213

(a) The fair market values were obtained from pricing services engaged by the Company. The Company receives one price for each security. The fair values provided 
by the pricing services are estimated by using pricing models, where the inputs to those models are based on observable market inputs. The inputs to the valuation 
techniques applied by the pricing services vary depending on the type of security being priced but are typically benchmark yield, benchmark security prices, credit 
spreads, prepayment speeds, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, all with reasonable levels of transparency. The pricing models used generally do not entail 
substantial subjectivity because the methodologies employed use inputs observed from active markets or recent trades of similar securities in inactive markets. 
The pricing services do not apply any adjustments to the pricing models used, nor does the Company apply any adjustments to prices received from the pricing 
services. The Company has reaffirmed its understanding of the valuation techniques used by its pricing services. No adjustments were deemed necessary to the 
prices provided by the pricing services as a result of current market conditions. The use of different techniques (e.g., different pricing models) to determine the fair 
value of these investments could result in different estimates of fair value at the reporting date.

(b) Represents investments in other asset-backed securities transferred in the second quarter of 2008 from Level 2 into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy primarily 
due to the significant inputs to the fair value of these assets being unobservable as a result of limited marketplace activity. The value of these assets was $24 million 
when they were transferred into Level 3 during the second quarter of 2008. Since then, the Company had $10 million in net settlements and $6 million in realized 
losses, reducing the value of these investments to $8 million. 
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note 3 
accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable at December 31 consisted of: 

(Millions) 2008 2007
U.S. Card Services $17,822 $21,418
International Card Services 5,582 6,616
Global Commercial Services 9,397 11,411
Global Network & Merchant Services(a)(b) 187 627

Cardmember receivables, gross(c) 32,988 40,072
Less: Cardmember reserve for losses 810 1,149
Cardmember receivables, net $32,178 $38,923
Other receivables, gross(b)(d) $ 4,511 $ 3,163
Less: Other reserve for losses 118 92
Other receivables, net $ 4,393 $ 3,071

(a) Includes receivables primarily related to certain of the Company’s business 
partners and International Currency Card portfolios.

(b) At December 31, 2007, Global Network & Merchant Services cardmember 
receivables also included receivables purchased from joint ventures of 
$429 million that were reclassified to other receivables during 2008. 

(c) Includes approximately $9.9 billion and $12.4 billion of cardmember receivables 
outside the United States as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

(d) Other receivables primarily represent amounts due from the tax authorities, 
travel customers and suppliers, third party card issuing partners, and 
other receivables due to the Company in the ordinary course of business. 
This amount also includes accrued interest on investments, and accruals 
for the Company’s litigation settlement with Visa. Other receivables at 
December 31, 2008, also include acquisition of other receivables of CPS.

The following table presents changes in the cardmember 
receivable reserve for losses for years ended December 31: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Balance, January 1 $ 1,149 $ 981 $ 942
Additions:

Cardmember receivables 
provision(a) 1,363 1,140 935

Deductions:
Cardmember receivables net 

write-offs(a) (1,552) (907) (810)
Cardmember receivables other(b) (150) (65) (86)

Balance, December 31 $ 810 $1,149 $ 981

(a) Represents write-offs of charge card balances consisting of principal (resulting 
from authorized and unauthorized transactions) and fee components, less 
recoveries of $187 million, $203 million, and $177 million for 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively.

(b) Includes foreign currency translation and other adjustments primarily related to 
the reclassification of waived fee reserves to a contra-cardmember receivable. 

 See Note 4 for a discussion of impaired cardmember receivables at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

note 4 
loans 
Loans at December 31 consisted of: 

(Millions) 2008 2007
U.S. Card Services $32,684 $43,253
International Card Services 9,499 11,155
Global Commercial Services 28 —

Cardmember lending, gross 42,211 54,408
Less: Cardmember lending reserve for losses 2,570 1,831
Cardmember lending, net $39,641 $52,577
Other loans, gross(a) $ 1,057 $ 807
Less: Other reserve for losses 39 45
Other loans, net $ 1,018 $ 762

(a) Other loans primarily represent small business installment loans. Other 
loans at December 31, 2008, also includes the acquisition of a storecard 
portfolio in the third quarter of 2008 whose billed business is not processed 
on the Company’s network, a loan to an affiliate in discontinued operations, 
and small business loans associated with the CPS acquisition. 

The following table presents changes in the cardmember 
lending reserve for losses for the years ended December 31: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Balance, January 1 $ 1,831 $ 1,171 $ 996
Additions:

Cardmember lending 
provisions(a) 4,106 2,615 1,507

Cardmember lending other(b) 125 146 116
Total provision 4,231 2,761 1,623

Deductions:
Cardmember lending net  

write-offs – principal(c) (2,643) (1,636) (1,201)
Cardmember lending net  

write-offs – interest and fees(c) (580) (354) (158)
Cardmember lending other(d) (269) (111) (89)

Balance, December 31 $ 2,570 $ 1,831 $ 1,171

(a) Represents loss provisions for cardmember lending consisting of principal 
(resulting from authorized transactions), interest, and fee reserves 
components. 

(b) Primarily represents adjustments to cardmember lending receivables 
resulting from unauthorized transactions and other items such as waived 
fees.

(c) Cardmember lending net write-offs – principal for 2008, 2007, and 
2006 include recoveries of $301 million, $295 million, and $187 million, 
respectively. Recoveries of interest and fees were de minimis. 

(d) Includes foreign currency translation and other adjustments primarily 
related to the reclassification of waived fee reserves to a contra-cardmember 
receivable.
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The following table presents changes in the other loans reserve 
for losses for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Balance, January 1 $ 45 $ 40 $ 38
Provisions 32 71 24
Net write-offs and other(a) (38) (66) (22)

Balance, December 31 $ 39 $ 45 $ 40

(a) Net write-offs for 2008, 2007, and 2006 include recoveries of $8 million, 
$7 million, and $6 million, respectively.

Individually “impaired” loans are defined by GAAP as larger 
balance or restructured loans for which it is probable that the 
lender will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the 
original contractual terms of the loan agreement. 

Impaired loans include loans and receivables that have 
been modified for borrowers who are experiencing financial 
difficulties. The Company may modify cardmember loans 
and receivables and such modifications may include reducing 

note 5 
investment securities 
The following is a summary of investment securities, all of which are classified as available-for-sale at December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007

Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Estimated 
Fair Value Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses

Estimated 
Fair  

Value

State and municipal obligations $ 6,552 $ 37 $(1,034) $ 5,555 $ 6,795 $102 $(136) $ 6,761
U.S. Government and agencies obligations(a) 5,074 92 — 5,166 5,034 76 — 5,110
Mortgage-backed securities(b) 73 2 — 75 79 1 (1) 79
Retained subordinated securities(c) 1,328 — (584) 744 78 — — 78
Equity securities(d) 200 344 — 544 — — — —
Corporate debt securities 230 1 (13) 218 285 1 (4) 282
Foreign government bonds and obligations 84 1 (4) 81 51 2 — 53
Other(e) 143 — — 143 851 — — 851
Total $13,684 $477 $(1,635) $12,526 $13,173 $182 $(141) $13,214

(a) U.S. Government and agency obligations include U.S. Treasury securities and senior debentures issued by Government Sponsored Enterprises (Fannie Mae 
and Freddie Mac).  At December 31, 2008 and 2007, these amounts included $3.2 billion and $3.1 billion, respectively, of securities issued by Fannie Mae and 
Freddie Mac.  At December 31, 2008, there were no securities loaned out on an overnight basis to financial institutions under the securities lending program. At 
December 31, 2007 there were $970 million of securities loaned out on an overnight basis to financial institutions under the securities lending program. 

(b) Represents the amount of mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae. Including the $213 million of mortgage and other 
asset-backed securities discussed in Note 2, the Company’s total exposure to mortgage and other asset-backed securities is $288 million.

(c) Consists of investments in retained subordinated securities from the Company’s securitization programs. 

(d) In 2006, the Company acquired a non-controlling interest in the common stock of Industrial Commercial Bank of China (ICBC) for $200 million. The Company 
is restricted from selling 50 percent of this investment until April 2009 and the remaining 50 percent until October 2009.  Upon falling within 12 months of the 
restriction termination dates (50 percent in April 2008 and 50 percent in October 2008), the investment was reclassified from other assets to available-for-sale 
securities at fair value. Changes in the securities fair value from its cost at date of acquisition are recorded in other comprehensive income in 2008. 

(e) Included in other are short-term money market and state tax exempt securities (estimated fair value totaling $127 million and $833 million at December 31, 2008 
and 2007, respectively) and other securities, primarily mutual funds. 

the interest rate/delinquency fees on the loans/receivables 
and/or placing the cardmember on a fixed payment plan not 
exceeding 60 months. If the cardmember does not comply 
with the modified terms, then the loan or receivable agreement 
reverts back to its original terms. Under these programs, 
approximately $821 million and $175 million of cardmember 
loans and receivables outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively, have been modified. In accordance with 
the Company’s methodology for determining its reserve for 
losses, the Company had provided adequate reserves for these 
cardmember loans or receivables, and therefore, modifications 
to these cardmember loans or receivables had no incremental 
impact on the Company’s reserve for losses. 

Loans amounting to $927 million and $707 million at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, were past due 
90 days or more and still accruing interest. The Company’s 
policy is to accrue interest through the date of charge-off (i.e. 
180 days past due).
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fair value
The following is a description of the valuation techniques 
utilized by the Company to measure the fair value of its 
investment securities, including the general classification 
of such items pursuant to the fair value hierarchy. These 
techniques may produce fair values that may not be indicative 
of a future sale, or reflective of future fair values. The use of 
different techniques to determine the fair value of these types 
of investment securities could result in different estimates of 
fair value at the reporting date. SFAS No. 157 was adopted 
by the Company on January 1, 2008; therefore, classification 
of the Company’s investments pursuant to the fair value 
hierarchy is applicable only to the estimated fair values as of 
December 31, 2008. 

• When available, quoted market prices are used to determine 
fair value and the investment securities are classified within 
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

• When quoted prices in an active market are not available, the 
fair market values for the Company’s investment securities 
are obtained primarily from pricing services engaged by the 
Company, and the Company receives one price for each 
security. The fair values provided by the pricing services are 
estimated by using pricing models, where the inputs to those 
models are based on observable market inputs. The inputs 
to the valuation techniques applied by the pricing services 

vary depending on the type of security being priced but are 
typically benchmark yields, benchmark security prices, credit 
spreads, prepayment speeds, reported trades, broker-dealer 
quotes, all with reasonable levels of transparency. The pricing 
services do not apply any adjustments to the pricing models 
used, nor does the Company apply any adjustments to prices 
received from the pricing services. Although the underlying 
inputs are directly observable from active markets or recent 
trades of similar securities in inactive markets, the pricing 
models used do entail a certain amount of subjectivity and 
therefore differing judgements in how the underlying inputs 
are modeled could result in different estimates of fair value. 
As of December 31, 2008, all of the Company’s investment 
securities are classified within Level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy, except for the retained subordinated securities 
from the Company’s securitization programs which are 
classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, and are 
discussed in more detail in Note 6.

The Company has reaffirmed its understanding of the valuation 
techniques used by its pricing services. No adjustments 
were deemed necessary to the prices provided by the pricing 
services as a result of current market conditions. In addition, 
the Company corroborates the prices provided by its pricing 
services to test their reasonableness by comparing their prices to 
valuations from different pricing sources as well as comparing 
prices to the sale prices received from sold securities.

The following table provides information about available-for-sale investment securities with gross unrealized losses and the length 
of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2008 and 2007:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Less than 12 months 12 months or more Less than 12 months 12 months or more

Description of Securities
Estimated 
Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Estimated 
Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Estimated 
Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Estimated 
Fair Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses

State and municipal obligations $2,515 $(326) $2,037 $(708) $2,680 $(120) $195 $(16)
Retained subordinated securities 744 (584) — — — — — —
Corporate debt securities 35 (1) 99 (12) 110 (2) 116 (2)
Foreign government bonds and obligations 27 (4) — — — — — —
Mortgage-backed securities — — — — — — 20 (1)
Total $3,321 $(915) $2,136 $(720) $2,790 $(122) $331 $(19)

The Company reviews and evaluates investments at least 
quarterly and more often as market conditions may require 
to identify investments that have indications of other-than-
temporary impairments. The determination of other-than-
temporary impairment is a subjective process, requiring the 

use of judgments and assumptions. Accordingly, the Company 
considers several metrics when evaluating securities for an 
other-than-temporary impairment, including the extent to 
which amortized cost exceeds fair value, the duration and size 
of that difference, and the issuers credit rating.
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The following table summarizes the unrealized losses of temporary impairments by ratio of fair value to amortized cost as of 
December 31, 2008: 

(Millions) Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Ratio of Fair Value to 
Amortized Cost

Estimated 
Fair  

Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses

Estimated 
Fair  

Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses

Estimated 
Fair  

Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

90%–100% $1,289 $ (73) $ 111 $ (7) $1,400 $ (80)
Less than 90% 2,032 (842) 2,025 (713) 4,057 (1,555)
Total $3,321 $(915) $2,136 $ (720) $5,457 $(1,635)

The securities with a fair value to amortized cost ratio of less 
than 100 percent consist primarily of state and municipal 
securities and the retained subordinated securities from the 
Company’s securitization programs. The retained subordinated 
securities represent investments in the Lending Trust, as 
discussed in more detail in Note 6. The state and municipal 
securities do not contain a concentration of any one security. 
At December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately 995 
securities with a fair value of $5.5 billion in an unrealized loss 
position, which represented approximately 63 percent of the 
total number of outstanding investment securities. 

Key factors considered when assessing other-than-
temporary impairment include the determination  of the extent 
to which the difference is due to increased default risk for the 
specific issuer, or market interest rate risk. With respect to 
increased default risk, the Company assesses the collectibility 
of principal and interest payments by monitoring issuer’s credit 
ratings, related changes to those ratings, specific credit events 
associated with the individual issuers as well as the credit 
ratings of financial guarantor, where applicable. With respect 
to market interest rate risk, including benchmark interest rates 
and credit spreads, the Company’s intent and ability to hold the 
securities for a time sufficient to recover the unrealized losses 
is a significant consideration in the other-than-temporary 
evaluation process.

The gross unrealized losses on state and municipal securities 
are attributable to a number of reasons such as increases in 
issuer specific credit spreads, changes in the interest rates as 
well as pricing pressures resulting from the excess supply of 
securities in the market that were caused by unusually high 
redemptions of municipal money market funds that occurred 
since September 2008. However, there were no specific credit 
concerns identified for any of the issuers and therefore the 
Company expects to collect all of the contractual cash flows due 
on these securities. These securities support specific businesses 
within the Company and the Company has both the intent and 
ability to hold these securities for a time sufficient to recover 
the unrealized losses. 

The gross unrealized losses on the retained subordinated 
securities from the Company’s securitization programs are 
primarily attributable to the increase in issuer specific credit 
spreads. The credit spreads on these securities have increased 
substantially during fourth quarter of 2008 due to limited 

market liquidity. However, upon analysis of the projected 
cash flows of the American Express Credit Account Master 
Trust (the Lending Trust), the Company expects to collect all 
of the contractual cash flows due on these securities. Also, the 
Company has the ability and intent to hold these securities 
as there are no current funding needs that would require the 
Company to sell these securities. 

The gross unrealized losses on all other securities are 
attributable to changes in market interest rates, particularly the 
widening of credit spreads. The Company has the ability and 
the intent to hold these securities for a time sufficient to recover 
the unrealized losses and expects that contractual principal and 
interest will be received on these securities. 

supplemental information
Gross realized gains and losses on sales of investment securities, 
included in other revenue, follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006 
Gains $20 $14 $89(a)

Losses (8) (5) (1)
Total $12 $ 9 $88

(a) Includes $68 million of gains related to a rebalancing program in the fourth 
quarter of 2006 to better align the maturity profile of the Travelers Cheque 
and Gift Card investment portfolio with its business liquidity needs.

Contractual maturities of investment securities classified 
as available-for-sale, excluding equity securities and other 
securities, primarily mutual funds with no stated maturity, 
follows: 

(Millions) Cost
Estimated 
Fair Value 

Due in:
2009 $ 2,318 $ 2,355
2010–2013 4,227 3,943
2014–2018 726 472
2019 and beyond 6,195 5,194
Total $13,466 $11,964

The expected payments on state and municipal obligations 
and mortgage-backed securities may not coincide with their 
contractual maturities because borrowers have the right to call or 
prepay certain obligations.  
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note 6 
asset securitizations
off-balance sheet securitizations
Servicing Portfolio
The Company periodically securitizes cardmember loans 
through the Lending Trust. The following table illustrates 
the activity in the Lending Trust (including the securitized 
cardmember loans and seller’s interest) for the years ended 
December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Lending Trust assets, January 1 $ 36,194 $34,584
Account additions, net 10,187 —
Cardmember activity, net (4,802) 1,610
Lending Trust assets, December 31 $ 41,579 $ 36,194
Securitized cardmember loans,  

January 1 $ 22,670 $ 20,170
Impact of issuances 10,955 6,000
Impact of maturities (4,670) (3,500)
Securitized cardmember loans,  

December 31 $ 28,955 $22,670
Seller’s interest, January 1 $ 13,524 $ 14,414
Impact of issuances (10,955) (6,000)
Impact of maturities 4,670 3,500
Account additions, net 10,187 —
Cardmember activity, net (4,802) 1,610
Seller’s interest, December 31 $ 12,624 $13,524

The Company, through its subsidiaries, is required to 
maintain an undivided interest in the transferred cardmember 
loans (seller’s interest), which is equal to the balance of all 
cardmember loans transferred to the Lending Trust plus 
the associated accrued interest receivable (Lending Trust 
assets) less the investors’ portion of those assets (securitized 
cardmember loans). Seller’s interest is reported as cardmember 
lending on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
Any billed finance charges related to the investors’ portion 
of securitized cardmember loans are reported as other assets 
on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The seller’s 
interest is required to be maintained at a minimum level of 
7 percent of the outstanding securities in the Lending Trust. 
If the seller’s interest was reduced below the 7 percent level, 
the Company would be required to add additional cardmember 
loans to the Lending Trust. As of December 31, 2008, the 
amount of seller’s interest was approximately 40 percent of the 
outstanding securities in the Lending Trust.

The Company retains servicing responsibilities for the 
transferred cardmember loans through its subsidiary, American 
Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., (TRS) and earns 
a related fee. No servicing asset or liability is recognized at the 
time of a securitization because the Company receives adequate 
compensation relative to current market servicing fees.

Securitization Income
The following table summarizes the activity related to 
securitized loans reported in securitization income, net for the 
years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Excess spread, net(a) $ 544 $1,025 $1,055
Servicing fees 543 425 407
(Losses) Gains on sales from 

securitizations(b) (17) 57 27
Securitization income, net $1,070 $1,507 $1,489

(a) Excess spread, net is the net cash flow from interest and fee collections 
allocated to the investors’ interests after deducting the interest paid on 
investor certificates, credit losses, contractual servicing fees, other expenses, 
and the changes in the fair value of the interest-only strip in 2008 and 
2007.

(b) Excludes $446 million and $(177) million of credit provision impact from 
cardmember loan sales and maturities for 2008, $144 million and $(84) 
million of credit provision impact from cardmember loan sales and maturities 
for 2007, as well as $83 million and $(104) million of credit provision impact 
from cardmember loan sales and maturities for 2006.

At the time of a cardmember loan securitization, the Company 
records a gain (loss) on sale, which is calculated as the difference 
between the proceeds from the sale and the book basis of the 
cardmember loans sold. The book basis is determined by 
allocating the carrying amount of the sold cardmember loans, 
net of applicable credit reserves, between the cardmember loans 
sold and the interests retained based on their relative fair values. 
Such fair values are based on market prices at the date of transfer 
for the sold cardmember loans and on the estimated present 
value of future cash flows for retained interests. Gains (Losses) 
on sale from securitizations are reported in securitization 
income, net in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of 
Income. The income component resulting from the release of 
credit reserves upon sale is reported as a reduction of provision 
for losses from cardmember lending.

Retained Interests in Securitized Assets and Fair  
Value Measurement
The Company retains subordinated interests in the securitized 
cardmember loans. These interests include one or more A-rated 
and BBB-rated investments in tranches of the securitization 
(subordinated securities) and an interest-only strip. The 
following table presents retained interests for the years ended 
December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Subordinated securities(a) $744 $ 78
Interest-only strip(b) 32 223
Total retained interests $776 $301

(a) The subordinated securities are accounted for at fair value as available-for-
sale investment securities and are reported in investments on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets with unrealized gains (losses) recorded in 
accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.



notes to consolidated financial statements
american express company  

85

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 84 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 85 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 85 opeRaToR PM2 

(b) The interest-only strip is accounted for at fair value and is reported in other 
assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets with changes in fair 
value recorded in securitization income, net in the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Income.

The Company partially adopted SFAS No. 157 as of 
January 1, 2008. SFAS No. 157 established a three-level 
hierarchy of valuation techniques used to measure fair value. 
Refer to Note 1 for additional discussion regarding each level 
in the fair value hierarchy as defined by SFAS No. 157. The 
Company classifies its subordinated securities and its interest-
only strip in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Company determines the fair value of its retained 
subordinated securities using discounted cash flow models. 
The discount rate used is based on an interest rate curve 
that is observable in the marketplace plus an unobservable 
credit spread commensurate with the risk of these securities 
and similar financial instruments. The Company classifies 
such securities in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because 
the applicable credit spreads are not observable due to the 
illiquidity in the market with respect to these securities and 
similar financial instruments.

The fair value of the interest-only strip is the present value of 
estimated future positive excess spread expected to be generated 
by the securitized loans over the estimated remaining life of those 
loans. Management utilizes certain estimates and assumptions to 
determine the fair value of the interest-only strip asset, including 
estimates for finance charge yield, credit losses, LIBOR (which 
determines future certificate interest costs), monthly payment 
rate and discount rate. On a quarterly basis, the Company 
compares the assumptions it uses in calculating the fair value of 
its interest-only strip to observable market data when available, 
and to historical trends. The interest-only strip is classified 
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy due to the significance 
of the unobservable inputs used in valuing this asset.

The following table presents the changes in fair value of the 
Company’s retained subordinated securities and its interest-
only strip during the year ended December 31, 2008: 

(Millions)

Investments- 
Retained  

Subordinated  
Securities

Other  
Assets-  

Interest- 
Only Strip

Beginning fair value $ 78 $ 223
Increases in securitized loans 1,250 71
Decreases in securitized loans — (42)
Total realized and unrealized losses (584)(a) (220)(b)

Ending fair value $ 744 $ 32

(a) Included in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.

(b) Included in securitization income, net.

Changes in the estimates and assumptions used may have a 
significant impact on the Company’s valuation of the retained 
interests. The key economic assumptions used in measuring 
the interest-only strip asset at the time of issuance as well as 

at December 31, 2008, and the sensitivity of the fair value to 
immediate 10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes in these 
assumptions are as follows (rates are per annum):

Interest-Only Strip

At time of issuance As of December 31, 2008

(Millions, except 
rates  per annum) 2008 2007 Assumptions

Impact on  
fair value 

of 10%  
adverse  

change(a)

Finance 
charge 
yield 13.5%-15.6% 15.8%-16.3% 13.8%-14.0% $(92.4)(b)

Expected 
credit losses 4.3%-5.8% 2.6%-4.3% 9.2%-10.2% $(63.1)(b)

LIBOR 2.7%-4.6% 5.0%-5.4% 0.8%-2.0% $   (7.8)
Monthly 

payment 
rate 23.8%-24.7% 24.6%-25.6% 23.5% $   (0.2)

Discount 
Rate  11.0%-12.0% 12.0% 19.4% $   (0.1)

(a) The impact on fair value of a 20 percent adverse change is approximately two 
times the impact of a 10 percent adverse change identified above.

(b) The fair value of the interest-only strip is $32 million as of December 31, 2008. 
Therefore, a 10 percent adverse change in the assumption would result in the 
fair value of the interest-only strip written down to zero.

The key assumptions and the sensitivity of the current year’s 
fair value of the retained subordinated securities to immediate 
10 percent and 20 percent adverse changes in these key 
assumptions are as follows:

Retained Subordinated Securities

(Millions, except  
rates per annum) Assumptions

Impact on fair 
value of 10% 

adverse change 

Impact on fair 
value of 20% 

adverse change

Discount rate 22.0%-32.6% $(45.0) $(85.4)
LIBOR 2.0%-2.5% $ (5.5) $ (10.9)

This sensitivity analysis does not represent management’s 
expectations of adverse changes in these assumptions but is 
provided as a hypothetical scenario to assess the sensitivity of 
the fair value of the retained subordinated interests to changes 
in key inputs. Management cannot extrapolate changes in fair 
value based on a 10 percent or 20 percent change in all key 
assumptions simultaneously in part because the relationship of 
the change in one assumption on the fair value of the retained 
interest is calculated independently from any change in another 
assumption. Changes in one factor may cause changes in 
another, which could magnify or offset the sensitivities.
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Other Disclosures
The table below summarizes cash flows received from the 
Lending Trust for the years ended December 31: 

 (Millions) 2008 2007
Proceeds from new securitizations  

during the period $ 9,619 $ 5,909
Proceeds from collections reinvested  

in revolving cardmember securitizations $78,164 $63,714
Servicing fees received $ 543 $ 425
Other cash f lows received on retained  

interests from interest-only strips $ 2,363 $ 2,407

The following table presents quantitative information about 
delinquencies, net credit losses, and components of securitized 
cardmember loans on a trust basis at December 31:

(Billions)

Total 
Principal 

Amount of 
Loans

Amount of  
Loans 30 

Days or 
More Past 

Due

Net  
Credit 

Write-offs 
During  

the Year

2008
Cardmember loans managed(a) $71.2 $3.3 $4.9
Less: Cardmember loans 

securitized 29.0 1.4 1.7
Cardmember loans  

on-balance sheet $42.2 $ 1.9 $3.2
2007
Cardmember loans managed $ 77.1 $2.1 $2.8
Less: Cardmember loans 

securitized 22.7 0.6 0.8
Cardmember loans  

on-balance sheet $54.4 $1.5 $2.0

(a) Excludes subordinated accrued interest receivable classified in other assets. 
Refer to Note 8.

on-balance sheet securitizations
The Company’s securitizations of cardmember receivables are 
accounted for as secured borrowings, rather than as qualifying 
sales, because the receivables are transferred to a non-qualifying 
special purpose entity, the American Express Issuance Trust (the 
Charge Trust). The Charge Trust is considered a variable interest 
entity and is consolidated by American Express Receivables 
Financing Corporation V, LLC, its primary beneficiary, which 
is in turn consolidated by the Company.

The cardmember receivables securitized through this entity 
are not accounted for as sold and continue to be reported as 
owned assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
The related securities issued to third-party investors are reported 
as long-term debt on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The Company, through its subsidiaries, is required 
to maintain an undivided, pro rata interest in the transferred 
cardmember receivables (seller’s interest) at a minimum level 
of 15 percent of the total receivables in the Charge Trust. If 
the seller’s interest was reduced below the 15 percent level, the 
Company would be required to add additional cardmember 

receivables to the Charge Trust. As of December 31, 2008, the 
amount of seller’s interest was approximately 32 percent of the 
total receivables in the Charge Trust.

The following table summarizes the total assets and 
liabilities held by the Charge Trust at December 31:

(Billions) 2008 2007
Assets $7.8 $9.0
Liabilities $5.0 $ 3.1

These receivables are available only for payment of the debt or other 
obligations issued or arising in the securitization transactions. For 
these assets, the carrying values approximate fair value because 
these are short-term in duration. The long-term debt is payable 
only out of collections on the underlying securitized assets. The 
fair value of these liabilities was $4.4 million and $3.2 million at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

trust triggers
Under the respective terms of the Lending Trust and the 
Charge Trust agreements, the occurrence of certain events 
could result in payment of trust expenses, establishment of 
reserve funds, or in a worst-case scenario, early amortization of 
investor certificates. 

The following table below presents key metrics reported by 
each trust at December 31, 2008:

Lending 
Trust

Charge 
Trust

Total trust excess spread rate,  
net – three months average 6.97%(a) 25.99%(b)

Floating rate series excess spread rate,  
net – three months average 6.85%(c) 26.25%(c)

Fixed rate series excess spread rate,  
net – three months average 5.20%(c) 25.00%(c)

(a) Total Trust Excess Spread Rate, net in the Lending Trust is the sum of 
the net cash flows of the (i) excess spread, net and (ii) issuer rate, as a 
percentage of the outstanding investors’ certificates. Excess spread, net is 
the net cash flows from interest and fee collections allocated to the investors’ 
interests after deducting the interest paid on investors’ certificates, credit 
losses, contractual servicing fees and other expenses. The deductions may 
be a greater amount than the collections, resulting in negative spread losses. 
Excess spread, net is reported by the Company in securitization income, net 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See above for the disclosure of 
excess spread, net. Issuer rate collections are a portion of monthly discount 
revenue that is earned and collected by the Company on new transactions by 
cardmembers that have their loans sold into the Lending Trust. These cash 
flows are available to pay monthly Lending Trust expense. The issuer rate is 
reported in discount revenue in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of 
Income.

(b) Total Trust Excess Spread Rate, net in the Charge Trust is the net cash 
flows from the discounted portion of principal collections allocated to the 
investors’ interests after deducting the interest paid on investors’ notes, credit 
losses, contractual servicing fees and other expenses, as a percentage of the 
outstanding investors’ notes.

(c) Rates are calculated based on a 30/360 annualization factor.
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In the event the excess spread, net in the Lending Trust becomes 
negative, and the issuer rate collections are utilized to pay 
Lending Trust expenses, this would be reflected as an expense 
in securitization income, net in the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Income and as a reduction of the Total Excess 
Spread Rate, net.

In the event the excess spread rate, net for a given fixed or 
floating rate series is reduced below certain levels for either the 
Lending Trust or the Charge Trust, certain triggering events 
occur, including:

•	 If the three-month average excess spread rate, net for a 
given fixed or floating rate series falls below five percent 
or four percent for the Lending Trust and Charge Trust, 
respectively, the affected Trust is required to fund a cash 
reserve account (from cash that would normally revert back 
to the Company through its subsidiaries) in increasing 
amounts from $6 million up to a maximum of approximately 
$2.0 billion for the Lending Trust and from $52 million up 
to maximum $207 million for the Charge Trust, depending 
on the fixed or floating rate series Total Trust Excess Spread 
Rate, net. During February 2009, for certain fixed rate series 
within the Lending Trust, a cash reserve account is required 
to be funded in the amount of $22 million of which a partial 
funding in the amount of $1.5 million is being recorded in 
other receivables on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The Company has rights to this cash, and it will only 
be used if this cash is required to help pay-off any outstanding 
principal or interest at maturity or in the event of an early 
amortization (see below). These fixed rate series, referred to 
above, will mature in 2009 and 2011, and it is expected that 
the cash in the cash reserve account will revert back to the 
Company upon maturity.

•	 If the three-month average excess spread rate, net for a given 
fixed or floating rate series for either Trust falls below zero 
percent, an early amortization of the affected Trust will 
occur. The applicable cash reserve account (see above) for 
each Trust is available to the investors if the collections from 
the securitized loans and receivables are insufficient to pay 
the principal balance of the investors’ notes and certificates.

•	 In the event of an early amortization of the Lending Trust, 
the lending receivable assets and investor certificates issued 
by the Lending Trust would revert to the Company’s balance 
sheet and the investor certificates would be required to be 
repaid over an approximate four month period, based on 
the estimated average life of the securitized loans. Although 
the repayment of the investor certificates is non-recourse 
to the Company, the Company would need an alternate 
source of funding for the lending receivables assets that, as 
a consequence of the early amortization, would revert to the 
Company’s balance sheet, as well as for lending receivables 
assets that would be generated in the future from the accounts 
that are the source of the reverted receivables.

•	 In the event of an early amortization of the Charge Trust, the 
underlying investor notes issued by the Charge Trust are required 
to be repaid over an approximate one month period, based on 
the estimated average life of the securitized receivables. 

With respect to both the Lending Trust and the Charge Trust, 
a decline in the actual or implied short-term credit rating of 
TRS below A-1/P-1 would trigger a requirement that TRS, 
as servicer, transfer collections on the securitized assets to 
investors on a daily, rather than a monthly, basis or make 
alternative arrangements with the rating agencies to allow 
TRS to continue to transfer collections on a monthly basis. 
Such alternative arrangements include obtaining appropriate 
guarantees for the performance of the payment and deposit 
obligations of TRS, as servicer. 
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note 7 
changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the three years ended December 31, were as 
follows:

Three Years Ended December 31,  
(Millions), net of tax(a)

Net  
Unrealized 

Gains (Losses)  
on Securities

Net 
Unrealized  

Gains 
(Losses)  

on 
Derivatives

Foreign  
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments

Net 
Unrealized 

Pension  
and Other 

Postretirement 
Benefit Costs

Minimum 
Pension  

Liability 
Adjustment

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Balances at December 31, 2005 $137 $ 143 $(400) $ — $(19) $(139)

Investment securities

Net unrealized securities gains 8 8

Reclassification for net realized gains (54) (54)

Other gains(b) 44 44

Derivatives

Net unrealized gains on cash f low hedges 42 42

Cash f low hedge gains reclassified to earnings (158) (158)

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Reclassification to earnings due to sale of foreign entities 110 110

Translation gains 215 215
Net losses related to hedges of investment in foreign  

operations (221) (221)

Pension and other postretirement benefit costs

Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158 (415) 19 (396)

Discontinued operations(c) (43) 74 (2) 29
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive  

(loss) income (45) (116) 178 (417) 19 (381)

Balances at December 31, 2006 92 27 (222) (417) — (520)

Investment securities

Net unrealized securities losses (80) (80)

Reclassification for net realized gains (5) (5)

Other losses(b) (47) (47)

Derivatives

Net unrealized losses on cash f low hedges (68) (68)

Cash f low hedge gains reclassified to earnings (30) (30)

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Reclassification to earnings due to sale of foreign 

entities 3 3

Translation gains 347 347
Net losses related to hedges of investment in foreign 

operations (380) (380)

Pension and other postretirement benefit costs

Annual valuation adjustment 239 239

Curtailment impact 18 18

Amortization of prior service cost and net actuarial loss 28 28

Discontinued operations(c) 52 (3) 4 53
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive  

(loss) income (80) (98) (33) 289 — 78
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Three Years Ended December 31,  
(Millions), net of tax(a)

Net  
Unrealized 

Gains (Losses)  
on Securities

Net 
Unrealized  

Gains 
(Losses)  

on 
Derivatives

Foreign  
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments

Net 
Unrealized 

Pension  
and Other 

Postretirement 
Benefit Costs

Minimum 
Pension  

Liability 
Adjustment

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Balances at December 31, 2007 $ 12 $ (71) $ (255) $(128) $ — $ (442)
Investment securities

Net unrealized securities losses (718) (718)
Reclassification for net realized gains (8) (8)

Derivatives
Net unrealized losses on cash f low hedges (170) (170)
Cash f low hedge losses reclassified to earnings 161 161

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Translation losses (1,102) (1,102)
Net gains related to hedges of investment in foreign 

operations 961 961
Pension and other postretirement benefit costs

Annual valuation adjustment (353) (353)
Curtailment/settlement impact 8 8
Amortization of prior service cost and net actuarial loss 16 16

Discontinued operations(c) 15 28 (2) 41
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive income 

(loss) (711) (9) (113) (331) — (1,164)
Balances at December 31, 2008 $(699) $ (80) $ (368) $(459) $ — $(1,606)

(a) The following table shows the tax impact for the three years ended December 31, for the changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss):

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Investment securities $(472) $ (84) $ (4)
Derivatives (4) (56) (61)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (66) 17 (28)
Pension and other postretirement benefit costs (159) 152 (209)
Minimum pension liability adjustment — — 10
Discontinued operations(c) 16 29 16
Total tax impact $(685) $ 58 $(276)

(b) Other gains (losses) primarily related to the impact of changes in the fair market value of the interest-only strip for year 2006. In connection with the initial 
adoption of SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments – an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140” (SFAS No. 155), as 
of January 1, 2007, the Company recognized a gain of $80 million ($50 million after-tax) related to the fair value of the interest-only strip, which was recorded in 
other comprehensive income (loss) in previous periods. Changes in the fair value of the interest-only strip subsequent to the adoption of this standard are reflected 
in securitization income, net.

(c) Relates to the change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) prior to the dispositions of AEB and AEIDC.
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note 8 
other assets 
The following is a summary of other assets at December 31: 

(Millions) 2008 2007
Deferred tax assets, net $ 3,470 $2,411
Goodwill 2,301 1,508
Derivative assets 1,743 247
Prepaid expenses(a) 1,712 618
Subordinated accrued interest receivable(b) 807 —
Other intangible assets, at amortized cost 717 204
Restricted cash 238 276
Other 1,619 2,084
Total $12,607 $7,348

(a) Includes $890 million of Delta Miles purchased in connection with the renegotiated contract with Delta Air Lines. The Delta Miles are subject to certain 
restrictions and will be expensed as used in the future.

(b) Subordinated accrued interest receivable was reclassified from cardmember loans prospectively beginning in the first quarter 2008. The balance included in cardmember loans 
at December 31, 2007 was $630 million.

goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill reported in the Company’s reportable operating segments were as follows. During 
2007 and 2008, no goodwill was written off due to impairment. 

(Millions) USCS ICS GCS GNMS
Corporate 

& Other Total 

Balance at January 1, 2007 $168 $518 $ 740 $ 27 $16 $1,469
Acquisitions 7 — 19 — — 26
Other, including foreign currency translation 

and reclassifications — 1 12 — — 13
Balance at December 31, 2007 175 519 771 27 16 1,508
Acquisitions(a) — — 828 — — 828
Dispositions — — (1) — — (1)
Other, including foreign currency translation — (10) (25) 1 — (34)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $175 $509 $1,573 $ 28 $16 $2,301

(a) Includes approximately $818 million related to the acquisition of General Electric Company’s commercial card and corporate purchasing business. Refer to Note 
2 for further discussion. 

other intangible assets
The components of other intangible assets were as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Gross 

Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net  
Carrying 
Amount

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net  
Carrying 
Amount

Customer relationships $744 $(135) $609 $187 $ (78) $109
Other 160 (52) 108 137 (42) 95
Total $904 $(187) $717 $324 $(120) $204
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The gross changes in the carrying values and accumulated amortization related to other intangible assets, which are all definite lived, were as follows:

2008 2007

(Millions)

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net  
Carrying 
Amount

Gross  
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net  
Carrying 
Amount

Balance at January 1 $324 $(120) $204 $ 341 $(185) $ 156
Acquisitions(a) 604 — 604 93 — 93
Amortization(b) — (83) (83) — (47) (47)
Other(c) (24) 16 (8) (110) 112 2
Balance at December 31 $904 $(187) $717 $ 324 $(120) $ 204

(a) Includes approximately $218 million and $265 million, related to the acquisition of CPS from General Electric Company as discussed in Note 2 and a corporate 
signing bonus payment made in connection with the renegotiated contract with Delta Air Lines, respectively. Intangible assets acquired in 2008 and 2007 are being 
amortized, on average, over 8 years and 16 years, respectively.

(b) 2006 amortization expense was $60 million.

(c) Primarily includes the write-off of fully amortized intangible assets and foreign currency translation.

Estimated amortization expense for other intangible assets over the next five years is as follows:

(Millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Estimated amortization expense $126 $117 $100 $92 $83

The Company has $141 million and $114 million in affordable 
housing partnership interests at December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively, included in other assets in the table above. The 
Company is a limited partner and typically has a less than 50 
percent interest in the affordable housing partnerships. These 
partnership interests are accounted for in accordance with the 
following accounting pronouncements, (i) FASB Interpretation 
No. 46(R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, (ii) 

EITF No. 94-01, “Accounting for Tax Benefits Resulting from 
Investments in Affordable Housing Projects”, and (iii) the 
related accounting guidance of Statement of Position No. 78-9, 
“Accounting Investments in Real Estate Ventures”, EITF Topic 
D-46, “Accounting for Limited Partnership Investments”, and 
EITF No. 04-5, “Determining Whether a General Partner, or the 
General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or 
Similar Entity When the Limited Partners have Certain Rights.”
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At December 31, 2008 and 2007, time deposits in denominations 
of $100,000 or more were as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
U.S. $ 894 $11,187
Non-U.S. 153 1,124
Total $ 1,047 $12,311

The scheduled maturities of all time deposits at December 31, 
2008 are as follows:

(Millions) U.S. Non-U.S. Total

2009(a) $4,755 $669 $5,424
2010 976 115 1,091
2011 454 — 454
2012 — — —

2013 884 — 884
After 5 years — — —
Total $7,069 $784 $7,853

(a) Includes the U.S. and Non-U.S. time deposits in denominations of $100,000 
or more of $894 million and $153 million, respectively.

note 9 
customer deposits
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, customer deposits were split 
between interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing deposits as 
follows: 

(Millions) 2008 2007
U.S. offices:

Interest-bearing ($14,069 at fair  
value at December 31, 2008) $14,377 $13,279

Non-interest-bearing 23 45
Non-U.S. offices:

Interest-bearing ($1,029 at fair value at 
December 31, 2008) 1,072 2,050

Non-interest-bearing 14 23
Total customer deposits $15,486 $15,397

The customer deposits are aggregated by deposit type offered 
by the Company at December 31, 2008 and 2007, as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Retail:

Cash sweep accounts $ 7,123 $ 2,106
CDs 6,232 —

Institutional 837 10,928
Others 1,294 2,363
Total customer deposits $15,486 $15,397

note 10 
debt
short-term borrowings
The Company’s short-term borrowings outstanding, defined as debt with original maturities of less than one year, at December 31, 
was as follows:

(Millions, except percentages) 2008 2007

Outstanding 
Balance

Year-End 
Stated 

Rate on 
Debt(a)

Year-End 
Effective 

Interest 
Rate with 
Swaps(a)(b)

Outstanding 
Balance

Year-End 
Stated 

Rate on 
Debt(a)

Year-End 
Effective 

Interest 
Rate with 
Swaps(a)(b)

Commercial paper(c) $7,272 2.20% — $10,490 4.36% 4.33%
Federal funds purchased and securities sold  

under agreements to repurchase 470 1.30% — 2,434 4.98% —
Other short-term borrowings(d) 1,251 1.90% 1.88% 4,837 4.83% —
Total $8,993 2.11% $17,761 4.57%

(a) For floating rate debt issuances, the stated and effective interest rates are based on the floating rates in effect at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. These 
rates may not be indicative of future interest rates.

(b) Effective interest rates are only presented if swaps are in place to hedge the underlying debt at the respective year-end.

(c) Includes $4.5 billion of commercial paper purchased by the Federal Reserve Bank’s Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) through the Commercial Paper Funding 
Facility (CPFF) at December 31, 2008. The Company is permitted to issue up to a maximum of $14.7 billion to the SPV that was created for this purpose. The 
facility will mature in October 2009.

(d) Other short-term borrowings include $313 million related to borrowings with a discontinued operation (AEB) at December 31, 2007, and interest bearing 
overdrafts with banks of $669 million and $463 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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long-term debt
The Company’s outstanding long-term debt with original maturities of one year or greater, at December 31, was as follows:

(Millions, except percentages) 2008 2007

Maturity  
Dates

Outstanding 
Balance(a)

Year-End 
Stated 

Rate on 
Debt(b)

Year-End 
Effective 

Interest 
Rate with 
Swaps(b)(c)

Outstanding 
Balance(a)

Year-End 
Stated 

Rate on 
Debt(b)

Year-End 
Effective 

Interest 
Rate with 
Swaps(b)(c)

American Express Company 
(Parent Company only) 

Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 2009–2038 $ 7,182 6.29% 5.53% $ 5,996 5.40% —
Subordinated Debentures(d) 2036 750 6.80% — 750 6.80% —
American Express Travel Related 

Services Company, Inc.
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 2009–2011 2,000 4.09% 4.98% 2,000 4.93% 4.98%
American Express Credit 

Corporation 
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 2009–2017 17,490 3.85% 3.28% 19,118 4.99% 4.98%
Borrowings under Bank Credit Facilities 2012 2,506 4.56% 4.88% 3,146 7.34% 7.09%
American Express Centurion Bank 
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 2009–2017 9,587 2.58% 1.97% 11,099 5.25% 5.14%
American Express Bank, FSB 
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 2009–2017 15,402 2.88% 2.28% 9,909 5.23% 5.13%
American Express Receivables 

Financing Corporation V LLC 
Fixed and Floating Rate Senior Notes 2010–2012 4,826 2.17% — 2,976 5.19% —
Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2010–2012 144 1.63% — 144 5.67% —
Other 
Fixed and Floating Rate Notes(e) 2009–2014 154 6.79% — 147 6.53% —
Total $60,041 3.63% $55,285 5.30%

(a) The outstanding balances reflect the impact of fair value hedge accounting whereby certain fixed rate notes have been swapped to floating rate through the use 
of interest rate swaps and are marked to market, as is the associated swap that is reported as a derivative asset or liability. In 2008 and 2007, the effect of these 
adjustments was $1.0 billion and $0.1 billion, respectively. Refer to Note 14 for more details on the Company’s treatment of fair value hedges. 

(b) For floating rate debt issuances, the stated and effective interest rates are based on the floating rates in effect at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. These 
rates may not be indicative of future interest rates.

(c) Effective interest rates are only presented when swaps are in place to hedge the underlying debt at the respective year-end. 

(d) The maturity date will automatically be extended to September 1, 2066, except in the case of (a) a prior redemption or (b) a default related to the debentures. 

(e) Includes $89 million and $90 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, related to a sale-leaseback transaction completed in 2004. 
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Through its subsidiaries, American Express Bank, FSB (FSB) 
and American Express Centurion Bank (Centurion Bank), the 
Company was approved to issue an aggregate maximum of $13.3 
billion of guaranteed debentures under the Federal Depository 
Insurance Corporation’s (FDIC’s) Temporary Liquidity 
Guarantee Program (TLGP), which provides a FDIC guarantee 
for newly-issued senior unsecured debt. At December 31, 2008, 
the Company had $5.9 billion outstanding of senior notes issued 
through the program, comprised of $750 million of two-year 
floating rate notes, $1.7 billion of three-year floating rate notes, 
and $3.5 billion of three-year fixed rate notes. 

At December 31, 2008, the Parent Company had 
$750 million principal outstanding of Subordinated Debentures 
that accrue interest at an annual rate of 6.80 percent until 
September 1, 2016, and at an annual rate of three-month 
LIBOR plus 2.23 percent thereafter. At the Company’s option, 
the Subordinated Debentures are redeemable for cash after 
September 1, 2016 at 100 percent of the principal amount plus 

any accrued but unpaid interest. If the Company fails to achieve 
specified performance measures, it will be required to issue its 
common shares and apply the net proceeds to make interest 
payments on the Subordinated Debentures. No dividends on 
the Company’s common or preferred shares could be paid until 
such interest payments are made. The Company would fail to 
meet these specific performance measures if: (i) the Company’s 
tangible common equity is less than 4 percent of total adjusted 
assets for the most recent quarter or (ii) if the trailing two 
quarters’ consolidated net income is equal to or less than zero 
and tangible common equity as of the trigger determination 
date and as of the end of the quarter end six months prior, has 
in each case declined by 10 percent or more from the tangible 
common equity as of the end of the quarter 18 months prior to 
the trigger determination date. The Company met the specified 
performance measures in 2008.

At December 31, 2008, the Company was not in violation 
of any of its debt covenants. 

Aggregate annual maturities on long-term debt obligations (based on final maturity dates) at December 31, 2008, were as follows:

(Millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total 

American Express Company (Parent Company only) $ 500 $ — $ 399 $ — $ 997 $6,036 $ 7,932
American Express Travel Related Services  

Company, Inc. 800 — 1,200 — — — 2,000
American Express Credit Corporation 5,193 3,361 1,754 3,999 5,142 547 19,996
American Express Centurion Bank 4,750 2,227 — 1,233 — 1,377 9,587
American Express Bank, FSB 3,665 1,805 5,165 1,633 1,836 1,298 15,402
American Express Receivables Financing  

Corporation V LLC — 3,410 — 1,560 — — 4,970
Other 40 17 8 — — 89 154
Total $14,948 $10,820 $8,526 $8,425 $7,975 $9,347 $60,041

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company maintained 
total bank lines of credit of $11.2 billion and $12.4 billion, 
respectively. Of the total credit lines, $8.7 billion and $9.0 billion 
were unutilized, and of these unutilized amounts, $7.9 billion 
and $8.2 billion supported commercial paper borrowings at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company pays 
commitment fees to maintain lines of credit; for the year ended 
December 31, 2008, these fees totaled $6 million. 

The Company paid total interest primarily related to short- 
and long-term debt, corresponding interest rate swaps and 
customer deposits of $3.5 billion, $3.7 billion, and $2.8 billion 
in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
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note 11 
other liabilities 
The following is a summary of other liabilities at December 31: 

(Millions) 2008 2007
Membership Rewards liabilities $ 4,643 $ 4,785
Employee-related liabilities(a) 2,026 1,887
Deferred charge card fees, net 1,041 1,030
Other(b) 6,882 6,105
Total $14,592 $13,807

(a) Employee-related liabilities include employee benefit plan obligations and 
incentive compensation.

(b) Other includes accruals for rebates, advertising and promotion, derivatives, 
restructuring and reengineering reserves, and minority interest in 
subsidiaries.

deferred charge card fees
The carrying amount of deferred charge card and other fees, 
net of direct acquisition costs and reserves for membership 
cancellations as of December 31 were as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Deferred charge card and other fees $1,233 $1,211
Deferred direct acquisition costs (78) (79)
Reserves for membership cancellations (114) (102)
Deferred charge card fees and other, net of 

direct acquisition costs and reserves $1,041 $1,030

note 12 
 common and preferred 
shares
At December 31, 2008, the Company has 100 million common 
shares remaining under the share repurchase authorizations. 
Such authorizations do not have an expiration date, and at 
present, there is no intention to modify or otherwise rescind 
the current authorizations. 

Common shares are retired by the Company upon repurchase 
(except for 372,383 and 500,000 shares held as treasury shares 
at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively), and excluded 
from the shares outstanding in the table below. There were no 
shares held in treasury as of December 31, 2006.

The following table shows authorized shares and provides a 
reconciliation of common shares issued and outstanding:

(Millions, except where indicated) 2008 2007 2006
Common shares authorized (billions) (a) 3.6 3.6 3.6
Shares issued and outstanding at 

beginning of year 1,158 1,199 1,241
Repurchases of common shares (5) (60) (75)
Acquisition of Harbor Payments — — 2
Other, primarily stock option exercises 7 19 31
Shares issued and outstanding at end 

of year 1,160 1,158 1,199

(a) Of the common shares authorized but unissued at December 31, 2008, 
approximately 143 million shares were reserved for issuance for employee 
stock, employee benefit and dividend reinvestment plans.

The Board of Directors is authorized to permit the Company  
to issue up to 20 million preferred shares at a par value of $1.66 
2/3 without further shareholder approval. At December 31, 2008  
and 2007, no preferred shares had been issued. 

On January 9, 2009, the Company participated in the United 
States Department of Treasury’s Capital Purchase Program 
(CPP), and issued 3,388,890 shares of the Company’s Fixed 
Rate Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series A, to the 
Treasury Department. Refer to Note 27 for further discussion.

note 13 
regulatory matters and 
capital adequacy
As previously discussed, the Company became a bank holding 
company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 
during the fourth quarter of 2008. At that time, the Federal 
Reserve became the Company’s primary federal regulator 
and the Company became subject to the Federal Reserve’s 
requirements for risk-based capital and leverage ratios. 

The Federal Reserve’s guidelines for capital adequacy define 
two categories of risk-based capital: Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 
capital. Tier 1 capital, as it applies to the Company, is comprised 
of shareholders’ equity less goodwill and other adjustments. Tier 
2 capital, as it applies to the Company, consists of the aggregate 
allowance for credit losses up to a certain percentage of risk-
weighted assets, and a portion of any unrealized gains of equity 
securities. Under the risk-based capital guidelines of the Federal 
Reserve, the Company is required to maintain minimum ratios 
of Tier 1 and Total (Tier 1 plus Tier 2) capital to risk weighted 
assets, as well as minimum leverage ratios (which are defined 
as Tier 1 capital to average adjusted on-balance sheets assets). 
Failure to meet these minimum requirements could cause the 
Federal Reserve Board to take action. 
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The following table presents the risk–based capital ratios for the Company and its significant banking subsidiaries at December 31, 2008:

(Millions, except percentages)
Well-capitalized 

ratios(c)

Minimum capital 
ratios(c)

American 
Express Company

American Express 
Centurion Bank

American 
Express Bank, FSB(f)

Tier 1 capital $10,087 $3,029 $3,415
Total capital $11,610 $3,386 $3,767
Tier 1 capital ratio 6.0% 4.0% 9.7% 12.3% 12.7%
Total capital ratio 10.0% 8.0% 11.1% 13.7% 14.0%
Tier 1 leverage ratio(a)(b) 5.0%(d) 4.0%(e) 8.5% 13.2% 12.2 %

(a)  Average adjusted assets for purposes of calculating the leverage ratio include total average assets for most recent quarter adjusted for unrealized gains/losses on debt 
securities less deductions for disallowed goodwill and other intangible assets that are subject to deductions from Tier 1 capital. 

(b) American Express Bank, FSB leverage ratio represents Tier 1 core capital ratio, calculated similarly to Tier 1 leverage ratio. 

(c) As defined by the regulations issued by the Federal Reserve Board, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC), OTS and FDIC.

(d) Represents requirements for banking subsidiaries pursuant to regulations issued under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act. There is no 
Tier 1 leverage component in the definition of a well-capitalized bank holding company.

(e) The minimum Tier 1 leverage ratio for bank holding companies and banks is 3 percent or 4 percent depending on factors specified in regulations issued by the 
Federal Reserve Board and OCC.

(f ) Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company infused $500 million of additional capital into FSB.

As previously discussed, the Company participated in 
the CPP on January 9, 2009, which will increase its  
Tier 1 capital by $3.39 billion effective that date and not 
reflected in the capital ratios presented above. Refer to Note 27 
for further discussion.

Restricted Net Assets of Subsidiaries
Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are subject to restrictions 
on the transfer of net assets under debt agreements and 
regulatory requirements. These restrictions have not had any 
effect on the Company’s shareholder dividend policy and 
management does not anticipate any impact in the future. 
Procedures exist to transfer net assets between the Company 
and its subsidiaries, while ensuring compliance with the various 
contractual and regulatory constraints. At December 31, 2008, 
the aggregate amount of net assets of subsidiaries that may not 
be transferred to American Express’ Parent Company (Parent 
Company) was approximately $7 billion. 

The Company was not previously required to calculate risk-
based capital ratios or a leverage ratio. The methodology of 
calculating these ratios may be refined over time.

The Company’s two U.S. Bank operating subsidiaries, 
Centurion Bank and FSB, are subject to various regulatory 
capital requirements of the FDIC and the Office of Thrift 

Supervision (OTS). Failure to meet minimum capital 
requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possibly 
additional, discretionary actions by regulators, that, if 
undertaken could have a direct material effect on Centurion 
Bank and FSB’s financial statements.

Bank Holding Company Dividend Restrictions
As a bank holding company, the Company is limited in its 
ability to pay dividends by its regulators who could prohibit 
a dividend that would be considered an unsafe or unsound 
banking practice. It is the policy of the Federal Reserve that 
bank holding companies should generally pay dividends on 
common stock only out of earnings, and only if prospective 
earnings retention is consistent with the organization’s expected 
future needs, asset quality, and financial condition. Moreover, 
bank holding companies should not maintain dividend levels 
that undermine a company’s ability to be a source of strength 
to its banking subsidiaries. The Federal Reserve has indicated 
that bank holding companies should carefully review their 
dividend policy and has discouraged dividend pay-out ratios 
that are at 100 percent unless both asset quality and capital are 
very strong.
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note 14 
derivatives and hedging 
activities 
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to 
manage exposure to various market risks, such as changes in 
benchmark interest rates and foreign exchange rates. These 
instruments enable end users to increase, reduce, or alter 
exposure to various market risks and, for that reason, are an 
integral component of the Company’s market risk and related 
asset/liability management strategy and processes. Overall 
market risk exposures are monitored and managed by the  
Market Risk Committee, guided by Board-approved 
policies covering derivative financial instruments, funding, 
and investments. 

For the Company’s charge card and fixed-rate lending 
products, interest rate exposure is managed by using fixed-
rate debt. For the majority of its cardmember loans, which are 
linked to a floating rate base and generally reprice each month, 
the Company uses floating rate funding. The Company uses 
derivative instruments, primarily interest rate swaps, to achieve 
a targeted mix of fixed and floating rate funding. The Company 
regularly reviews its strategy and may modify it based on 
market conditions.

fair value measurements
The fair value of the Company’s derivatives is estimated 
by using pricing models that do not contain a high level of 
subjectivity as the valuation techniques used do not require 
significant judgment and inputs to those models are readily 
observable from actively quoted markets. The valuation models 
used by the Company are consistently applied and reflect the 
contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period of 
maturity, and market-based parameters such as interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates, equity indices or prices, and volatility.

In certain instances, credit valuation adjustments are 
necessary when the market parameters (for example, a 
benchmark curve) used to value derivatives is not indicative 
of the credit quality of the company or its counterparties. The 
Company considers the counterparty credit risk by applying an 
observable forecasted default rate to the current exposure.

The Company manages derivative counterparty credit risk 
by considering the current exposure, which is the replacement 
cost of contracts on the measurement date, as well as estimating 
the maximum potential value of the contracts over the next 
twelve months, considering such factors as the volatility of the 
underlying or reference index. To mitigate derivative credit risk, 
counterparties are required to be pre-approved and rated as 
investment grade. Counterparty risk exposures are monitored 
by the Company’s Institutional Risk Management Committee 
(IRMC). The IRMC formally reviews large institutional 
exposures to ensure compliance with the Company’s Enterprise-
wide Risk Management Committee guidelines and procedures 
and determines the risk mitigation actions, when necessary. 
Additionally, the Company may, on occasion, enter into master 
netting agreements. 

As of December 31, 2008, the credit and nonperformance 
risks associated with the Company’s derivative counterparties 
were not significant.

The following table summarizes the total fair value, excluding interest accruals, of derivative product assets and liabilities at December 31:

(Millions) 2008 (a) 2007
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Cash f low hedges $ — $125 $ 11 $122
Fair value hedges 1,072 — 114 —
Net investment hedges 535 165 62 2
Derivatives not designated as hedges 136 154 60 46
Total fair value, excluding interest accruals(b) $1,743 $444 $247 $170

(a) SFAS No. 157 was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2008. The fair values of the Company’s derivative instruments are classified within Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 

(b) Financial Interpretation No. 39, “Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts” (FIN 39), permits the netting of derivative assets and derivative liabilities 
when a legally enforceable master netting agreement exists between the Company and its derivative counterparty. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, $39 million and 
$8 million, respectively, of derivative assets and liabilities have been offset and represents the impact of legally enforceable master netting agreements that provide 
for the net settlement of all contracts in accordance with FIN 39. 
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The following table summarizes the income effects of derivatives for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Cash f low hedges, net of tax(a)

Ineffective net losses $ — $ (1) $ (1)
Gains on forecasted transactions no longer probable to occur $ — $ — $ 4
Reclassification of realized (losses) gains from other comprehensive loss $(161) $ 30 $ 158

Fair value hedges, net of tax(a)

Ineffective net losses $ 45 $ — $ (1)

Net investment hedges, net of tax:
Ineffective net gains $ 2 $ — $ —
Reclassification of loss from cumulative translation adjustment as a result of sales of foreign entities $ — $ (3) $(110)(b)

(a) There were no (losses) gains due to exclusion of any component of derivative instruments from the assessment of hedge effectiveness for 2008, 2007 and 2006.

(b) Represents the sale of Brazil and certain other dispositions.

cash flow hedges 
A cash flow hedge is a derivative designated to hedge the 
exposure of variable future cash flows attributable to a particular 
risk of an existing recognized asset or liability, or a forecasted 
transaction. The Company hedges existing long-term variable-
rate debt, the rollover of short-term borrowings and the 
anticipated forecasted issuance of additional funding through 
the use of derivative instruments, primarily interest rate swaps. 
These derivative instruments effectively convert floating rate 
debt to a fixed rate debt for the duration of the swap. 

In the normal course of business, as derivatives mature, the 
Company expects to reclassify $87 million of net pretax losses on 
derivative instruments from accumulated other comprehensive 
(loss) income to earnings during the next 12 months. 

Currently, the longest period of time over which the 
Company is hedging exposure to variability in future cash flows 
for forecasted transactions is approximately one year, which is 
related to certificate of deposits. 

fair value hedges 
A fair value hedge is a derivative designated to hedge the 
exposure of future changes in the fair value of an asset or a 
liability, or an identified portion thereof that is attributable to 
a particular risk. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk 
associated with its fixed-rate long-term debt. The Company 
uses interest rate swaps to convert certain fixed-rate long-term 
debt to floating rate at the time of issuance. 

If the fair value hedge is fully effective, the gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument would exactly offset the loss or gain on 
the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. Any difference 
between the changes in the fair value of the derivatives and 
the hedged item is referred to as hedge ineffectiveness. Hedge 
ineffectiveness may be caused by differences between the 
interest coupon and the benchmark rate, primarily due to credit 
spreads at inception of the hedging relationship, which are not 
economically reflected in the terms of the interest rate swap.

net investment hedges
A net investment hedge in a foreign operation is a derivative 
used to hedge future changes in currency exposure of a net 
investment in a foreign operation. The Company designates 
foreign currency derivatives, primarily forward agreements, as 
hedges of net investments in certain foreign operations. These 
derivatives reduce exposure to changes in currency exchange 
rates on the Company’s investments in non-U.S. subsidiaries. 

derivatives not designated as hedges 
The Company has derivatives that act as economic hedges 
and that either do not qualify or are not designated for hedge 
accounting treatment. Foreign currency transactions and non-
U.S. dollar cash flow exposures may from time to time be 
partially or fully economically hedged through foreign currency 
contracts, primarily forward contracts, foreign currency 
options, and cross-currency swaps. These hedges generally 
mature within one year. Foreign currency contracts involve the 
purchase and sale of a designated currency at an agreed upon 
rate for settlement on a specified date. The changes in the fair 
value of the derivative instrument effectively offset the related 
foreign exchange gains or losses on the underlying balance sheet 
exposures. From time to time, the Company may enter into 
interest rate swaps to specifically manage funding costs related 
to its proprietary card business. The following table provides the 
total fair value, excluding accruals, of these derivative product 
assets and liabilities as of December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Foreign currency 
transactions $127 $134 $31 $38

Interest rate swaps $ 9 $ 20 $29 $ 8
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note 15 
guarantees
The Company provides cardmember protection plans that cover 
losses associated with purchased products, as well as certain other 
guarantees in the ordinary course of business that are within the 
scope of FASB Financial Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s 
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, 
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 
45). For the Company, FIN 45 guarantees primarily consist of 
card and travel protection programs, including:

•	 Credit Card Registry – cancels and requests replacement of 
lost or stolen cards, and provides for fraud liability coverage;

•	 Return Protection – refunds the price of eligible purchases 
made with the card where the merchant will not accept the 
return for up to 90 days from the date of purchase; 

•	 Account Protection – provides account protection in the 
event that a cardmember is unable to make payments on the 
account due to unforeseen hardship; and, 

•	 Merchant Protection – protects cardmembers against billing 
disputes with the merchant, primarily for non-delivery of 
goods and services (i.e., usually in the event of bankruptcy 
or liquidation of the merchant. In the event that a dispute is 
resolved in the cardmember’s favor, the Company will credit 
the cardmember account for the amount of the purchase and 
will seek recovery from the merchant. If the Company is 
unable to collect the amount from the merchant, it will bear 
the loss for the amount credited to the cardmember.)

In relation to its maximum amount of undiscounted payments 
as seen below, to date the Company has not experienced any 
significant losses related to its FIN 45 guarantees.

The Company’s initial recognition of guarantees within 
the scope of FIN 45 is at fair market value, which has been 
determined in accordance with the fair value measurement 
provisions of SFAS No. 157. 

The following table provides information related to such 
guarantees at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:

Maximum amount 
of undiscounted 

future payments(a) 
(Billions)

Amount of related 
liability(b) 

 (Millions)

Type of Guarantee 2008 2007 2008 2007 

Card and travel operations(c) $69 $70 $ 99 $ 64
Other(d) 1 1 93 44
Total $70 $71 $192 $108

(a) Represents the notional amounts that could be lost under the guarantees 
and indemnifications if there were a total default by the guaranteed parties. 
The Merchant Protection guarantee is calculated using management’s best 
estimate of maximum exposure based on all eligible claims as measured 
against annual billed business volumes.

(b) Included as part of other liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. The increase in the liability from December 31, 2007 to 
December 31, 2008, results substantially from guarantees related to the 
Company’s business dispositions and an increase in merchant protection-
related reserves primarily related to the airline industry.

(c) Includes Credit Card Registry, Return Protection, Account Protection and 
Merchant Protection, which the Company offers directly to cardmembers. 
The Company generally has no collateral or other recourse provisions related 
to these guarantees.

(d) Other primarily includes guarantees related to the Company’s business 
dispositions, real estate, and tax, as well as contingent consideration obligations.

note 16 
commitments and 
contingencies
The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in a number 
of legal and arbitration proceedings, including class actions, 
concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct of 
their respective business activities. The Company believes it 
has meritorious defenses to each of these actions and intends 
to defend them vigorously. In the course of its business, the 
Company and its subsidiaries are also subject to governmental 
examinations, information gathering requests, subpoenas, 
inquiries, and investigations. The Company believes that it 
is not a party to, nor are any of its properties the subject of, 
any pending legal, arbitration, regulatory, tax or investigative 
proceedings that would have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s consolidated financial condition or liquidity. 
However, it is possible that the outcome of any such proceedings 
could have a material impact on results of operations in any 
particular reporting period as the proceedings are resolved.

visa and mastercard settlements
On November 7, 2007 and June 25, 2008, as previously 
disclosed, the Company announced that it had reached 
settlement agreements with Visa and MasterCard, respectively. 
Under the terms of the settlement agreements, the Company 
will receive aggregate maximum payments of $4.05 billion. 
The settlement with Visa comprised an initial payment of 
$1.13 billion ($700 million after-tax) that was recorded as 
a gain in the fourth quarter of 2007. Having met quarterly 
performance criteria, the Company recognized $70 million 
($43 million after-tax) from Visa in each of the four quarters of 
2008 and $150 million ($93 million after-tax) from MasterCard 
in the third and fourth quarters of 2008. The remaining Visa 
and MasterCard quarterly payments, subject to the Company 
achieving certain quarterly performance criteria continue 
through the fourth and second quarters of 2011, respectively, 
and are included in other, net expenses within the Corporate 
& Other segment.
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The Company also has contingent obligations to make 
payments under contractual agreements entered into as part 
of the ongoing operation of the Company’s business, primarily 
with co-brand partners. The contingent obligations under 
such arrangements were approximately $6.1 billion as of 
December 31, 2008.

The Company leases certain facilities and equipment under 
noncancelable and cancelable agreements. Total rental expense 
amounted to $337 million, $300 million, and $297 million in 
2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2008, the 
minimum aggregate rental commitment under all noncancelable 
operating leases (net of subleases of $15 million) was: 

(Millions)

2009 $ 254
2010 233
2011 191
2012 166
2013 152
Thereafter 1,526
Total $2,522

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s future minimum lease 
payments under capital leases or other similar arrangements is 
approximately $11 million per annum from 2009 through 2013 
and $62 million thereafter.

note 17 
fair values of financial 
instruments 
SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial 
Instruments” (SFAS No. 107), requires the disclosure of the 
estimated fair value of financial instruments. A financial 
instrument is defined as cash, evidence of an ownership in an 
entity, or a contract between two entities to deliver cash or another 
financial instrument or to exchange other financial instruments. 
The disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 107 exclude leases, 
affiliate investments, pension and benefit obligations, insurance 
contracts, and all non-financial instruments.

The following table discloses fair value information for the 
Company’s financial instrument assets and liabilities, included 
in the scope of SFAS No. 107, as of December 31:

(Rounded to nearest billion) 2008 2007
Carrying 

Value
Fair 

Value
Carrying 

Value
Fair 

Value 

Financial Instrument Assets:
Assets for which carrying values 

equal or approximate fair value $73 $73 $65 $ 66
Loans $41 $41 $53 $ 54

Financial Instrument Liabilities:
Liabilities for which carrying 

values equal or approximate fair 
value $45 $44 $53 $ 53

Long-term debt $60 $56 $55 $ 54

The fair values of these financial instruments are estimates 
based upon market conditions and perceived risks as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and require management 
judgment. These figures may not be indicative of their future 
fair values. The fair value of the Company cannot be estimated 
by aggregating the amounts presented. 

The following methods were used to determine estimated 
fair values. 

financial instrument assets for which 
carrying values equal or approximate 
fair value
Financial assets for which carrying values equal or approximate 
fair values include cash and cash equivalents, cardmember 
receivables, accrued interest, and certain other assets. For these 
assets, the carrying values approximate fair value because these 
are short-term in duration or variable rate in nature. 

Investments
Investments are recorded at fair value on the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets with unrealized gains and losses recorded in 
accumulative other comprehensive income (loss) or earnings 
depending upon the classification of securities as available-for-
sale or trading. The recognized gains and losses are recognized 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income upon disposition of 
the securities or when management determines that a decline 
in value is other-than-temporary. Refer to Note 5 for carrying 
and fair value information regarding investments. 

Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, with gains and losses recognized 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income or Consolidated 
Balance Sheets based upon the nature of the derivative. Refer 
to Note 14 for fair value information regarding derivative 
financial instruments. 
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Interest-Only Strip
The interest-only strip is also recorded at fair value on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, with gains and losses recognized 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Refer to Note 6 for 
additional information regarding the interest-only strip. 

loans
For the Company’s loans, the principal market is assumed 
to be the securitization market, and the Company uses the 
hypothetical securitization price to determine the fair value 
of the portfolio. The securitization price is determined from 
the assumed proceeds of the hypothetical securitization in the 
current market, adjusted for securitization uncertainties such as 
the market conditions and liquidity.

financial instrument liabilities 
for which carrying values equal or 
approximate fair value
Financial liabilities for which carrying values equal or 
approximate fair values include accrued interest, customer 
deposits, Travelers Cheques outstanding, short-term 
borrowings, and certain other liabilities. For these liabilities, 
the carrying values approximate fair value because these are 
short-term in duration, variable rate in nature, or have no 
defined maturity. 

long-term debt 
For long-term debt, fair value is estimated using either quoted 
market prices or discounted cash flows based on the Company’s 
current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing. For 
variable-rate long-term debt that reprices within one year, fair 
value approximates carrying value.

Refer to Note 15 for discussion of carrying and fair value 
information regarding guarantees.

note 18 
significant credit  
concentrations 
Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic, 
industry or geographic factors similarly affect groups of 
counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is material 
in relation to American Express’ total credit exposure. The 
Company’s customers operate in diverse industries, economic 
sectors and geographic regions.

The following table details the Company’s maximum credit 
exposure by category, including the credit exposure associated 
with derivative financial instruments, at December 31:

(Billions, except percentages) 2008 2007 
On-balance sheet:

Individuals(a) $ 68 $ 85
Financial institutions(b) 24 11
U.S. Government and agencies(c) 11 12
All other(d) 14 14

Total on-balance sheet(e) $117 $122
Unused lines-of-credit-individuals(f) $253 $258

(a) Individuals primarily include cardmember loans and receivables.

(b) Financial institutions primarily include debt obligations of banks, broker-
dealers, insurance companies and savings and loan associations. 

(c) U.S. Government and agencies represent debt obligations of the U.S. 
Government and its agencies, states and municipalities, and government 
sponsored entities.

(d) All other primarily includes cardmember receivables from other corporate 
institutions. 

(e) Certain distinctions between categories require management judgment.

(f ) Because charge card products have no preset spending limit, the associated 
credit limit on cardmember receivables is not quantifiable. Therefore, the 
quantified unused line-of-credit amounts only include the approximate 
credit line available on cardmember loans (including both for on-balance 
sheet loans and loans previously securitized). 

At December 31, 2008, the Company’s most significant 
concentration of credit risk was with individuals, including 
cardmember receivables and loans. These amounts are generally 
advanced on an unsecured basis. However, the Company reviews 
each potential customer’s credit application and evaluates 
the applicant’s financial history and ability and willingness 
to repay. The Company also considers credit performance by 
customer tenure, industry, and geographic location in managing 
credit exposure. The following table details the Company’s 
cardmember lending and receivables exposure (including 
unused lines-of-credit on cardmember lending) in the United 
States and International, at December 31:

(Billions, except percentages) 2008 2007
On-balance sheet:   

United States $ 56 $ 71
International 19 24

On-balance sheet(a) $ 75 $ 95

Unused lines-of-credit-individuals:
United States $211 $210
International 42 48

Total $253 $258

(a) Represents cardmember loans to individuals as well as receivables from 
individuals and corporate institutions as discussed in footnotes (a) and (d) 
from the previous table.
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exposure to airline industry
The Company has multiple co-brand relationships and rewards 
partners, of which airlines are one of the most important and 
valuable. The Company’s largest airline co-brand partner 
is Delta Air Lines (Delta), which merged with Northwest 
Airlines on October 29, 2008. On December 9, 2008, the 
Company announced that it had agreed to a 7-year extension 
of its exclusive co-brand credit card partnerships with Delta, as 
well as other partnership arrangements, including Membership 
Rewards, merchant acceptance and travel. American Express’ 
Delta SkyMiles Credit Card co-brand portfolio accounts for 
approximately 5 percent of the Company’s worldwide billed 
business and less than 15 percent of worldwide cardmember 
lending receivables. 

In 2008, there were a significant number of airline 
bankruptcies and liquidations, driven in part by volatile fuel 
costs and weakening economies around the world. Historically, 
the Company has not experienced significant revenue declines 
when a particular airline scales back or ceases operations due 
to a bankruptcy or other financial challenges. This is because 
volumes generated by that airline are typically shifted to other 
participants in the industry that accept the Company’s card 
products. Nonetheless, the Company is exposed to business 
and credit risk in the airline industry primarily through 
business arrangements where the Company has remitted 
payment to the airline for a cardmember purchase of tickets 
that have not yet been used or “f lown.” In the event that the 
cardmember is not able to use the ticket and the Company, 
based on the facts and circumstances, credits the cardmember 
for the unused ticket, this business arrangement creates a 
potential exposure for the Company. This credit exposure 
is included in the maximum amount of undiscounted 
future payments disclosed in Note 15 to the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Historically, even for an 
airline that is operating under bankruptcy protection, this 
type of exposure usually does not generate any significant 
losses for the Company because an airline operating under 
bankruptcy protection needs to continue accepting credit and 
charge cards and honoring requests for credits and refunds in 
the ordinary course of its business. Typically, as an airline’s 
financial situation deteriorates, the Company delays payment 
to the airline thereby increasing cash withheld to protect the 
Company in the event the airline is liquidated. The Company’s 
goal in these distressed situations is to hold sufficient cash 
over time to ensure that upon liquidation, the cash held is 
equivalent to the credit exposure related to any unused tickets. 
The Company has not to date experienced significant losses 
from airlines that have ceased operations and entered into 
liquidation proceedings. 

The current environment poses heightened challenges to the 
Company’s ability to manage the airline risk, as more airlines 
are converting their bankruptcy restructurings into liquidations 
or, in some instances, moving directly to liquidation thereby 
giving the Company less time to cover the Company’s exposure. 
In addition, possible mergers, acquisitions and asset divestitures 
in the airline industry may affect co-brand and Membership 
Rewards relationships with involved airlines.

note 19 
stock plans 
stock option and award programs 
Under the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan and previously 
under the 1998 Incentive Compensation Plan (the Plans), 
awards may be granted to employees and other key individuals 
who perform services for the Company and its participating 
subsidiaries. These awards may be in the form of stock options, 
restricted stock awards or units (RSAs), portfolio grants (PGs), 
and similar awards designed to meet the requirements of non-
U.S. jurisdictions. 

For the Company’s Plans, there were a total of 45 million, 
52 million, and 66 million common shares unissued and 
available for grant at December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively, as authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors 
and shareholders. 

The Company granted stock option awards to its Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) in November 2007 and January 2008 
that have performance-based and market-based conditions. 
These option awards are separately described below and are 
excluded from the information and tables presented in the 
following paragraphs.

A summary of stock option and RSA activity as of 
December 31, 2008, and changes during the year are presented 
below: 

(Shares in thousands) Stock Options RSAs

Shares

Weighted 
Average  
Exercise 

Price Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Grant  
Price

Outstanding at  
December 31, 2007 85,206 $39.93 7,523 $52.38

Granted 6,896 $47.73 3,292 $48.29
Exercised/vested (6,013) $32.21 (2,952) $49.66
Forfeited/expired (2,415) $43.98 (755) $51.00
Outstanding at  

December 31, 2008(a) 83,674 $40.94 7,108 $51.49
Options exercisable at  

December 31, 2008(a) 67,081 $38.20

(a) At December 31, 2008, the exercise prices for both stock options outstanding 
and stock options exercisable ranged from $24.66 to $60.95.
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stock options 
Each stock option has an exercise price equal to the market 
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and 
a contractual term of 10 years from the date of grant. Stock 
options vest ratably, substantially all at 25 percent per year 
beginning with the first anniversary of the grant date. 

The weighted-average remaining contractual life of the stock 
options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2008 
was 4.0 years and 2.9 years, respectively. At December 31, 2008, 
the stock options outstanding and exercisable had no intrinsic 
value (the amount by which the fair value of the Company’s 
stock exceeds the exercise price of the option).

The intrinsic value for options exercised during 2008, 2007, 
and 2006 was $79 million, $463 million, and $661 million, 
respectively (based upon the fair value of the Company’s stock 
price at the date of exercise).

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of 
grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. 
The following weighted-average assumptions are used for 
grants issued in 2008, 2007, and 2006, the majority of which 
were granted in the beginning of each year:

2008 2007 2006
Dividend yield 1.5% 1.0% 0.9%
Expected volatility 19% 19% 23%
Risk-free interest rate 2.8% 4.8% 4.3%
Expected life of  

stock option (years) 4.7 4.7 4.6
Weighted-average fair  

value per option $ 8.24 $13.39 $12.76

The expected volatility is based on weighted historical and 
implied volatilities of the Company’s common stock price. The 
expected life of the options is based on historical data.

Stock Options with Performance-Based and  
Market-Based Conditions
On November 30, 2007 and January 31, 2008, the Company’s 
CEO was granted in the aggregate 2,750,000 of non-qualified 
stock option awards with performance-based and market-based 
conditions. The exercise prices per share are $58.98 and $49.13, 
respectively. Both awards have a contractual term of 10 years 
and a vesting period of six years.

Performance-Based Conditions
Awards for 2,062,500 options have performance-based 
conditions with an aggregate grant date fair value of 
approximately $33.8 million using a Black-Scholes-Merton 
option-pricing model. Compensation expense for these awards 
will be recognized over the vesting period when it is determined 
it is probable that the performance metrics will be achieved. No 
compensation expense for these awards was recorded in 2008 
or 2007.

Market-Based Conditions
Awards for 687,500 options have market-based conditions 
with an aggregate grant date fair value of approximately $10.5 
million using a Monte Carlo valuation model. Compensation 
expense for the fair value of these awards is recognized ratably 
over the vesting period irrespective of the probability of the 
market metric being achieved. Total compensation expense 
recorded in 2008 and 2007 was $2.4 million and $0.1 million, 
respectively.

The following assumptions were used to value the market-
based awards:

At Date of Grant
January 31, 

2008
November 30, 

2007

Dividend yield 1.5% 1.2%
Expected volatility – Company 27% 27%
Expected volatility – S&P 500 Index 16% 16%
Risk-free interest rate 4.5% 4.6%
Expected life of stock option (years) 8 8
Fair value per option $13.28 $17.25
Aggregate fair value (millions) $ 4.6 $ 5.9

restricted stock awards 
RSAs are valued based on the stock price on the date of grant and 
recognized ratably over the vesting period, which is generally 
25 percent per year, beginning with the first anniversary of 
the grant date. RSA holders receive non-forfeitable dividends 
or dividend equivalents. The total fair value of shares vested 
during 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $134 million, $203 million, 
and $176 million, respectively (based upon the Company’s 
stock price at the vesting date).

portfolio grants 
The Company awards cash-settled PGs that earn value based 
on the Company’s financial performance and the Company’s 
total shareholder return versus that of the S&P 500 Index. 
These awards cliff vest after a three-year performance period 
and are subject to adjustments and approval by management 
and the CBC. The PGs are classified as liabilities and, 
therefore, the fair value is determined at the date of grant and 
remeasured quarterly as part of compensation expense over 
the performance period. Cash paid upon vesting of PGs was 
$59 million, $55 million, and $56 million in 2008, 2007 and 
2006, respectively.
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summary of stock plan expense
The components of the Company’s pretax stock-based 
compensation expense (net of cancellations) are as follows: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Restricted stock awards(a) $141 $135 $137
Stock options(a) 73 78 80
Portfolio grants and other 21 63 58
Performance/market-based stock 

options(b) 2 — —
Total compensation expense, pretax(c) $237 $276 $275

(a) As of December 31, 2008, the total unrecognized compensation cost 
related to unvested RSAs and options was $217 million and $90 million, 
respectively. The unrecognized cost for RSAs and options will be recognized 
ratably over the weighted-average remaining vesting period of 2.3 years and 
2.2 years, respectively. 

(b) As of December 31, 2008, the total unrecognized compensation cost related 
to unvested performance-based and market-based options was $33.8 million 
and $8.0 million, respectively. 

(c) The total income tax benefit recognized in the income statement for stock-
based compensation arrangements in 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $83 million, 
$96 million and $96 million, respectively. 

note 20 
retirement plans 

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans, defined 
contribution plans and defined benefit post-employment benefit 
plans for its employees. The following table provides a summary 
of the total cost related to these plans as of December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006 
Defined benefit pension plan cost(a) $ 13  $ 28 $ 124
Defined contribution plan cost(a) 211 173 106
Defined benefit post-employment  

plan cost 27 31 39
Net periodic benefit cost $251 $232 $ 269

(a) Amendments to the U.S. defined benefit and defined contribution plans 
were effective in the third quarter of 2007. Therefore, the 2007 defined 
benefit plan pension costs are net of a $63 million curtailment gain. These 
amendments are further described in the next paragraph.

In January 2007, the Company approved amendments to the 
U.S. American Express Retirement Plan (the Plan) and the 
Supplemental Retirement Plan (the SRP) effective July 1, 2007, 
which provided that active participants immediately vested in 
their accrued benefits, but no longer accrue future benefits 
other than interest credits under the plans. As a result of this 
action in 2007, there was a net reduction in the projected 
benefit obligation of $91 million and a related curtailment 
gain of $63 million ($39 million after-tax) on the date the plan 
amendment was approved. As a result of these changes, the 
Company modified the existing defined contribution plan in 
the United States to provide for greater Company contributions 

as further described in the Defined Contribution Retirement 
Plan section of this note.

The following sections provide additional information 
relating to each of these benefit arrangements.

defined benefit pension plans 
The Company sponsors the Plan for eligible employees in the 
United States. The Plan is a noncontributory defined benefit 
plan and was amended effective July 1, 2007. The Plan is a 
qualified plan under the Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA). The benefits are funded 
through a trust. The Company’s funding of retirement costs 
complies with the applicable minimum funding requirements 
specified by ERISA, as revised under the new Pension 
Protection Act (PPA), effective October 1, 2008. The funded 
status of the Plan on an ERISA basis as of October 1, 2008 
(plan year) is 104 percent (under the PPA calculation) and 
120 percent for 2007 (under the calculation prior to PPA). 
The PPA calculation assumptions are specific to ERISA and 
differ from the calculation of net funded status for GAAP 
purposes. (See Net Funded Status as of December 31, 2008 in 
the table below).

The Plan is a cash balance plan and employees’ accrued 
benefits are based on notional account balances, which are 
maintained for each individual. Employees’ balances are 
credited daily with interest at a fixed-rate that is updated each 
January 1 and is based on the average of the daily five-year 
U.S. Treasury Note yields for the previous October 1 through 
November 30. The interest rate varies from a minimum of 
5 percent to a maximum equal to the lesser of (i) 10 percent 
or (ii) the annual maximum interest rate set by the U.S. 
government for determining lump-sum values. Employees and 
their beneficiaries have the option to receive annuity payments 
upon retirement or a lump-sum payout at vested termination, 
death, disability or retirement. 

The Company also sponsors an unfunded non-qualified SRP 
for employees compensated above a certain level to supplement 
their pension benefits that are limited by the Internal Revenue 
Service. The SRP is a supplemental plan that was also amended 
as of July 1, 2007, and its terms generally parallel those of the 
Plan but the SRP’s definition of compensation and payment 
options differ. 

The Company’s significant defined benefit pension plans 
cover employees in the United States and United Kingdom. 
Most employees outside the United States and United Kingdom 
are covered by local retirement plans, some of which are funded, 
while other employees receive payments at the time of retirement 
or termination under applicable labor laws or agreements. The 
Company complies with the minimum funding requirements 
in all countries.
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For each plan, the funded status is defined by SFAS 
No. 158 as the difference between the fair value of plan assets 
(in compliance with SFAS No. 157) and the respective plan’s 
projected benefit obligation. The projected benefit obligation 
represents a liability based on the plan participant’s service-to-
date and their expected future compensation at their projected 
retirement date. Changes in the funded status are recorded as 
unrecognized gains and losses, which are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, net of tax, in the periods in which they 
occur along with prior service cost. 

At December 31, 2008, the Company adopted the measurement 
requirements of SFAS No. 158, which requires plan assets and 
benefit obligations to be measured as of the Company’s fiscal 
year-end date. Previously, these amounts were measured (and are 
currently reported for 2007) as of September 30. The adoption of 
the December 31, 2008 measurement date resulted in 15 months 
of defined benefit pension and other postretirement costs being 
recognized in 2008. Under SFAS No. 158, the three months of 
additional expense is recorded as a charge to retained earnings 
of $6 million and a credit to accumulated other comprehensive 
income of $3 million. 

At December 31, 2008, the net underfunded status related 
to the plans was $441 million which is based on the 2008 
activity shown in the following table:

Net Funded Status 

(Millions) 2008 2007 
Net funded status, beginning of year(a) $ 113 $(236)
(Decrease) Increase in value of plan assets (900) 210
Decrease in projected benefit obligation 346 139
Net change (554) 349
Funded status (441) 113
Fourth quarter contributions — 4
Net amount recognized at December 31,(b) $(441) $ 117

(a) The beginning of the year is as of September 30, which was the measurement 
date prior to 2008.

(b) The 2007 balance includes the fourth quarter contributions of $4 million, 
which are not included in the 2007 end of year and 2008 beginning of year 
amounts shown on the tables in the Plan Assets and Obligations section.

The 2008 change in funded status shown in the above table (from 
$113 million overfunded status to $441 million underfunded 
status) is caused by a decrease in the fair value of plan assets 
of $900 million, partially offset by a decrease in the projected 
benefit obligation of $346 million (net $554 million change). 
The primary driver of the $554 million change is attributable to 
the $461 million market decline in assets. (See Reconciliation 
of Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets Table in the Plan Assets 
and Obligations section).

The following table provides the funded status amounts 
recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of 
December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Other liabilities $(441) $(199)
Other assets — 316 
Net amount recognized  

at December 31, $(441) $ 117

Plan Assets and Obligations
The following tables provide a reconciliation of changes in 
the fair value of plan assets and projected benefit obligations 
for all plans (2008 changes and end of year amounts are as of 
December 31, 2008 and all 2007 amounts and 2008 beginning 
of year amounts are as of September 30):

Reconciliation of Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets

(Millions) 2008 2007
Fair value of plan assets,  

beginning of year $2,593 $2,383
Effect of transition to December 31st  

measurement date 11 —
Actual return on plan assets (461) 304
Employer contributions 20 29
Benefits paid (61) (52)
Settlements (88) (93)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes (321) 22
Net change (900) 210
Fair value of plan assets,  

end of year $1,693 $2,593

Reconciliation of Change in Projected Benefit Obligation

(Millions) 2008 2007
Projected benefit obligation,  

beginning of year  $2,480 $2,619
Effect of transition  

to December 31st  
measurement date 6 —

Service cost  23 93
Interest cost  136 138
Benefits paid  (61) (52)
Actuarial gain  (56) (163)
Plan amendments (4) 2
Settlements/curtailments  (93) (185)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes  (297 ) 28
Net change (346) (139)
Projected benefit obligation, end of year  $2,134 $2,480
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table provides the amounts comprising 
accumulated other comprehensive loss, which are not yet 
recognized as components of net periodic pension benefit cost 
as of December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Net actuarial loss $ 650 $ 123
Net prior service cost (3) 2
Total, pretax effect(a) 647 125
Tax impact (215) (32)
Total, net of taxes $ 432 $ 93

(a) Includes impact of transition to December 31 measurement date of $3 
million credit. 

The estimated portion of the net actuarial loss and net prior 
service cost that is expected to be recognized as a component 
of net periodic pension benefit cost in 2009 is $11 million and 
nil, respectively. For 2007, excluded from the table above is 
$(2) million of net change in accumulated other comprehensive 
income related to AEB discontinued operations.

The following table details the amounts recognized in other 
comprehensive loss in 2008:

(Millions) 2008
Net actuarial loss:

Reclassified to earnings from equity(a) $ (22)
Losses in current year 552
Net actuarial loss 530

Net prior service cost:
Recognized as a result of curtailment (1)
Gains in current year (4)
Net prior service cost (5)

Total, pretax $525

(a) Excludes impact of transition to December 31st measurement date of $3 
million credit.

Benefit Obligations
The accumulated benefit obligation is the present value of 
benefits earned to date by plan participants computed based 
on current compensation levels as contrasted to the projected 
benefit obligation, which is the present value of benefits earned 
to date by plan participants based on their expected future 
compensation at their projected retirement date. The unvested 
portion of the accumulated benefit obligation is minimal. In the 
following tables, 2008 amounts are as of December 31, 2008, 
and 2007 amounts are as of September 30, 2007.

The accumulated and projected benefit obligations for all 
defined benefit pension plans are as follows:

(Millions) 2008  2007
Accumulated benefit obligation $2,057 $2,371
Projected benefit obligation $2,134 $2,480

The accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets 
for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations that 
exceed the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Accumulated benefit obligation $2,056 $205
Fair value of plan assets $1,691 $ 22

The projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for 
pension plans with projected benefit obligations that exceed the 
fair value of plan assets are as follows:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Projected benefit obligation $2,134 $224
Fair value of plan assets $1,693 $ 22

Net Periodic Pension Benefit Cost
SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (SFAS 
No. 87), provides for the delayed recognition of the net actuarial 
loss and the net prior service cost remaining in accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss). 

Service cost is the component of net periodic benefit cost 
that represents the current value of benefits earned by an 
employee during the period. Net periodic benefit cost also 
includes the estimated interest incurred on the outstanding 
projected benefit obligation during the period.

A plan amendment that retroactively increases benefits is 
recognized as an increase to the projected benefit obligation, 
and a corresponding charge to other comprehensive income, net 
of tax, at the date of the amendment. The related costs (prior 
service costs) are amortized as a component of net periodic 
pension benefit cost on a straight-line basis over the average 
remaining service period of active participants. 

Actuarial gains and losses that are not recognized 
immediately as a component of net periodic pension cost are 
recognized as increases or decreases in accumulated other 
comprehensive income, net of tax, as they arise. Cumulative 
net actuarial loss included in accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) which exceeds 10 percent of the greater of the 
projected benefit obligation and the market-related value of 
plan assets are amortized over the average remaining service 
period of active participants. 



notes to consolidated financial statements
american express company  

107

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 106 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 107 opeRaToR PM2 

Job TiTle American Express Revision 24 seRial DaTe / Time Saturday, February 28, 2009 2:32 AM 
Job numbeR 174761 Type Current page no. 107 opeRaToR PM2 

The components of the net periodic pension benefit cost 
for all defined benefit pension plans as of December 31, are 
as follows: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006 
Service cost $ 23 $ 89 $ 109
Interest cost 136 126 115
Expected return on plan assets (169) (155) (138)
Amortization of prior service costs — 1 1
Recognized net actuarial loss 17 35 36
Settlements/curtailment loss (gain) 6 (68) 1
Net periodic pension benefit cost $ 13 $ 28 $ 124

Assumptions
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit 
obligations were (as of December 31st and September 30th, 
respectively): 

2008 2007 
Discount rates 5.9% 5.8%
Rates of increase in compensation levels 3.9% 4.2%

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine yearly 
net periodic pension benefit costs were (as of September 30th 
for all years presented): 

2008 2007 2006 
Discount rates 5.8% 5.2% 5.1%
Rates of increase in compensation levels 4.2% 4.1% 4.3%
Expected long-term rates of return 

on assets 7.6% 7.8% 7.8%

The Company assumes a long-term rate of return on assets 
on a weighted-average basis. In developing this assumption, 
management evaluates historical returns on plan assets as well 
as benchmark information including projections of asset class 
returns and long-term inflation.

The discount rate assumptions for the Company’s material 
plans (U.S. and U.K.) are determined by using a model 
consisting of bond portfolios that match the cash flows of the 
plan’s projected benefit payments based on the plan participant’s 
service to date and their expected future compensation. Use of 
the rate produced by this model generates a projected benefit 
obligation that equals the current market value of a portfolio 
of high-quality zero-coupon bonds whose maturity dates and 
amounts match the timing and amount of expected future 
benefit payments. 

Asset Allocation
The asset allocation by asset category for the Company’s 
pension plans are presented below as of December 31, 2008 and 
September 30, 2007, as well as the 2009 target allocation. Actual 
allocations generally are within 5 percent of these targets:

Target 
Allocation

Percentage of 
Plan assets at

2009 2008 2007 
Equity securities 54% 48% 55%
Debt securities 40% 43% 27%
Other 6% 9% 18%
Total 100% 100% 100%

The Company invests in a diversified portfolio to ensure that 
adverse or unexpected results from a security class will not have 
a detrimental impact on the entire portfolio. The portfolio is 
diversified by asset type, risk characteristics and concentration 
of investments. Asset classes and ranges considered appropriate 
for investment of each plan’s assets are determined by the plan’s 
investment committee. The asset classes typically include 
domestic and foreign equities, emerging market equities, 
domestic and foreign investment grade and high-yield bonds 
and domestic real estate. 

Benefit Payments
The Company’s retirement plans expect to make benefit 
payments to retirees as follows: 

(Millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
2014 

–2018
Expected 

payments $134 $137 $141 $148 $146 $870

In addition, the Company expects to contribute $65 million to 
its pension plans in 2009. 

defined contribution retirement plans 
The Company sponsors defined contribution retirement plans, 
the principal plan being the Retirement Savings Plan (RSP) 
(formerly the ISP), a 401(k) savings plan with a profit sharing 
component. The RSP is a qualified plan under ERISA and 
covers most employees in the U. S. Under the terms of the RSP, 
employees have the option of investing up to 10 percent of 
their contributions in the American Express Company Stock 
Fund, which invests primarily in the Company’s common 
stock, through accumulated payroll deductions. Employees 
are restricted from transferring balances into this fund if the 
balance has reached 10 percent of the employee’s total account 
balance. The RSP held 13 million and 15 million shares of 
American Express Common Stock at December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively, beneficially for employees. In conjunction 
with the amendments to the Plan and the SRP that occurred 
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in 2007, the Company amended the RSP effective July 1, 2007. 
These amendments include an expanded definition of pay 
encompassing more elements of employee compensation (total 
pay) as well as an increase in the Company’s matching of 
employees’ contributions to the plan from a maximum of 
3 percent of base pay to a maximum of 5 percent of total pay. 
Additional annual conversion contributions of up to 8 percent of 
total pay will be provided into the RSP in the future for eligible 
employees who were hired before April 1, 2007. The Company 
also sponsors an unfunded non-qualified Supplemental 
Retirement Plan (the SRP-RSP) that was also amended during 
2007, and its terms generally parallel those of the RSP.

The total expense for all defined contribution plans globally 
was $211 million, $173 million, and $106 million in 2008, 
2007, and 2006, respectively.

other postretirement benefits plans
The Company sponsors unfunded defined postretirement 
benefit plans that provide health care and life insurance to 
certain retired U.S. employees. 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table provides the amounts comprising 
accumulated other comprehensive loss which are not yet 
recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost as of 
December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 
Net actuarial loss $ 47 $ 66
Net prior service cost (2) (4)
Total, pretax effect 45 62
Tax impact (18) (25)
Total, net of taxes $ 27 $ 37 

The estimated portion of the net actuarial loss and net prior 
service credit above that is expected to be recognized as a 
component of net periodic benefit cost in 2009 is $2 million 
and $(2) million, respectively.

The following table details the amounts recognized in other 
comprehensive loss in 2008:

(Millions) 2008 
Net actuarial gain:

Reclassified to earnings from equity $ (4)
Gains in current year (14)
Net actuarial gain (18)

Net prior service cost: 
Reclassified to earnings from equity 2
Net prior service cost 2

Total, pretax $(16)

Plan Obligations
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in 
the projected benefit obligation for all plans accounted for under 
SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement 
Benefits Other Than Pensions” (SFAS No. 106) (2008 changes 
and end of year amounts are as of December 31, 2008 and all 
2007 amounts and 2008 beginning of year amounts are as of 
September 30, 2007):

Reconciliation of Change in Projected Benefit Obligation 

(Millions) 2008  2007 
Projected benefit obligation $312 $376
Effect of transition to December 31st 

measurement date 1 —
Service cost 6 6
Interest cost 19 19
Benefits paid (27) (23)
Actuarial gain (16) (66)
Net change (17) (64)
Projected benefit obligation, end of year $295 $312

The liabilities for the Company’s defined postretirement 
benefit plans recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
as of December 31 are included in the table below: 

Reconciliation of Accrued Benefit Cost and Total Amount 
Recognized 

(Millions) 2008 2007 
Funded status of the plan $(295) $(312)
Fourth quarter payments — 5
Net amount recognized at December 31, $(295) $(307)

Net Periodic Benefit Cost
SFAS No. 106 provides for the delayed recognition of the 
net actuarial loss and the net prior service credit remaining in 
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

The following table provides the components of 
the net periodic benefit cost as of December 31 for all 
defined postretirement benefit plans accounted for under 
SFAS No. 106: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006 
Service cost $ 6 $ 6 $ 7
Interest cost 19 19 20
Amortization of prior service costs (2) (2) (2)
Recognized net actuarial loss 4 8 14
Net periodic benefit cost $27 $31 $39
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Assumptions
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine 
benefit obligations were (as of December 31 and September 30, 
respectively): 

2008 2007 
Discount rates 6.0% 6.1%
Health care cost increase rate: 

Following year 8.5% 9.0%
Decreasing to the year 2016 5% 5%

The discount rate assumption for the Company’s unfunded 
defined postretirement benefit plan is determined by using a 
model consisting of bond portfolios that match the cash flows of 
the plan’s projected benefit payments. Use of the rate produced 
by this model generates a projected benefit obligation that 
equals the current market value of a portfolio of high-quality 
zero-coupon bonds whose maturity dates and amounts match 
the timing and amount of expected future benefit payments.

A one percentage-point change in assumed health care cost 
trend rates would have the following effects: 

One 
percentage- 

point increase

One 
percentage- 

point decrease

(Millions) 2008 2007 2008 2007 
Increase (Decrease) on 

benefits earned and interest 
cost for U.S. plans $ 1 $ 1 $ (1) $ (1)

Increase (Decrease) on 
postretirement benefit 
obligation for U.S. plans $15 $16 $(13) $(14)

Benefit Payments
The Company’s other postretirement benefit plans expect to 
make benefit payments as follows: 

(Millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
2014 

–2018
Expected 

payments $23 $23 $23 $23 $24 $132

In addition, the Company expects to contribute $23 million to 
its other postretirement benefit plans in 2009.

note 21 
income taxes
The components of income tax expense included in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income on income from continuing 
operations were as follows: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Current income tax expense:

U.S. federal $ 735 $1,631 $1,081
U.S. state and local (28) 246 153
Non-U.S. 352 408 302

Total current income tax expense 1,059 2,285 1,536
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense: 

U.S. federal  (150) (496) 16
U.S. state and local (84) (22) (36)
Non-U.S. (115) (199) 11

Total deferred income tax benefit (349) (717) (9)
Total income tax expense on 

continuing operations $ 710 $1,568 $1,527

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35 percent 
to the Company’s actual income tax rate for 2008, 2007, and 
2006 on continuing operations was as follows: 

2008 2007 2006
Combined tax at U.S. statutory 

federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (Decrease) in taxes  

resulting from:
Tax-exempt income (3.9) (2.8) (3.0)
State and local income taxes, net 

of federal benefit 1.6 2.6 1.5
Non-U.S. subsidiaries earnings (8.4) (5.0) (3.9)
Tax settlements(a) (5.5) (2.2) (0.3)
All other 1.0 (0.1) 0.3

Actual tax rates 19.8% 27.5% 29.6%

(a) Relates to the resolution of tax matters in various jurisdictions.
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The following table presents changes in the unrecognized tax 
benefits:

(Millions) 2008 2007
Balance, January 1 $1,112 $1,143

Increases:
Current year tax positions 81 165
Tax positions related to prior years 409 95
Effects of foreign currency translations — 1

Decreases:
Tax positions related to prior years (208) (164)
Settlements with tax authorities (213) (126)
Lapse of statute of limitations (3) (2)
Effects of foreign currency translations (2) —

Balance, December 31 $1,176 $1,112

Included in the $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion of unrecognized 
tax benefits at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, 
respectively, are approximately $452 million and $597 million, 
respectively that, if recognized, would favorably affect the 
effective tax rate in a future period. These benefits primarily 
relate to the Company’s gross permanent benefits and 
corresponding foreign tax credits and federal tax effects.  

The Company is under continuous examination by the 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and tax authorities in other 
countries and states in which the Company has significant 
business operations. The tax years under examination and open 
for examination vary by jurisdiction. In June 2008, the IRS 
completed its field examination of the Company’s federal tax 
returns for the years 1997 through 2002.  However, these years 
continue to remain open as a consequence of certain issues 
under appeal. The Company is currently under examination by 
the IRS for the years 2003 and 2004.

Given the inherent complexities of the business and that 
the Company is subject to taxation in a substantial number of 
jurisdictions, the Company routinely assesses the likelihood 
of additional assessments in each of the taxing jurisdictions 
and has established a liability for unrecognized tax benefits 
that management believes to be adequate. Once established, 
unrecognized tax benefits are adjusted if more accurate 
information is available, or a change in circumstance, or an 
event occurs necessitating a change to the liability. 

The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that 
the unrecognized tax benefits could decrease within the next 
12 months by as much as $574 million principally as a result of 
potential resolutions of prior years’ tax items with various taxing 
authorities. The prior years’ tax items include unrecognized tax 
benefits relating to the timing of recognition of certain gross 
income, the deductibility of certain expenses or losses, and 
the attribution of taxable income to a particular jurisdiction 
or jurisdictions. Of the $574 million of unrecognized tax 
benefits, approximately $474 million are temporary differences 
that, if recognized, would only impact the effective rate due to 
net interest assessments and state tax rate differentials. With 
respect to the remaining decrease of $100 million, it is not 
possible to quantify the impact that the decrease could have 
on the effective tax rate and net income due to the inherent 
complexities and the number of tax years open for examination 
in multiple jurisdictions.  Resolution of the prior years’ items 
that comprise this remaining amount could have an impact 
on the effective tax rate and on net income, either favorably 
(principally as a result of settlements that are less than the 
liability for unrecognized tax benefits) or unfavorably (if such 
settlements exceed the liability for unrecognized tax benefits).

Interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits 
are reported in income tax provision. During the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the Company 
recognized approximately $44 million and $13 million, 
respectively, of interest and penalties. The Company has 
approximately $265 million and $235 million accrued for the 
payment of interest and penalties at December 31, 2008 and 
December 31, 2007, respectively.

Accumulated earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries, 
which totaled approximately $5.6 billion at December 31, 2008, 
are intended to be permanently reinvested outside the United 
States. Accordingly, federal taxes, which would have aggregated 
approximately $1.3 billion, have not been provided on 
those earnings.
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The Company records a deferred income tax (benefit) 
provision when there are differences between assets and 
liabilities measured for financial reporting and for income 
tax return purposes. The significant components of deferred 
tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are reflected in the 
following table: 

(Millions) 2008 2007 
Deferred tax assets: 

Reserves not yet deducted for tax purposes $3,559 $3,175
Employee compensation and benefits 680 503
Net unrealized securities losses 458 —
Other 246 210

Gross deferred tax assets 4,943 3,888
Valuation allowance (69) (60)
Deferred tax assets after valuation  

allowance 4,874 3,828
Deferred tax liabilities: 

Intangibles and fixed assets 713 633
Deferred revenue 531 499
Asset securitizations 84 107
Net unrealized securities gains — 6
Other 76 172

Gross deferred tax liabilities 1,404 1,417
Net deferred tax assets $3,470 $2,411

The valuation allowances at December 31, 2008 and 2007, relate 
to deferred tax assets associated with non-U.S. operations. 

Income taxes paid by the Company (including amounts 
related to discontinued operations) during 2008, 2007, and 
2006, were approximately $2.0 billion, $1.8 billion, and 
$1.4 billion, respectively. These amounts include estimated tax 
payments and cash settlements relating to prior tax years. 

The tax benefit realized for tax deductions from stock option 
exercises which are recorded in additional paid-in capital totaled 
$21 million, $158 million, and $128 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 

note 22 
earnings per common 
share (eps)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income by the average 
weighted shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS 
is basic EPS adjusted for the dilutive effect of stock options, 
RSAs, and other financial instruments that may be converted 
into common shares. The computations of basic and diluted 
EPS for the years ended December 31 were as follows: 

(Millions, except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006
Numerator:

Income from continuing operations $2,871 $4,126 $3,625
(Loss) Income from discontinued 

operations, net of tax (172)  (114) 82
Net income $2,699 $4,012 $3,707

Denominator:
Basic: Weighted-average shares 

outstanding during the period 1,154 1,173 1,212
Add: Dilutive effect of stock options, 

restricted stock awards and other 
dilutive securities 3 23 26

Diluted 1,157 1,196 1,238
Basic EPS:

Income from continuing operations $ 2.49 $ 3.52 $ 2.99
(Loss) Income from  

discontinued operations (0.15)  (0.10) 0.07
Net income $ 2.34 $ 3.42 $ 3.06

Diluted EPS:
Income from continuing operations $ 2.48 $ 3.45 $ 2.93
(Loss) Income from  

discontinued operations (0.15)  (0.09) 0.06
Net income $ 2.33 $ 3.36 $ 2.99

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, the 
dilutive effect of unexercised stock options excludes 45 million, 
8 million, and 6 million options, respectively, from the 
computation of EPS because inclusion of the options would 
have been anti-dilutive. 

The Subordinated Debentures, discussed in Note 10, would 
affect the EPS computation only in the unlikely event the 
Company fails to achieve specified performance measures related 
to the Company’s tangible common equity and consolidated 
net income. In that circumstance the Company would reflect 
the additional common shares in the EPS computation.
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note 23 
details of certain 
consolidated statements 
of income lines 
As a result of converting to a bank holding company, the 
Company has made certain additional disclosures in accordance 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission requirements 
as discussed further in Note 1. The following items represent 
1 percent or more of the aggregate of total interest income and 
total non-interest revenues. 

The following is a detail of other commissions and fees for 
the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Delinquency fees $ 852 $ 879 $ 805
Foreign currency conversion revenue 755 718 591
Other 700 820 837

Total other commissions and fees $2,307 $2,417 $2,233

The following is a detail of other revenues for the years ended 
December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Insurance premiums $ 326 $ 349 $ 327
Publishing revenue 327 345 301
Other 1,504 1,057 1,061

Total other revenues $2,157 $1,751 $1,689

The following is a detail of marketing, promotions, rewards and 
cardmember services for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Marketing and promotion $2,430 $2,562 $2,491
Cardmember rewards 4,389 4,777 3,728
Cardmember services 542 478 285

Total marketing, promotion,  
rewards and cardmember services $7,361 $7,817 $6,504

The following is a detail of other, net expenses for the years 
ended December 31:

(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Occupancy and equipment $1,641 $1,436 $1,384
Communications 466 461 434
Travel and entertainment 254 254 284
MasterCard and Visa settlements (571) (1,056) —
Other 1,332 1,132 1,099

Total other, net expense $3,122 $2,227 $3,201

note 24 
reportable operating 
segments and  
geographic operations 
reportable operating segments 
The Company, a bank holding company, is a leading global 
payments and travel company that is principally engaged in two 
customer-focused groups, the Global Consumer Group and the 
Global Business-to-Business Group. Accordingly, the Company’s 
U.S. Card Services (USCS) and International Card Services (ICS) 
operating segments are aligned within the Global Consumer 
Group and the Global Commercial Services (GCS) and Global 
Network & Merchant Services (GNMS) operating segments are 
aligned within the Global Business-to-Business Group. 

The Company considers a combination of factors when 
evaluating the composition of its reportable operating segments, 
including the results reviewed by the chief operating decision 
maker, economic characteristics, products and services offered, 
classes of customers, product distribution channels, geographic 
considerations (primarily U.S. versus international), and regulatory 
environment considerations. Based on these factors, the Company 
has the following five reportable operating segments.

USCS issues a wide range of card products and services to 
consumers and small businesses in the United States, and provides 
consumer travel services to cardmembers and other consumers.

ICS issues proprietary consumer and small business cards 
outside the United States.

GCS offers global corporate payment and travel-related 
products and services to large and mid-sized companies. 

GNMS segment operates a global general-purpose charge 
and credit card network, which includes both proprietary cards 
and cards issued under network partnership agreements. It also 
manages merchant services globally, which includes signing 
merchants to accept cards as well as processing and settling 
card transactions for those merchants. This segment also offers 
merchants point-of-sale products, servicing and settlements and 
marketing programs.

Corporate & Other consists of corporate functions and 
auxiliary businesses, including the Company’s publishing business, 
Travelers Cheques and other prepaid products, as well as other 
company operations. 
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The following table presents certain selected financial information at December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 and for each of the years 
then ended.

(Millions, except where indicated) USCS ICS GCS GNMS
Corporate 
& Other(a) Consolidated

2008
Non-interest revenues $11,427 $3,758 $5,081 $3,875 $ 578 $24,719
Interest income 4,736 1,984 168 5 308 7,201
Interest expense 2,166 961 553 (222) 97 3,555
Total revenues net of interest expense 13,997 4,781 4,696 4,102 789 28,365
Total provision 4,389 1,030 231 127 21 5,798
Pretax income from continuing operations 1,141 153 693 1,490 104 3,581
Income tax provision (benefit) 289 (198) 188 495 (64) 710
Income from continuing operations $ 852 $ 351 $ 505 $ 995 $ 168 $ 2,871
Total equity (billions) $ 4.8 $ 2.0 $ 3.5 $ 1.4 $ 0.1 $ 11.8
2007(b)

Non-interest revenues $11,750 $3,499 $4,697 $3,549 $ 621 $24,116
Interest income 5,125 1,741 187 3 368 7,424
Interest expense 2,653 909 615 (312) 116 3,981
Total revenues net of interest expense 14,222 4,331 4,269 3,864 873 27,559
Total provision 2,998 812 163 103 27 4,103
Pretax income from continuing operations 2,730 117 744 1,560 543 5,694
Income tax provision (benefit) 907 (174) 208 538 89 1,568
Income from continuing operations $ 1,823 $ 291 $ 536 $1,022 $ 454 $ 4,126
Total equity (billions) $ 4.5 $ 2.1 $ 2.2 $ 1.2 $ 1.0 $ 11.0
2006(b)

Non-interest revenues $10,775 $3,243 $4,254 $3,059 $ 660 $21,991
Interest income 3,688 1,440 120 5 448 5,701
Interest expense 1,843 718 474 (280) 111 2,866
Total revenues net of interest expense 12,620 3,965 3,900 3,344 997 24,826
Total provision 1,625 852 113 63 13 2,666
Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations 3,323 312 716 1,188 (387) 5,152
Income tax provision (benefit) 1,171 (31) 239 409 (261) 1,527
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 2,152 $ 343 $ 477 $ 779 $(126) $ 3,625
Total equity (billions) $ 4.7 $ 1.7 $ 1.9 $ 1.3 $ 0.9 $ 10.5

(a) Corporate & Other includes adjustments and eliminations for the items included in total revenues net of interest expense above.

(b) Amounts for 2007 and 2006 include certain revenue and expense reclassifications related to the Company’s conversion to a bank holding company discussed in 
Note 1, as well as changes to the Company’s reportable operating segments in 2007. Additionally, certain reclassifications of prior year amounts have been made to 
conform to the current presentation related to discontinued operations as discussed in Note 2. Except for discontinued operations, these items had no impact on 
the Company’s consolidated pretax income from continuing operations, income tax provision, and income from continuing operations. None of these items had an 
impact on the Company’s net income.

Expenses 
Marketing, promotion, rewards and cardmember services 
expenses are reflected in each segment based on actual expenses 
incurred, with the exception of brand advertising, which is 
reflected in the GNMS segment. Rewards and cardmember 
services expenses are reflected in each segment based on actual 
expenses incurred within each segment.

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses 
reflect expenses, such as professional services, occupancy and 
equipment, and communications, incurred directly within each 
segment. In addition, expenses related to the Company’s support 
services, such as technology costs, are allocated to each segment 
based on support service activities directly attributable to the 
segment. Other overhead expenses, such as staff group support 
functions, are allocated to segments based on each segment’s 

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense 
The Company allocates discount revenue and certain other 
revenues among segments using a transfer pricing methodology. 
Segments earn discount revenue based on the volume of 
merchant business generated by cardmembers. Within the 
USCS, ICS and GCS segments, discount revenue reflects 
the issuer component of the overall discount rate; within the 
GNMS segment, discount revenue reflects the network and 
merchant component of the overall discount rate. Total interest 
income and net card fees are directly attributable to the segment 
in which they are reported. 

Provisions for Losses 
The provisions for losses are directly attributable to the segment 
in which they are reported. 
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relative level of pretax income, with the exception of certain 
fourth quarter 2008 severance and other related charges of 
$133 million from the Company’s fourth quarter restructuring 
initiative. This presentation is consistent with how such charges 
were reported internally. See further discussion in Note 25 
regarding this corporate initiative. Financing requirements are 
managed on a consolidated basis. Funding costs are allocated 
based on segment funding requirements. 

Capital 
Each business segment is allocated capital based on established 
business model operating requirements, risk measures, and 

regulatory capital requirements. Business model operating 
requirements include capital needed to support operations 
and specific balance sheet items. The risk measures include 
considerations for credit, market, and operational risk. 

Income Taxes 
Income tax provision (benefit) is allocated to each business 
segment based on the actual effective tax rates applicable to 
various businesses that make up the segment. 

geographic operations 
The following table presents the Company’s total revenues net of interest expense and pretax income in different geographic 
regions: 

(Millions) United States Europe Asia/Pacific All Other Consolidated 

2008 
Total revenues net of interest expense $19,365 $3,755 $2,544 $2,701 $28,365
Pretax income from continuing operations $ 3,110 $ 196 $ 99 $ 176 $ 3,581

2007
Total revenues net of interest expense $19,456 $3,515 $2,231 $2,357 $27,559
Pretax income from continuing operations $ 4,984 $ 301 $ 124 $ 285 $ 5,694

2006
Total revenues net of interest expense $17,393 $3,168 $1,992 $2,273 $24,826
Pretax income from continuing operations $ 4,312 $ 292 $ 131 $ 417 $ 5,152

The data in the above table is, in part, based upon internal allocations, which necessarily involve management’s judgment. 
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The following table summarizes the Company’s restructuring reserves activity for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007,  
and 2006:

(Millions) Severance(a) Other(b) Total

Liability balance at December 31, 2005 $  86 $   8 $  94
Restructuring charges, net of $20 in reversals(c) 89 11 100
Payments (84) (9) (93)
Other non-cash (2) (6) (8)

Liability balance at December 31, 2006 89 4 93
Restructuring charges, net of $17 in reversals(c) 34 15 49
Payments (61) (6) (67)
Other non-cash (2) (4) (6)

Liability balance at December 31, 2007 60 9 69
Restructuring charges, net of $10 in reversals(d) 366 68 434
Payments (63) (13) (76)
Other non-cash 2 (2) —

Liability balance at December 31, 2008(e) $365 $ 62 $427

(a) Accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 112, “Employer’s Accounting for Post Employment Benefits” and SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated 
with Exit or Disposal Activities.”

(b) Other primarily includes facility exit and contract termination costs.

(c) Reversals primarily relate to higher employee redeployments to other positions within the Company.

(d) Reversals of $10 million ($3 million in ICS, $2 million in GCS, $1 million in GNMS, and $4 million in Corporate & Other), primarily relate to higher employee 
redeployments to other positions within the Company.

(e) The majority of cash payments related to the remaining restructuring liabilities are expected to be completed in 2009, with the exception of certain smaller amounts 
related to contractual long-term severance arrangements which are expected to be completed in 2011, and certain lease obligations which will continue until their 
expiration in 2018.

note 25 
restructuring charges 
During 2008, the Company recorded restructuring charges 
of $434 million. While the Company’s restructuring activity 
in the first and third quarters of 2008 primarily related to 
exiting certain international banking businesses, the Company 
recorded $410 million of restructuring charges in the fourth 
quarter of 2008 in order to further reduce the Company’s 
cost structure. This restructuring is expected to result in the 
elimination of approximately 7,000 positions or approximately 
10 percent of its total worldwide workforce. These reductions 
will primarily occur across business units, markets and staff 
groups focusing on management and other positions that 
do not interact directly with customers. These restructuring 
activities primarily related to reorganizing or automating 
certain internal processes; outsourcing certain operations to 
third parties; and discontinuing or relocating business activities 
to other geographies.

During 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded restructuring 
charges of $49 million and $100 million, respectively, primarily 
related to the reorganizations within the Company’s business 
travel, operations, finance, and technology areas. 

Restructuring charges are comprised of severance obligations 
and other exit costs. The charges and any subsequent adjustments 
related to severance obligations are included in salaries and 
employee benefits and discontinued operations in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Income, while other exit costs are 
included in occupancy and equipment, professional services, 
other net expenses and discontinued operations. 
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note 26 
parent company 
Parent Company – Condensed Statements of Income

Years ended December 31  
(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Interest expense net of total revenues $ (170) $ (89) $ (47)
Expenses

Salaries and employee benefits 129 132 136
Other 119 160 184

Total 248 292 320
Pretax loss (418) (381) (367)
Income tax benefit (176) (157) (174)
Net loss before equity in net income of 

subsidiaries and affiliates (242) (224) (193)
Equity in net income of subsidiaries 

and affiliates 3,113 4,350 3,818
Income from continuing operations 2,871 4,126 3,625
(Loss) Income from discontinued 

operations, net of tax (172) (114) 82
Net income $2,699 $4,012 $3,707

Parent Company – Condensed Balance Sheets

As of December 31
(Millions) 2008 2007
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3 $ 3
Investment securities 594 50
Equity in net assets of subsidiaries  

and affiliates of continuing operations 12,563 11,381
Accounts receivable, less reserves 1,153 332
Loan to affiliate in discontinued operations 238 —
Premises and equipment –  

at cost, less accumulated  
depreciation: 2008, $33; 2007, $27 46 38

Due from subsidiaries 5,928 5,313
Other assets 716 579
Equity in net (liabilities) assets of  

subsidiaries and affiliates of  
discontinued operations (44) 751

Total assets $21,197 $18,447
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Accounts payable and other liabilities $ 1,424 $ 672
Long-term debt(a) 7,932 6,746
Total liabilities 9,356 7,418
Shareholders’ equity
Common shares 232 232
Additional paid-in capital 10,496 10,164
Retained earnings 2,719 1,075
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,606) (442)
Total shareholders’ equity 11,841 11,029
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $21,197 $18,447

(a) Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt for the five years ending 
December 31, 2013, are as follows (millions); 2009, $500; 2010, $0; 
2011, $399; 2012, $0; 2013, $997 and thereafter, $6,036. Refer to Note 10 
for additional details.

The following table summarizes the Company’s restructuring charges, net of reversals, by reportable segment for the year ended 
December 31, 2008, and the cumulative amounts relating to the restructuring programs that were in progress during 2008 and 
initiated at various dates between 2006 and 2008. 

2008
Cumulative Restructuring Expense Incurred to Date on  

in-Progress Restructuring Programs

(Millions)
Total Restructuring  

Charges net of reversals Severance Other Total

USCS $ 30 $ 54 $ 5 $ 59
ICS 67 90 7 97
GCS 133 142 18 160
GNMS 30 38 1 39
Corporate & Other(a) 157 136 46 182
Total continuing operations 417 460 77 537
Discontinued operations(b) 17 — — —
Total $434 $460 $77 $537(c)

(a) The Corporate & Other segment includes certain fourth quarter 2008 severance and other charges of $133 million related to Company-wide support functions 
which were not allocated to the Company’s operating segments, as this was a corporate initiative and is consistent with how such charges were reported internally. 
Had the Company allocated these charges to the operating segments, 18 percent would have remained in Corporate & Other while the balance would have been 
charged out as follows: USCS (29 percent), ICS (13 percent), GCS (23 percent) and GNMS (17 percent).

(b) Represents severance and other charges related to the disposition of the Company’s international banking subsidiary (AEB). 

(c) As of December 31, 2008, the total expenses to be incurred for previously approved restructuring activities that were in progress are not expected to be materially 
different than the cumulative expenses incurred to date for these programs.
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Parent Company – Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31  
(Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Cash Flows from Operating Activities  

Net income $ 2,699 $ 4,012 $ 3,707
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash  

provided by operating activities:
Equity in net (income) loss of subsidiaries and affiliates: 

– Continuing operations (3,113) (4,350) (3,818)
– Discontinued operations 172 114 (82)

Dividends received from subsidiaries and affiliates 2,340 3,708 3,479
Loan to affiliate in discontinued operations (238) — —
Other operating activities, primarily with subsidiaries (1,915) (242) (255)

Net cash (used by) provided by operating activities (55) 3,242 3,031

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of investments — — (20)
Premises and equipment (14) (10) (10)
Acquisition — — (200)
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates (58) (550) —

Net cash used in investing activities (72) (560) (230)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Issuance of debt 3,000 1,500 1,750
Principal payment of debt (1,995) (750) (1,000)
Issuance of American Express common shares 176 852 1,203
Repurchase of American Express common shares (218) (3,572) (4,093)
Dividends paid (836) (712) (661)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 127 (2,682) (2,801)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents — — —
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 3 $ 3 $ 3

supplemental disclosures
Cash paid for interest (net of amounts capitalized) in 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $509 million, $319 million, and $190 million, 
respectively. Net cash received for income taxes in 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $21 million, $75 million, and $216 million, 
respectively.

The Parent Company guarantees up to $102 million of indebtedness under lines of credit that subsidiaries have with various 
banks. As of December 31, 2008, $30 million in lines of credit have been drawn down.
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note 28 

quarterly financial data (unaudited)

(Millions, except per share amounts) 2008(a) 2007(a)

Quarters Ended 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31 12/31 9/30(b) 6/30 3/31
Total revenues net of interest expense $6,506 $7,164 $7,455 $7,240 $7,324 $6,956 $ 6,867 $6,412
Pretax income from continuing operations 268 1,078 774 1,461 1,158 1,505 1,415 1,616
Income from continuing operations 306 861 660 1,044 858 1,122 1,046 1,100
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (66) (46) (7) (53) (27) (55) 11 (43)
Net income 240 815 653 991 831 1,067 1,057 1,057
Earnings Per Common Share — Basic: 

Continuing operations $ 0.27 $ 0.75 $ 0.57 $ 0.91 $ 0.74 $ 0.96 $ 0.89 $ 0.93
Discontinued operations  (0.06) (0.04) — (0.05) (0.02) (0.05) 0.01 (0.04)
Net income $ 0.21 $ 0.71 $ 0.57 $ 0.86 $ 0.72 $ 0.91 $ 0.90 $ 0.89

Earnings Per Common Share — Diluted: 
Continuing operations $ 0.27 $ 0.74 $ 0.57 $ 0.90 $ 0.73 $ 0.94 $ 0.87 $ 0.91
Discontinued operations (0.06) (0.04) (0.01) (0.05) (0.02) (0.04) 0.01 (0.04)
Net income $ 0.21 $ 0.70 $ 0.56 $ 0.85 $ 0.71 $ 0.90 $ 0.88 $ 0.87

Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.18 $ 0.18 $ 0.18 $ 0.18 $ 0.18 $ 0.15 $ 0.15 $ 0.15
Common share price: 

High $35.80 $42.50 $52.63 $52.32 $63.63 $65.89 $65.24 $61.90
Low $16.55 $31.68 $37.61 $39.50 $50.37 $55.50 $55.34 $53.91

(a) Note 2 provides additional information on discontinued operations.

(b) Diluted EPS from discontinued operations was greater than basic EPS from discontinued operations due to the impact of rounded fractional amounts.

note 27 
subsequent event 
In October 2008, the United States Department of the Treasury 
(Treasury Department) announced its Capital Purchase 
Program (CPP) under the Emergency Economic Stabilization 
Act of 2008 (EESA). 

Subsequent to year-end 2008, the Company participated in 
the CPP by issuing to the Treasury Department 3,388,890 shares 
of the Company’s Series A Fixed Rate Cumulative Perpetual 

Preferred Stock, along with a ten-year warrant (Warrant) to 
purchase up to 24,264,129 shares of common stock at an initial 
per share exercise price of $20.95 per share. The aggregate gross 
proceeds received by the Company on January 9, 2009 for the 
Series A Preferred Stock and Warrant totaled $3.39 billion. 

As of January 9, 2009, both the Series A Preferred Stock 
and Warrant are accounted for as permanent equity and are 
components of Tier 1 capital, thus enhancing the Company’s 
Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios. 
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(Millions, except per share amounts, percentages, and where indicated) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 
Operating Results(a)

Total revenues net of interest expense $ 28,365 $ 27,559 $ 24,826 $ 22,145 $ 20,168
Expenses 18,986 17,762 17,008 15,605 14,418
Provisions for losses 5,798 4,103 2,666 2,561 2,139
Income from continuing operations 2,871 4,126 3,625 3,014 2,543
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations (172) (114) 82 720 973
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 2,699 4,012 3,707 3,734 3,516
Net income 2,699 4,012 3,707 3,734 3,445
Return on average equity(b) 22.3% 37.3% 34.7% 25.4% 22.0%
Balance Sheet(a)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,547 $ 8,878 $ 3,801 $ 4,272 $ 7,585
Accounts receivable, net 36,571 41,994 38,642 35,293 32,125
Loans, net 40,659 53,339 43,034 33,824 27,596
Investment securities 12,526 13,214 13,207 13,102 12,444
Assets of discontinued operations 216 22,278 20,699 19,866 105,497
Total assets 126,074 149,743 128,262 114,571 194,804
Customer deposits 15,486 15,397 12,011 13,827 10,040
Travelers Cheques outstanding 6,433 7,197 7,215 7,175 7,287
Short-term borrowings 8,993 17,761 15,236 15,711 14,498
Long-term debt 60,041 55,285 42,747 30,781 32,627
Liabilities of discontinued operations 260 21,527 20,003 19,077 97,914
Shareholders’ equity 11,841 11,029 10,511 10,549 16,020
Common Share Statistics 
Earnings per share: 

Income from continuing operations: 
Basic $ 2.49 $ 3.52 $ 2.99 $ 2.44 $ 2.02
Diluted $ 2.48 $ 3.45 $ 2.93 $ 2.40 $ 1.98

(Loss) Income from discontinued operations: 
Basic $ (0.15) $ (0.10) $ 0.07 $ 0.59 $ 0.77
Diluted $ (0.15) $ (0.09) $ 0.06 $ 0.57 $ 0.76

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax:
Basic $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (0.05)
Diluted $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (0.06)

Net income: 
Basic $ 2.34 $ 3.42 $ 3.06 $ 3.03 $ 2.74
Diluted $ 2.33 $ 3.36 $ 2.99 $ 2.97 $ 2.68

Cash dividends declared per share $ 0.72 $ 0.63 $ 0.57 $ 0.48 $ 0.44
Book value per share $ 10.21 $ 9.53 $ 8.76 $ 8.50 $ 12.83
Market price per share(c): 

High $ 52.63 $ 65.89 $ 62.50 $ 59.50 $ 57.05
Low $ 16.55 $ 50.37 $ 49.73 $ 47.01 $ 47.32
Close $ 18.55 $ 52.02 $ 60.67 $ 51.46 $ 56.37

Average common shares outstanding for earnings per share: 
Basic 1,154 1,173 1,212 1,233 1,259
Diluted 1,157 1,196 1,238 1,258 1,285

Shares outstanding at period end 1,160 1,158 1,199 1,241 1,249
Other Statistics
Number of employees at period end (thousands): 

United States 31 32 32 29 41
Outside United States 35 36 33 37 37
Total(d) 66 68 65 66 78

Number of shareholders of record 43,257 50,216 51,644 55,409 50,394

(a) On November 10, 2008, the Company became a bank holding company under the U.S. Bank Holding Act of 1956. As a result of converting to a bank holding 
company, the Company has made certain changes to its Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Balance Sheets and reclassified certain prior period 
amounts in order to conform to the current presentation of its financial statements in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s regulations 
applicable to bank holding companies. In 2007, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its international banking subsidiary, AEB, and its subsidiary that 
issues investment certificates to AEB’s customers, AEIDC, to Standard Chartered subject to certain regulatory approvals. The results, assets, and liabilities of AEB 
(except for certain components of the business which were not sold) are presented as discontinued operations. Additionally, the spin-off of Ameriprise and certain 
dispositions were completed in 2006 and 2005, and the results of these operations are presented as discontinued operations. Note 2 provides additional information 
on discontinued operations.

(b) Return on average equity is calculated by dividing one year period of net income by one year average of total shareholders’ equity. 

(c) The market price per share beginning with the fourth quarter of 2005 reflects the spin-off of Ameriprise as of September 30, 2005. The opening share price on the 
first trading day after the spin-off was $50.75.

(d) Amounts include employees from discontinued operations.
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(Cumulative value of $100 invested on December 31, 2003)

03 04 05 06 07 08
$160

$60

$40

$80

$100

$120

$140

40

60

80

100

120

140

160 s&p Financial Index

s&p 500 Index

American Express

year-end data* 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
American Express $100.00 $117.60 $123.78 $147.40 $127.66 $46.38
S&P 500 Index $100.00 $110.87 $116.31 $134.66 $142.05 $89.51
S&P Financial Index $100.00 $110.88 $118.08 $140.76 $114.72 $51.36

This chart compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common shares with the total return on the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Financial Index for 
the last five years. It shows the growth of a $100 investment on December 31, 2003, including the reinvestment of all dividends. On September 30, 2005, American 
Express distributed to shareholders a special dividend of all its common shares of Ameriprise Financial, Inc. This distribution is accounted for in the chart as though 
it were paid in cash and reinvested in the Company’s common shares. *Source: Bloomberg (returns compounded monthly)
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(millions, except per share amounts, percentages and employees)  2008  2007  % inc/(dec)

Total revenues net of interest expense $ 28,365 $ 27,559 3%

Income from continuing operations  $ 2,871 $ 4,126 (30)%

Loss from discontinued operations $ (172) $ (114) 51%

Net income $ 2,699 $ 4,012 (33)%

Return on average equity  22.3%  37.3% 

Total assets $ 126,074 $ 149,743 (16)%

Shareholders’ equity $ 11,841 $ 11,029 7%

Diluted earnings per common share from 
   continuing operations $ 2.48 $ 3.45 (28)%

Diluted loss per common share from 
   discontinued operations $ (0.15) $ (0.09) 67%

Diluted earnings per share $ 2.33 $ 3.36 (31)%

Cash dividends declared per share $ 0.72 $ 0.63 14%

Book value per share $ 10.21 $ 9.53 7%

Average common shares outstanding for
   diluted earnings per common share  1,157  1,196 (3)%

Common share cash dividends declared $ 836 $ 740 13%

Common share repurchases $ 218 $ 3,572 (94)%

Number of employees  66,000  67,700 (3)%

consolidated financial highlights

Various forward-looking statements are made in this Annual Report, which generally include the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” 
“optimistic,” “intend,” “plan,” “aim,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “likely,” and similar expressions. Certain factors that may affect 
these forward-looking statements, including American Express Company’s ability to achieve its goals referred to herein, are discussed on page 59.
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executive offices
American Express Company
200 Vesey Street
New York, NY 10285
212.640.2000

information available 
to shareholders
Copies of the company’s Form 10-K, proxy 
statement, press releases and other documents, as 
well as information on financial results, products 
and services, are available on the American 
Express website at www.americanexpress.com. 
The company’s global Corporate Citizen ship 
Report and a report of the company’s 2008 
federal and state political contributions are avail-
able at www.americanexpress.com/csr. Written 
copies of these materials are available without 
charge upon written request to the Secretary’s 
Office at the address above.

transfer agent and registrar
The Bank of New York Mellon 
480 Washington Blvd., 29th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07310
1.800.463.5911 or 201.680.6685
Hearing impaired:
1.800.231.5469
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

stock exchange listing
New York Stock Exchange
(Symbol: AXP)

independent registered 
public accounting firm 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
300 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10017-6204

annual meeting
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 
American Express Company will be held at the 
company’s Greensboro Service Center, 7701 
Airport Center Drive, Greensboro, NC 27409, 
on Monday, April 27, 2009, at 10:00 a.m., 
Eastern Time.

A written transcript or an audiocassette of the 
meeting will be available upon written request 
to the Secretary’s Office. There will be a modest 
fee to defray production and mailing costs.

corporate governance
Copies of American Express Company’s gov-
ernance documents, including its Corporate 
Governance Principles, as well as the charters 
of the standing committees of the Board of 
Directors and the American Express Company 
Code of Conduct, are available on the compa-
ny’s website at http://ir.americanexpress.com. 
Copies of these materials also are available 
without charge upon written request to the 
Secretary’s Office at the address above. 

On May 21, 2008, Kenneth I. Chenault, 
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer of the company, submitted to the New 
York Stock Exchange the Annual CEO Certif-
ication required by the rules of the Exchange 
certifying that he was not aware of any vio-
lations by the company of the Exchange’s 
Corporate Governance listing standards. The 
company filed with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission the Certifications of its 
chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002 as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2, respec-
tively, to its Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2008.

direct deposit of dividends
The company has established an Electronic 
Direct Deposit of Dividends service for the 
electronic payment of quarterly dividends on 
the company’s common shares. With this ser-
vice, registered shareholders may have their 
dividend payments sent electronically to their 
checking account or financial institution on 
the payment date. Shareholders interested in 
enrolling in this service should call The Bank 
of New York Mellon at 1.800.463.5911.

stock purchase plan
The BuyDIRECT Plan provides shareholders 
and new investors with a convenient way to 
purchase common shares through optional cash 
investments and reinvestment of dividends. 

For more information, contact:
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.O.Box 358015
Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8015
1.800.463.5911
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

shareholder and investor inquiries
Written shareholder inquiries may be sent either 
to BNY Mellon Shareowner Services Investor 
Care Network, P.O. Box 358015, Pittsburgh, 
PA 15252-8015 or to the Secretary’s Office 
at American Express Company’s executive 
office address above. Written inquiries from 
the investment community should be sent to 
Investor Relations at American Express 
Company’s executive office address above.

trademarks and service marks
The following American Express trademarks 
and service marks may appear in this report: 
American Express®
American Express Box Logo®
American Express Card Design®
American Express World Service & Design®
Centurion®
Gladiator Head Design®
Membership Rewards®
Platinum Card®

©2009 American Express Company. 
All rights reserved. 

This report is printed on paper containing 
postconsumer fiber. The paper used in this 
report is also certified under the Forest 
Stewardship Council guidelines.
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general information

diluted earnings 
per share from 

continuing operations

return on 
average equity

total revenues net 
of interest expense 

(in billions)
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